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6

1                 May 1, 2018       9:59 a.m.
2                P R O C E E D I N G S
3             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go on the record.
4 This is the first day of evidentiary hearings in
5 Docket No. DPU 17-170, petition of Boston Gas
6 Company and Colonial Gas Company, each doing
7 business as National Grid, pursuant to General Laws
8 Chapter 164, Section 94, and 220 CMR 5.00, for
9 approval of general increases in base distribution
10 rates for gas service
11             My name is Carol Pieper.  I've been
12 designated as the presiding officer by the
13 Commission to hear the case.  With me on the bench
14 this morning are Commissioner Cecile Fraser, and
15 Lavinia LaBonte, Emily Luksha, and Jeff Hall, from
16 the Rates and Revenue Requirements Division
17             May I have the appearance of counsel,
18 please.
19             MS. BLACKMORE:  Yes, Alexandra Blackmore
20 on behalf of Boston Gas Company and Colonial Gas
21 Company, each doing business as National Grid.  Also
22 with me today is Cheryl Kimball and Dan Venora, of
23 Keegan Werlin LLP.
24             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.

7

1             MR. ROGERS:  Joseph Rogers, on behalf of
2 the Attorney General, with Ashley Gagnon, Joe
3 Dorfler, Elizabeth Anderson, William Stevens, and
4 Tim Reppucci.
5             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.
6             MR. ROGERS:  Geary's over there, too.
7             MR. HARAK:  Charles Harak, on behalf of
8 the Low-Income Weatherization and Fuel Assistance
9 Program Network and Massachusetts Energy Directors

10 Association.
11             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.
12             MS. EVANS:  For the Department of Energy
13 Resources, Rachel Graham Evans, and with me is Colin
14 Carroll.
15             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.
16             MS. DECTER:  Nicole Horberg Decter, for
17 the United Steelworkers Local 12003.
18             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.
19             MR. RUSSELL:  Ian Russell, for United
20 Steelworkers 12012.
21             MS. PIEPER:  There are several
22 procedural matters I would like to address before we
23 begin witness testimony.  Hearings will begin each
24 day at 10:00 a.m.  We'll aim to take a one-hour

8

1 lunch break around 1:00 o'clock each day.  We'll
2 also take a ten-minute break in the morning and
3 again in the afternoon.  While I've reserved this
4 hearing room every day, please check the schedule
5 out front in case that changes for any reason.
6             I note that the attorneys appearing in
7 this case are experienced practitioners before the
8 Department, and the witnesses have previously
9 appeared in regulatory proceedings.

10             Even with all that experience, it is
11 worth reciting a useful rule regarding the
12 questioning and answering between the attorneys and
13 the witnesses.
14             As you can see, there is a court
15 reporter making a word-for-word report of the
16 hearing.  So that the hearing transcript will be as
17 accurate and complete as possible, I ask that the
18 witnesses wait for a question to be fully asked
19 before answering, and I ask that the attorneys wait
20 for the full response before asking the next
21 question.
22             Another item we have with respect to
23 cross-examination is that we have, by my count, 32
24 witnesses, and we have allotted 15 days to take

9

1 direct testimony and cross-examination of those
2 witnesses.  As the presiding officer, I want to
3 ensure that the parties and the Department have a
4 reasonable opportunity to conduct cross-examination.
5             Pursuant to the Department's regulations
6 at 220 CMR 1.10(1), the Department may exclude from
7 evidence that which is unduly repetitious or
8 cumulative.
9             Therefore, I want to alert the parties,
10 to the extent that a line of questioning by any
11 party is simply affirming that previously
12 attested-to information is correct, I may determine
13 that such questions are unnecessary as repetitive
14 and cumulative.
15             There are a number of documents in this
16 proceeding that contain information where the
17 company has sought and I have granted confidential
18 treatment.  I prefer to stay on an open record at
19 all times, so I would ask that if the parties want
20 to ask questions regarding the confidential
21 information, you phrase the questions in such a way
22 as to not disclose it.  If any party plans to ask or
23 answer questions in a way that will disclose it,
24 please let me know before the disclosure.
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1             I will also take this opportunity to put
2 on the record that the Department is taking official
3 notice of the National Association of Regulatory
4 Utility Commissioners Manual:  Public Utility
5 Depreciation Practices, published August 1996.
6             Pursuant to 220 CMR Section 1.10(2), the
7 Department may take official notice of general,
8 technical, or scientific facts within its
9 specialized knowledge, provided that the Commission

10 shall notify all the parties of the material so
11 noticed and provided further that any party on
12 timely request be afforded an opportunity to contest
13 the matters so noticed.
14             The Department may use this manual in
15 its line of questioning during the evidentiary
16 hearing.  We may also rely on aspects of this manual
17 in determining certain issues in this case.
18             We have two changes to the witness
19 schedule.  The information systems panel was
20 originally scheduled for Thursday May 10.  Due to a
21 last-minute scheduling conflict with one of the
22 witnesses, we're moving the information systems
23 panel to Monday, May 14.  To accommodate the move,
24 we'll remove Melissa Bartos from the schedule for

11

1 Monday, May 14, and she'll appear as scheduled on
2 Wednesday, May 16.  If we need Ms. Bartos to appear
3 a second day, it will be on Friday, May 18.
4             The company has provided a proposed
5 exhibit list to each of you.  Are there any
6 additional documents that anyone would like to have
7 marked for identification purposes at this time?
8             The documents will be marked for
9 identification purposes only as noted on the exhibit
10 list.
11             We're ready for testimony.  The
12 company's first witness is Marcy Reed.  If you could
13 please state your full name for the record.
14             THE WITNESS:  My name is Marcy L. Reed.
15                    MARCY L. REED,
16 being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
17 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
18 was examined and testified as follows:
19             MS. PIEPER:  You may begin with direct.
20             MS. BLACKMORE:  Thank you.
21                 DIRECT EXAMINATION
22 BY MS. BLACKMORE:
23     Q.  Ms. Reed, by whom are you employed and in
24 what position?

12

1     A.  I'm employed by the National Grid USA
2 Service Company, and my title is president of
3 Massachusetts jurisdiction and executive vice
4 president of U.S. policy and association impact.
5     Q.  And how long have you held this position?
6     A.  I began as the president of the
7 Massachusetts business in 2011, so seven years ago.
8 About eight months ago I took a temporary assignment
9 as executive vice president of business operations,
10 engineering and process, to work on some projects,
11 and I have returned to the Massachusetts president's
12 role effective today, actually.
13     Q.  Were you involved in the preparation of
14 this rate case?
15     A.  Yes.
16     Q.  And as part of that preparation, did you
17 prepare prefiled direct testimony submitted to the
18 Department on November 15, 2017?
19     A.  Yes.
20     Q.  With respect to your prefiled testimony,
21 which is marked for identification as Exhibit
22 NG-MLR-1, was this exhibit prepared under your
23 direct supervision and control?
24     A.  Yes.

13

1     Q.  In your testimony did you present a
2 statement on the amount of the company's rate
3 request?
4     A.  Yes.
5     Q.  And has the company reduced the amount of
6 its rate request since the initial filing?
7     A.  Yes, we have.
8     Q.  And what is the principal driver of the
9 reduction in the company's request?

10     A.  We reduced the initial filing for each of
11 Boston Gas and Colonial Gas to account for the
12 change in Federal tax rates that came out in
13 January.  So specifically we reduced the rate
14 request from 68.2 million to 36.5 million for Boston
15 Gas, and for Colonial Gas we reduced the initial
16 19.2 million to 9.5 million.
17     Q.  And aside from the change in the amount
18 requested by the company, do you have any changes,
19 corrections, deletions, or additions that you wish
20 to make to your prefiled direct testimony at this
21 time?
22     A.  No.
23     Q.  Have you also seen information requests
24 propounded by the Department, the Attorney General,
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1 and other intervenors in this case?
2     A.  Yes.
3     Q.  And have you sponsored any responses to
4 these information requests?
5     A.  Yes.
6     Q.  Were those responses prepared under your
7 direct supervision and control?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  At this time do you have any changes,

10 corrections, deletions, or additions that you would
11 like to make to any of the information requests that
12 you have sponsored in this proceeding?
13     A.  No.
14             MS. BLACKMORE:  The witness is available
15 for cross-examination.
16             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.  The Attorney
17 General may proceed.
18                  CROSS-EXAMINATION
19 BY MR. ROGERS:
20     Q.  Good morning, Ms. Reed.
21     A.  Good morning, Mr. Rogers.
22     Q.  Could you please turn to Page 7 of your
23 prefiled testimony.
24     A.  Okay.

15

1     Q.  At Lines 4 through 8 you claim that the
2 company's current distribution rates are
3 insufficient to meet its costs of providing service;
4 is that correct?
5     A.  That's correct.
6     Q.  And you state that the return on rate base
7 is 1.48 percent for Boston Gas and 2.46 percent for
8 Colonial Gas; is that correct?
9     A.  That's correct.

10     Q.  Now, when the company did those
11 calculations to determine the return in this case,
12 it was using the test-year revenues from 2016; is
13 that correct?
14     A.  Yes.
15     Q.  And it compared those 2016 revenues to the
16 company's proposed pro forma cost of service; is
17 that correct?
18     A.  We compared them to the allowed rate of
19 return in the prior case, yes.
20     Q.  Have you seen the pro forma cost of
21 service?
22     A.  Yes, I have.
23     Q.  Is that what was used to determine the
24 return on rate base?

16

1     A.  The 1.8 and the 2.46, yes.
2     Q.  And that pro forma cost of service includes
3 some costs -- for instance, the gas business
4 enablement program that goes out five years, to
5 2023.  Is that correct?
6     A.  No, all the costs that were incurred in the
7 2016 numbers were those incurred in the 2016 test
8 year.
9     Q.  Is it your understanding that the pro forma

10 cost of service has no adjustments?
11     A.  The cost of service for the test year,
12 2016, has those historic costs.  We are in this case
13 proposing some adjustments for programs outside of
14 the test year.  If that's what you mean, then yes.
15     Q.  And the return on rate base, they used
16 those additional revenues that you just mentioned in
17 making the calculation?
18     A.  There are no current revenues associated
19 with those costs.
20     Q.  The additional costs that were -- you just
21 mentioned.
22     A.  It's my understanding that these costs are
23 based on the costs incurred in 2016.
24     Q.  And the company has proposed pro forma

17

1 adjustments for 2017 and 2018; is that correct?
2     A.  That is correct.
3     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that the
4 gas business enablement program costs go out to
5 2023?
6     A.  No, I would not.  What we have included in
7 the proposed rate adjustment is a portion of costs
8 for gas business enablement that go out for five
9 years, and even then it's a portion of the costs.

10 The program itself extends through ten years, but
11 we're proposing costs that go out five.
12     Q.  Ms. Reed, would you accept subject to check
13 that Boston Gas Company reported that it had 672,568
14 retail customers at the beginning of the test year
15 in this case?
16     A.  Subject to check, yes.
17     Q.  And would you also accept subject to check
18 that the company had 695,076 retail customers at the
19 end of 2017?
20     A.  Yes.
21     Q.  And if we do the math, that's about a 3.3
22 percent increase in the number of customers; is that
23 correct?
24     A.  Subject to me checking the math, yes.
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1     Q.  To your knowledge, did the company make any
2 adjustments to its pro forma revenue requirement
3 calculations to recognize the increase in sales
4 associated with the increase in the number of retail
5 sales customers since the beginning of the year?
6     A.  The beginning of which year?
7     Q.  The test year.
8     A.  I would suspect that all the adjustments
9 made through -- that would be made through the end

10 of 2016, the test year.
11     Q.  Do you think the company should make an
12 adjustment for the number of customers at the end of
13 2017?
14     A.  No, I would not think so, if we're dealing
15 with the test year of 2016.
16     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that
17 Boston Gas Company reported that it had 18,345
18 transportation customers at the beginning of the
19 test year in this case?
20     A.  Yes.
21     Q.  And would you also accept subject to check
22 that the company had 34,803 transportation customers
23 at the end of 2017?
24     A.  Subject to check, yes.

19

1     Q.  And would you accept subject to check that
2 this is about a 90 percent increase in the number of
3 transportation customers?
4     A.  Yes.
5     Q.  To your knowledge, did the company make any
6 adjustments to its pro forma revenue requirement
7 calculations to recognize the increase in sales
8 associated with the increase in the number of
9 transportation customers since the beginning of the

10 test year?
11     A.  As I said with the nontransportation
12 customers, I would expect adjustments to be made
13 through the end of the test year.
14     Q.  Now, Ms. Reed, you were basically the
15 president of National Grid's Massachusetts
16 jurisdiction from 2011 to 2017; is that correct?
17     A.  Yes, August of '17.
18     Q.  As president of the Massachusetts gas and
19 electric distribution operations, were you
20 personally -- were you responsible for the company's
21 budgets?  Is that correct?
22     A.  Yes.
23     Q.  And that included not only its capital
24 budget but also its operations budget; is that

20

1 correct?
2     A.  Yes.
3     Q.  So as president, you have the
4 responsibility to create the annual budget?
5     A.  Yes.
6     Q.  And you also have the responsibility of
7 creating the annual operating budget?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  And did you also have the responsibility of

10 achieving those budgeted results?
11     A.  Yes.
12     Q.  So cost control to meet the annual budget
13 was an important part of your job; is that correct?
14     A.  Costs are always important when we're
15 talking about what we charge our customers, yes.
16     Q.  Now, one of the largest components of your
17 operations costs was the costs charged to the
18 company by National Grid USA Service Company; is
19 that correct?
20     A.  That's correct, yes.
21     Q.  Can you describe how, as the president of
22 Massachusetts operations, you control the service
23 company costs that are charged to the company each
24 year?

21

1     A.  Sure.  I think as you know, many employees
2 of National Grid are employed through the service
3 company, as am I.  This is in cases where employees
4 serve multiple operating companies.  In my case I
5 serve Boston Gas, Colonial Gas, Mass. Electric, and
6 Nantucket Electric.  So multiple employees exist as
7 service company employees.
8             However, we need their services in the
9 Boston and Colonial operating company, so we create
10 budgets that include everything from gas engineers
11 to call center reps to accountants and gas
12 mechanics.  Some of them are service company
13 employees.
14             So when we derive those budgets, we
15 include the costs that they represent in the
16 budgets.  And when at the end of the year we are
17 looking at how we've performed, we obviously include
18 not just the direct operating costs of someone who's
19 just a Boston Gas employee, but we also include
20 obviously those costs incurred by the service
21 company employees.
22             MR. ROGERS:  I'm going to hand out pages
23 from the 2009 annual report to the Department.
24     Q.  Have you had a chance to look at that?
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1     A.  Yes, I have.  Thank you.
2     Q.  And what we've just distributed is the
3 cover page and Page 5 from Colonial Gas's 2009
4 annual report to the Department; is that right?
5     A.  That's right.
6     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that the
7 test year used in DPU 10-55, the company's last base
8 rate case, was 2009?
9     A.  Yes.

10     Q.  And could you turn to what is indicated as
11 Page 5 of the return.  Do you see there's an item in
12 Paragraph 11 entitled Management Fees and Expenses
13 during the Year?  Do you see that?
14     A.  Yes.
15     Q.  And the amount indicated there from
16 National Grid Corporate Services is $29,368,140; is
17 that correct?
18     A.  I see that, yes.
19             MR. ROGERS:  Now I'm going to hand out a
20 couple of pages from the 2016 annual return to the
21 Department.
22     Q.  Have you had a chance to look at this?
23     A.  Yes, I have.  Thank you.
24     Q.  And this is a cover page and Page 5 from

23

1 Colonial Gas's 2016 annual report to the Department;
2 is that correct?
3     A.  Right.
4     Q.  And these are the same pages we looked at
5 as we did in the 2009 report?
6     A.  Right.
7     Q.  And the test year in this case is 2016; is
8 that correct?
9     A.  Yes.
10     Q.  If we again turn to what's indicated on
11 Page 5 of the return; there's an Item 11, Management
12 Fees and Expenses during the Test Year.  Do you see
13 that?
14     A.  Yes.
15     Q.  And the amount indicated there from
16 National Grid Corporate Services for 2016 is
17 $51,058,039?
18     A.  That's correct.
19     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that the
20 service company charges to Colonial increased since
21 the last test year by 74 percent?
22     A.  Yes.
23     Q.  Would you also agree, subject to check,
24 that the 74 percent increase is equivalent to more
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1 than 8 percent annual increase in those charges?
2     A.  Sounds right.
3     Q.  Would you agree that inflation during this
4 period was only 2 percent?
5     A.  Sounds right.
6     Q.  Would you agree that the service company
7 costs were increasing at rates several times the
8 rate of inflation while you were president?
9     A.  I would agree if it were an apples-and-

10 apples comparison, but there are differences between
11 the two years.  So that would further explain the
12 cost increase.
13     Q.  What are those differences?
14     A.  In 2009 the capital budget, for example,
15 for Colonial Gas -- and I know we're just looking at
16 Colonial here -- but the gas business in
17 Massachusetts was somewhere in the $200 million
18 range.  In 2016 it had more than doubled, to closer
19 to $450 million.
20             The reason I bring that out is, it just
21 represents the massive amount of change that we've
22 seen in the costs to serve our customers over time.
23 So although your math is right, that 2 percent
24 inflation may have occurred over the last eight

25

1 years, the rate of change within the utility
2 business has been much more significant than that.
3             So your math is correct here, but there
4 are plenty of costs in here that relate to gas
5 engineers dealing with the increased complexity and
6 number of projects we have; the changing in Federal
7 safety regulations, which created an entirely new
8 department; the existence of cybersecurity, which
9 created an entirely new department; data analytic
10 scientists that we bring on board to help our
11 customers better understand the services they're
12 receiving and the bills they get.
13             So there are a number of examples.  I
14 don't have them all in hand, but I'd be happy to
15 explore that later with you, if you'd like.
16     Q.  We might come back to that.
17             Could you please turn to Page 10 of your
18 prefiled testimony.  Do you see the table at the
19 bottom of the page, Table MLR-1?
20     A.  Yes.
21     Q.  Now, this provides the capital additions
22 for each of the companies from 2010 through 2016; is
23 that correct?
24     A.  That's correct.
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1     Q.  And if we look at the last two years, 2015
2 and 2016, you see the additions increased from 58
3 million to 101 million?  Do you see that?
4     A.  Yes.
5     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that the
6 test year increase in capital additions was 74
7 percent?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  Was there some particular reason that the
10 capital additions for Colonial increased so much
11 during the test year?
12     A.  As I stated in the prior response, we show
13 here in the table the massive amount of capital
14 increase that we've had over time.
15             In calendar '16 projects closed to plant
16 for Colonial would have included some work that has
17 been performed on pipe expansion, system
18 reinforcement.  There are projects going on up in
19 the Lowell area which are being worked on to better
20 serve our customers from a capacity perspective.  I
21 don't have the exact list, but those are the types
22 of things you would see in that number.
23     Q.  Is there anything in particular, one
24 project in particular, that sort of stands out?
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1     A.  In calendar 2016 we will have already
2 started working on a number of large projects.
3 Whether any of them were closed to plant during that
4 time I honestly don't remember.  If you're thinking
5 about a specific one....
6     Q.  And this table indicates plant additions;
7 is that correct?
8     A.  Yes -- which would be plant closed to plant
9 in service, in this case including cost of removal.

10     Q.  So it doesn't include construction work in
11 progress; is that correct?
12     A.  I don't think so.  I would have to check.
13     Q.  I'd like to make a record request, that the
14 company provide us with whether this table contains
15 construction work in progress.
16     A.  If it's proper, I could probably get that
17 answer for you right now.
18     Q.  Sure.
19             MS. PIEPER:  Off the record for a minute
20 while she confers.
21             (Discussion off the record.)
22             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
23 record.  Were you able to confer?
24             THE WITNESS:  Yes, thank you.

28

1     A.  It's as I thought:  There was no
2 construction work in progress included in these
3 numbers.
4     Q.  Now if we'd turn our attention to the
5 Boston Gas column:  Would you accept subject to
6 check that the increase in plant additions during
7 2016 indicated in Table MLR-1 for Boston Gas is 26
8 percent?
9     A.  Yes.
10     Q.  Was there some particular reason that the
11 capital additions for Boston Gas increased so much
12 during the test year?
13     A.  Similar answer to Colonial:  Just you can
14 see the increasing trend of capital work that we're
15 doing on behalf of our customers.  So there would be
16 a number of projects that are in there.  But yes.
17             And for the record, the numbers in 2017
18 and '18 that don't show on this are even larger,
19 showing the increasing trend of capital additions to
20 our customers' network.
21     Q.  Now, again, there's no particular project
22 in the Boston Gas service territory that would
23 account for the bulk of this increase?
24     A.  It is possible that in 2016, subject to
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1 check, that we had started the work on our LNG tank
2 in Dorchester, but I wouldn't be able to tell you,
3 sitting here, if that had closed to plant in '16.
4 We could check that.
5     Q.  I'd like to make a record request for that
6 information, whether the LNG plant --
7             MS. PIEPER:  Is that something you can
8 check on a break and get back to us?
9             THE WITNESS:  Right now.

10             MS. PIEPER:  Okay.
11             MS. KIMBALL:  We may be able to check it
12 right this minute.
13             MS. PIEPER:  Okay.  We'll let them
14 confer.
15     A.  I was correct.  It has to do with the LNG
16 upgrades that we're doing in Dorchester.  In that
17 case it was the trucking terminal that we
18 repositioned and rebuilt accounts for a piece of
19 that change.
20     Q.  And that was closed to plant by the end of
21 2016; is that correct?
22     A.  That's correct.
23     Q.  Was that the only major piece of equipment
24 that was closed to plant in the Dorchester facility?
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1     A.  That was certainly the single largest
2 piece.  That was the first project that we started
3 at the Dorchester facility.  Since then, outside of
4 the test year, there have been ongoing capital
5 additions.
6     Q.  Ms. Reed, do you know what the company's
7 financial results were for calendar year 2017?
8     A.  Roughly, yes.
9     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that
10 Boston Gas reported to the Department that it earned
11 a 7.86 percent return on average common equity
12 during 2017?
13     A.  Sounds about right, yes.  Thank you.
14     Q.  Could you please turn to Exhibit AG-1-10;
15 and specifically, I want you to look at AG-1-10-1
16 Supplemental.
17     A.  Okay.
18             MR. ROGERS:  Just to identify the
19 document for the record:  This is entitled National
20 Grid U.S. Debt Investor Presentation, dated July
21 2017.
22     Q.  Would you turn to Page 3613.  That's the
23 number in the upper right-hand corner.
24     A.  Got it.
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1     Q.  Now, in the graphic on the left side, left
2 corner, it indicates that there's a filing planned
3 in 2017 or 2018 for Massachusetts Gas.  Do you see
4 that?
5     A.  That's correct, yes.
6     Q.  In this presentation what companies would
7 be included in the group of Mass. Gas?
8     A.  Boston and Colonial.
9     Q.  And Boston and Colonial filed the petition
10 in this case on November 15, 2017; is that correct.
11     A.  Yes.
12     Q.  And just below that there's a label for
13 Rhode Island; is that correct?
14     A.  That's right.
15     Q.  There's no indication that Rhode Island
16 will be filing for any new rates; is that correct?
17     A.  That's correct.
18     Q.  In fact, both National Grid's electric and
19 gas divisions in Rhode Island petitioned for rate
20 increases in November 2017; is that correct?
21     A.  We did, yes.
22     Q.  Now, staying on Page 3, looking at the
23 small graph on the right-hand side with three bars:
24 There's a bar for 2015 and fiscal years 2017 and
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1 2018.  Do you see that?
2     A.  Yes.
3     Q.  Again, this is National Grid's fiscal
4 year -- excuse me, again, National Grid's fiscal
5 year is the 12 months ended March 31; is that
6 correct?
7     A.  Yes.
8     Q.  Now, this graph indicates that National
9 Grid's U.S. operations are expecting to earn 90
10 percent of the allowed returns during fiscal year
11 2018; is that correct?
12     A.  At the time of this presentation that was
13 our aspiration, yes.
14     Q.  And below that it says -- below that graph
15 it says the company's targeting 90 percent of the
16 allowed returns during the fiscal year 2018; is that
17 correct?
18     A.  Yes.
19     Q.  Now, Ms. Reed, the company's published
20 tariffs that it charges customers for firm
21 distribution service here in Massachusetts; is that
22 correct?
23     A.  Yes.
24     Q.  Now, the company also provides services

33

1 under special contracts; is that correct?
2     A.  Yes.
3     Q.  Could you please turn to the company's
4 response to Information Request AG-1-99.
5             MS. PIEPER:  Is that the supplemental or
6 the original?
7             MR. ROGERS:  I have to find it first.
8     Q.  Actually, if you could look at the
9 attachment to AG-1-99-1 for Boston.  It has a list

10 of the special contracts currently in effect.
11             MS. KIMBALL:  I don't think the
12 attachments are in that book.  She'll bring it to
13 you electronically.
14     Q.  It's a two-page document.
15     A.  Okay, I think I'm with you.
16     Q.  Do you have that?  Can you look at Page 2.
17     A.  It starts at the Boston Gas Company special
18 contracts currently in effect?  Is that the page
19 we're looking at?
20     Q.  Yes, and then on the second page, the first
21 entry is Sprague.
22     A.  Sprague Operating Resources.  Got it.
23     Q.  Would you agree that all the contracts
24 indicated on these two pages except for one are
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1 identified as firm service?
2     A.  On this page they're all listed as firm
3 service, if I'm looking correctly.
4     Q.  If you go back to Page 1, there's one
5 that's not firm, but all the rest are firm?
6     A.  Yes, Page 1.  Yes.
7     Q.  Now, there's a similar attachment on
8 AG-1-1-1 for Colonial.
9     A.  I see that.
10     Q.  1-99-1.
11     A.  Okay, yeah, got that.
12     Q.  And this page indicates there are eight
13 special contracts for Colonial Gas; is that correct?
14     A.  Yes.
15     Q.  And looking at the fourth column again, it
16 indicates all these are firm contracts; is that
17 correct?
18     A.  That's right, yeah.
19     Q.  And those special contracts typically
20 provide gas distribution service at a discounted
21 rate to the tariff rate; is that correct?
22     A.  Typically.  It's where the customer has
23 options for other commodities.  That is when a
24 special contract comes into play.
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1     Q.  Can you generally describe the reasons that
2 the company feels compelled to provide firm service
3 under a special contract at a discounted rate as
4 opposed to the tariff rate for distribution service?
5     A.  Typically, per the regulations that the
6 Department allows, if a customer has energy options
7 yet would like to receive natural gas as their
8 heating and cooking processing source, we have the
9 ability to work with them and create a special

10 contract, which is then approved by all the right
11 stakeholders.
12     Q.  What are those options?
13     A.  Oil heat mostly.
14     Q.  So is it your belief that oil has been
15 price-competitive with natural gas?
16     A.  Well, the two move together.  So when oil
17 prices are high, the costs on the special contract
18 would rise.  When oil prices come down, the costs on
19 the natural gas special contract would also reduce.
20             MR. ROGERS:  At this point I'd like to
21 introduce a printout from the National Grid website.
22 Could we mark this as an exhibit.
23             MS. PIEPER:  Let's mark this as Exhibit
24 AG-1.
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1             (Exhibit AG-1 marked for
2 identification.)
3             MS. PIEPER:  Just for the record,
4 pursuant to the ground rules that I had issued, all
5 exhibits that are presented at the hearing are
6 supposed to be provided seven days prior to the
7 start of the hearing when they'll be presented.  So
8 other intervenors, keep that in mind.  I'm expecting
9 to get exhibits not at the time.  Thank you.

10     Q.  So have you seen this chart before?
11     A.  Not specifically, but I'm generally
12 familiar with it.
13     Q.  Now, this is a comparison of oil versus
14 natural gas?
15     A.  That's correct.
16     Q.  And would you agree, according to this
17 chart, the company's demonstrating the price of
18 No. 2 oil has been expected to be more than twice
19 the price of natural gas?
20     A.  Not more than twice, but significantly
21 higher, yes.
22     Q.  So according to the company's own analysis
23 of representations to the public, because of the
24 higher costs, a customer would be imprudent to burn

37

1 No. 2 oil compared to natural gas, assuming both are
2 available; is that correct?
3     A.  Assuming both are available.  There are
4 some customers who have already within their premise
5 all of the equipment associated with burning oil, so
6 switching to gas actually is a cost for them, in
7 that they have to switch out all their heating
8 equipment, boilers, et cetera.  So it's not just
9 commodity, as you're showing here.

10     Q.  Now, Ms. Reed, you have a master's degree
11 in accounting; is that correct?
12     A.  I do.
13     Q.  And are you still a certified public
14 accountant?
15     A.  Technically, yes.
16     Q.  What do you mean, "technically"?
17     A.  I do not practice accounting any more,
18 though I retain my license with the Massachusetts
19 Society of CPAs.
20     Q.  Now, the company made a familiar with the
21 Department on April 20th in this case to update its
22 cost of service; is that correct?
23     A.  That's right.
24     Q.  And one of the adjustments in that filing
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1 was to reflect the reduction in the Federal income
2 tax rate as a result of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of
3 2017; is that correct?
4     A.  That's correct.
5     Q.  And the rates from the new cost of service
6 reflecting the 2017 tax act go into effect October
7 1, 2018; is that correct?
8     A.  That's correct.
9     Q.  Now, the company's supposed to make a
10 filing today, May 1st, in Docket 18-15, which is
11 part of the Department's investigation into the
12 effects of the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act on rates as of
13 January 1, 2018; is that correct?
14     A.  That's correct.
15     Q.  In Docket 18-15 is the company proposing to
16 return to customers the reduction in taxes
17 associated with the tax reduction back to January 1,
18 2018?
19     A.  I am not wholly familiar with the contents
20 of the filing that will go in later today.
21     Q.  Is there anybody here that is familiar that
22 could help you?
23             MS. KIMBALL:  The cost-of-service
24 witness that's coming next is prepared to answer
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1 questions on that, if you'd like.  If you have
2 questions, we can proceed with them and see if she
3 can get the information you need from one of her
4 colleagues.
5     Q.  So you testified you're not familiar with
6 the -- not wholly familiar with the contents of the
7 filing.  What exactly do you understand the filing
8 to be?
9     A.  I understand that the Department ordered

10 the utilities in the state to file by today the
11 plans for what they would do because of the change
12 in the Federal tax law.  We feel fortunate in the
13 timing of the Boston and Colonial cases that we were
14 actually able to fold that into the case.  So that
15 will go in in October.  But I don't know what else,
16 honestly, is in the filing and what our plans would
17 be to accommodate that request.
18     Q.  So you have no idea what's in the filing
19 this afternoon?
20     A.  I'm not completely filing with it.
21     Q.  So what do you understand is in the filing?
22     A.  What I just said.  So I expect us this
23 afternoon to be filing the response that the
24 Department ordered us to do along with the other
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1 utilities, how we will treat the reduction in the
2 tax rate on January 1st.
3     Q.  And nobody briefed you on that?
4     A.  I have a lot of conversations on a lot of
5 things internally.  On that one, I honestly can't
6 tell you.
7     Q.  So you have a general understanding of the
8 filing?
9     A.  Yes, I do.
10     Q.  And so what does the filing attempt to
11 accomplish?
12     A.  It attempts to answer the question that the
13 Department asked about how will we treat the change
14 in tax law.
15     Q.  And do you understand -- do you have an
16 understanding of what that treatment is?
17     A.  No.  I'm sure that the cost-of-service
18 witness will be able to dive much more deeply into
19 that.  I apologize.
20     Q.  So you don't know whether the company's
21 going to return to customers the reductions
22 associated with the new tax act back to January 1,
23 2018?
24     A.  I know that it's a whole lot more

41

1 complicated than simply returning the cash tax.  And
2 so I hesitate to answer your questions because I
3 could potentially mislead you.  I think it best at
4 this point that our cost-of-service witness address
5 that.
6     Q.  And you don't know whether the company will
7 be applying carrying charges to any balances?
8     A.  I do not know the answer to that question.
9     Q.  When do you expect the company to be filing
10 this?
11     A.  Before the end of the day.
12     Q.  Now, Ms. Reed, on Page 24 of your prefiled
13 testimony -- could you please turn to that.
14             Now, on this page you indicate that the
15 company is proposing new reconciling charges in this
16 case; is that correct?
17     A.  Yes.
18     Q.  And if we look at Lines 8 through 10:  In
19 this case the company is proposing two cost recovery
20 proposals to account for the costs of non-GSEP work
21 that cannot be funded by growth in revenues -- the
22 gas safety and reliability and business -- gas
23 business enablement programs?
24     A.  That's right.
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1     Q.  To your knowledge, is that all of the new
2 reconciling mechanisms that the company is proposing
3 in this case?
4     A.  Yes.
5     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that the
6 company is proposing to introduce a new property tax
7 reconciling mechanism?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  Now, the company is also proposing to

10 recover its hardship accounts in this case by
11 amortizing its actual balance of accounts on a
12 going-forward basis; is that correct?
13     A.  Yes.  That is similar to what we proposed
14 in the Mass. Electric/Nantucket filing.
15     Q.  So would you agree that there's four new
16 reconciling mechanisms that the company is
17 proposing?
18     A.  Yes.
19     Q.  Could you tell us how many reconciling rate
20 mechanisms the companies currently have in effect?
21     A.  No.
22     Q.  Do the companies have a reconciling charge
23 in effect for their gas commodity costs?
24     A.  Yes.
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1     Q.  And one for their interstate pipeline
2 transportation costs?
3     A.  I believe so.
4     Q.  And there's one for revenue decoupling; is
5 that correct?
6     A.  I believe so.
7     Q.  And there's two for leak-prone main and
8 service replacements, the TIRF and GSEP charges; is
9 that correct?
10     A.  GSEP took the place of TIRF, but yes.
11     Q.  And one for energy efficiency; is that
12 correct?
13     A.  That's correct.
14     Q.  And one for pension and post-retirement
15 benefits other than pensions; is that correct?
16     A.  Yes.
17     Q.  And one for residential assistance costs,
18 low-income discount?
19     A.  Subject to check, yes.
20     Q.  And one for the Attorney General's
21 consultation costs; is that correct?
22     A.  Yes, indeed.
23     Q.  And one for gas-cost bad debt; is that
24 correct?

44

1     A.  Commodity-related, yes.
2     Q.  And will you accept subject to check
3 there's one for environmental remediation costs?
4     A.  Yes.
5     Q.  So just to make the record clear, is it
6 your testimony that the regulatory burden on the
7 Department will be reduced by adding four more
8 reconciling mechanisms to those the company already
9 has in effect?
10     A.  I would say that when we actually propose a
11 reconciling mechanism, it is done so that -- in this
12 case, the four that we're adding, but specifically
13 the GSR, gas system reliability, and GBE, gas
14 business enablement, are intended to begin the
15 collection of large investments we're making on
16 behalf of our customers.
17             What we do hope is, by proposing these
18 and collecting a fraction of the costs that they
19 each represent, we would be able to stay out of
20 another rate case proceeding for a period of time,
21 rather than run right back in the door, since we've
22 been incurring hundreds of millions of dollars on
23 these programs since the historic test year of 2016.
24     Q.  How many of these adjustment mechanisms
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1 does the Department have to adjust every year?
2     A.  A number of them, the ones you just
3 mentioned.  In our experience in other
4 jurisdictions, the company is well poised to be able
5 to put forth the costs that are incurred during such
6 mechanisms and provide all the documentation, as is
7 the case with some of those that you mentioned, Mr.
8 Rogers.  So we don't really see it, nor do we intend
9 it, as a burden, but rather a way to stabilize the

10 costs that are incurred by the company, in an effort
11 to maintain some stability of rates for both our
12 customers and efforts by all of the parties in this
13 room for putting forth a rate case.  We do the best
14 we can to try to make the reconciliation process as
15 simple as we can.
16     Q.  Of the total revenues of the company, what
17 percentage is recovered through reconciling
18 mechanisms?
19     A.  I don't have that off the top of my head.
20     Q.  Ms. Reed, would you please turn to Page 27
21 of your prefiled testimony in this case.  Do you
22 have that?
23     A.  Yes, I do.  Thank you.
24     Q.  At the bottom of the page, 27, and going
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1 over the next three pages, you describe the
2 company's proposal for the gas business enablement
3 program; is that correct?
4     A.  That's right, yes.
5     Q.  And this is a new program the company is
6 implementing; is that correct?
7     A.  Yes.
8     Q.  And on the next page, 28, Lines 4 through
9 7, you claim that the GBE program will fundamentally

10 change the way the gas business works, from internal
11 cross-functional department coordination to external
12 interactions, to improve the company's overall
13 business process and service for customers; is that
14 correct?
15     A.  Yes, that's right.
16     Q.  So an important aspect of the program is
17 that it will convert the business model from a
18 cross-functional architecture to one that is focused
19 on external interactions; is that correct?
20     A.  No, that's not what it says.  It says it
21 will enhance both of those coordination points.
22 What we intended by that sentence was that the gas
23 business enablement -- again, I'll refer to it as
24 GBE -- is a huge fundamental shift in the way we
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1 work internally on our work management systems, on
2 our asset management systems, and also the way we
3 enable our customers to work with us.
4             So the internal cross-functional
5 department coordination gets at the work management
6 and asset management improvements that we're making
7 through the system, and the external-interactions
8 part of that phrase describe how we're going to be
9 able to allow our customers to work with us in a

10 more digital environment, which is what everyone is
11 used to these days.  It will also help us get at
12 things such as that four-hour customer window that
13 the Department has an aspiration for us to achieve.
14             So that's what is meant by that.  It
15 doesn't mean that we will shift from an external to
16 an internal.
17     Q.  Could you look at Page 28 and read that
18 first sentence that begins on Line 8 and ends on
19 Line 11.
20     A.  "This fundamental change will result from
21 the establishment of three core operating
22 capabilities -- the work management, asset
23 management, and customer enablement capabilities --
24 across the three operating jurisdictions of
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1 Massachusetts, New York, and Rhode Island."
2     Q.  Ms. Reed, are you currently the executive
3 vice president of business operations, engineering
4 and process for National Grid USA Service Company?
5     A.  I am not.  As I stated in my opening
6 comments, I held that position for about eight
7 months, and starting back today, May 1st, I am the
8 president of the Massachusetts business.
9     Q.  In that previous position, were you

10 responsible for ensuring the safe, reliable service
11 to customers along with customer service, financial,
12 and operational performance of the gas and electric
13 distribution business?
14     A.  Under that prior role, no, I was
15 responsible for the safe, reliable operations of my
16 team and the activity that we pursued.  But it's the
17 president of Massachusetts's responsibility to have
18 those activities that you just mentioned.
19     Q.  So as president, you're responsible for
20 Boston and Colonial Gas Companies operating in a
21 safe and reliable manner; is that correct?
22     A.  That's correct, yes.
23     Q.  And one of the largest recent capital
24 additions that National Grid USA made was the SAP
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1 system; is that correct?
2     A.  That is correct.
3     Q.  Could you generally describe the major
4 business functions of the SAP system.
5     A.  Yes.  The SAP system, installed back some
6 six years ago, were basically a new financial, again
7 accounting, general ledger system, and an HR
8 back-office system.  Those are the main components
9 of it.

10     Q.  Do you know how much National Grid Service
11 Company invested in the SAP system in the last five
12 years?
13     A.  In the last five years, I do not, no.
14     Q.  Would you agree that it's over a billion
15 dollars?
16     A.  In the last six years -- actually, more
17 than that:  In the last, say, ten years the company
18 spent close to a billion dollars on our SAP system.
19 As has been discussed in forums such as this before,
20 we charge to our customers the amount of that that
21 was previously agreed and intended to be spent on
22 the system, that which we deem prudent for our
23 customers.  And that number was, as a U.S. business,
24 something closer to 250 million.  The shareholders
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1 took on the burden of the excess costs.
2     Q.  Since initial installation of the SAP
3 system, National Grid has also made significant
4 updates and improvements to that system; is that
5 correct?
6     A.  There have been some along the way to keep
7 up with the technology, yes.
8     Q.  Again, do you have a ballpark number on how
9 much these updates and improvements to the system
10 have cost?
11     A.  Typically -- I don't have the exact number,
12 but typically upgrades to the systems are in the --
13 they're measured in millions, not thousands.
14     Q.  Could they be measured in tens of millions?
15     A.  It's possible.  I don't have the answer.
16     Q.  Ms. Reed, you testified for National Grid
17 in the Mass. Electric and Nantucket Electric base
18 rate case in 15-155; is that correct?
19     A.  That's right.
20     Q.  I'm going to hand you a document entitled
21 the Prefiled Direct Testimony of Marcy L. Reed in
22 15-155, dated November 6, 2015.
23             MR. ROGERS:  And I'd like the Department
24 to incorporate this by reference.
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1             MS. PIEPER:  I just want to make sure:
2 It's the full testimony in DPU 15-155?
3             MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
4             MS. PIEPER:  And it's marked as Exhibit
5 NG-MLR-1.  And we will incorporate it by reference
6 pursuant to 220 CMR 1.10(3).
7     Q.  Ms. Reed, could you please turn to Page 23.
8 And could you start with the question on Line 17 and
9 read down to Line 9 on the following page.

10     A.  The question reads, "What was the nature of
11 the organizational restructuring that was undertaken
12 in 2011?"  And the answer reads, "On January 31st,
13 2011, National Grid announced a detailed
14 restructuring plan to improve its performance
15 through creation of an organizational structure
16 based on local state jurisdictions, led by regional
17 presidents with responsibilities for understanding
18 and meeting the needs of our customers, communities,
19 legislative leaders and legislators in each of those
20 local jurisdictions.  Organizing its operations on
21 the basis of state jurisdictions rather than lines
22 of business (the organizational model originally
23 implemented in 2007) was intended to promote and
24 facilitate full engagement with customers and other
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1 external stakeholders and ensure the company's
2 public service obligations are met.  This structure
3 was also designed to result in the streamlining of
4 many customer-facing processes and procedures,
5 thereby improving the customer interactions with
6 National Grid's operating companies, while
7 maintaining safe and reliable service."
8     Q.  So according to your testimony in DPU
9 15-155, the organizational structure that was put

10 into effect in 2011 was supposed to promote and
11 facilitate full engagement with customers and other
12 external stakeholders; is that correct?
13     A.  That's correct.
14     Q.  And the design was supposed to maintain
15 safe and reliable service; is that correct?
16     A.  Yes.
17     Q.  Now, Ms. Reed, can you turn to Page 26 of
18 your testimony in this case.
19     A.  The electric case?
20     Q.  Excuse me, in the electric case, DPU
21 15-155.
22     A.  Got it.
23     Q.  Could you read the question and answer that
24 starts on Line 13 and goes to the following page on
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1 Line 10, and ends with December 2012.
2     A.  The question reads, "Please describe the
3 SAP system and the challenges resulting from its
4 implementation."
5             And the answer says, "Following National
6 Grid's acquisition of KeySpan in 2007, the business
7 was challenged in supporting multiple and complex
8 business processes that spanned several different
9 technology platforms.  The fragmented business
10 processes and systems created numerous risks and
11 challenges for day-to-day operations.  In 2010,
12 National Grid launched the U.S. Foundations Program
13 ('USFP') to consolidate various systems onto a
14 single platform to replace the functionality
15 delivered by the legacy Oracle and PeopleSoft ERP
16 ssuites and associated applications.  Accordingly,
17 National Grid retained consultants to design and
18 build a system to enable the consolidation of human
19 resources, finance, and supply chain processes and
20 more than 20 other applications into a single SAP
21 enterprise resource planning platform.  The SAP
22 implementation essentially represented a system
23 consolidation; however, the conversion was
24 extensive, involving significant changes throughout
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1 National Grid with impacts on technology, business
2 processes, and employees across the U.S. operation.
3              "On November 5, 2012, National Grid
4 launched the majority of the SAP modules and
5 business processes.  The remaining modules and
6 business processes were launched in December 2012."
7     Q.  Just so the record is clear, when you refer
8 to KeySpan in the testimony from DPU 15-155, you
9 were referring to the holding company that included

10 Boston Gas and Colonial Gas; is that correct?
11     A.  That is correct.
12     Q.  Could you please turn to Page 25 of your
13 prefiled testimony in this case.
14     A.  Did you say Page 25?
15     Q.  Yes, 25, and specifically Line 16.
16     A.  16, yes.
17     Q.  Beginning on Line 16 you state that on the
18 O&M side the company's GSR program includes safety
19 initiatives and incremental labor and nonlabor O&M
20 expenses those initiatives require.  Is that
21 correct?
22     A.  Yes.
23     Q.  In that statement, specifically what do you
24 mean when you use the term "safety initiatives"?
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1     A.  So the GSR program is a large-scale suite
2 of initiatives that we have undertaken to address
3 reliability and safety across our business.  They
4 include such activities as upgrades to our many LNG
5 facilities across the state.  They include
6 pipeline -- pipe replacement programs across the
7 state.  They include system reinforcement projects.
8             In addition, they include adherence to
9 the legislation which was passed in 2016 for leak
10 repair of Grade 3 leaks.  It also includes leak
11 surveillance techniques that we've increased and
12 improved, as well as leak rechecks.
13             Further, it includes a meter lock
14 program, that we've discussed with the Department in
15 prior proceedings.  And lastly, it includes the
16 creation of a customer mobile hub, so that we can
17 better address their concerns.
18             Many of those, I would suggest all of
19 those, are being undertaken to address safety and
20 reliability concerns we have for the system.
21     Q.  And all those are included in your
22 operations and maintenance expenses?  Is that your
23 testimony?
24     A.  No.  These are -- some programs are in
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1 there.  For example, the personnel that we had to
2 hire to begin addressing the Grade 3 leak
3 legislation, some of those are embedded within our
4 2016 test year costs.  Others that we have hired
5 since the legislation came and we started the
6 activity have been included as one of the
7 adjustments you mentioned earlier in our discussion.
8             Much of the projects that we discussed
9 in the GSR program are capital-related, and we're
10 not asking the Department to compensate us for those
11 at this time.  We're asking for a mechanism to be
12 able to discuss the compensation for those --
13 although, having said that, we have already incurred
14 tens of millions of dollars in all of those capital
15 projects.  We're not asking for recovery of that
16 here.
17     Q.  So in the next sentence after the one you
18 just read, on Line 17, it says, in order to meet the
19 company's work plans over the next five years, the
20 company implemented a program to recruit, hire, and
21 train 333 additional full-time equivalents to have
22 sufficient personnel resources to perform the
23 company's increased gas main replacement and repair
24 and enhanced leak repair, leak management, and meter
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1 lock initiatives; is that right?
2     A.  That's right, yes.
3     Q.  And you indicated that the company will
4 hire and use these people over the next five years?
5     A.  We began to hire these people in 2016.
6 Included in the test year, subject to check, are
7 about just less than half of those people, and the
8 rest have subsequently come on board, mostly to
9 perform the tasks that I mentioned.  For example,
10 the leak repair of Grade 3 leaks was never an
11 activity any Massachusetts gas LDC performed up to
12 this point.  So we all increased our workforces to
13 be able to accommodate and comply with that
14 legislation.
15             In fact, just to tell you the amount of
16 work that they do:  In a normal year across the gas
17 companies we repair about nine to ten thousand leaks
18 every year.  We are increasing that by 3600 this
19 past year and going forward to comply with that
20 legislation.
21             So that's what the folks have been hired
22 to help us do.
23     Q.  Now, the 333 full-time equivalents, are
24 those all at the distribution level, or does that
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1 include some service company employees?
2     A.  They'd be both, right at the operating
3 company level and the service company.
4     Q.  Do you know how many employees the Boston
5 Gas and Colonial Gas Companies have at the end of
6 the test year in this case?
7     A.  I would have to check that number.  I don't
8 have it off the top of my head.
9     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that it

10 was 1,277?
11     A.  For the total of the two companies?
12     Q.  Yes.
13     A.  That feels about right.
14     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that the
15 company's employee turnover rate was more than 5
16 percent annually?
17     A.  Sounds right.
18     Q.  So all things being equal, with 1,277
19 employees, one can expect a loss of about 64
20 employees per year; is that correct?
21     A.  That would be right in that math, yes.
22     Q.  And over a five-year period that would mean
23 the company would lose about 320 employees; is that
24 correct?
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1     A.  That's right.
2             I will make the point that the 333
3 additional FTEs that we are hiring and have hired
4 are not simply to backfill people who have left for
5 retirement or other opportunities.  Rather, these
6 are incremental new hires to do that incremental
7 work that I discussed earlier.
8     Q.  So could you please turn to Page 21 of your
9 prefiled testimony.  Do you have that?

10     A.  Yes.
11     Q.  On Lines 5 through 17 you describe the
12 company's leak-prone pipe replacement program.
13     A.  Right.
14     Q.  And this program includes the replacement
15 of leak-prone mains; is that right?
16     A.  That's right.
17     Q.  It also includes the replacement of
18 leak-prone services; is that correct?
19     A.  Yes.
20     Q.  And it also includes the replacement of
21 meter sets?
22     A.  Yes.
23     Q.  Now, on Lines 16 and 17 you conclude that
24 the company continues to substantially ramp up its
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1 workforce in order to meet the aggressive GSEP
2 timetable; is that correct?
3     A.  Yes.
4     Q.  Now, all the costs associated with the GSEP
5 program can be capitalized and recovered through the
6 GSEP tracker; is that correct?
7     A.  I believe most -- yes, I believe that's
8 true.
9     Q.  And this is allowed by the statute that you

10 cite in your testimony, Chapter 164, Section 145?
11 Is that correct?
12     A.  I don't know the chapters, but yes, it's
13 per the agreement that we have with the Department.
14     Q.  So since the costs associated with the
15 ramp-up in workforce that you cite to in your answer
16 are capitalized, should they not be included -- they
17 shouldn't be included as an operations and
18 maintenance expense in base rates; is that correct?
19     A.  Every employee has some certain level of
20 operating costs associated with them.  For example,
21 under accounting regulations we are not allowed to
22 capitalize the cost of training, which obviously is
23 very important to us.  So there are certain costs
24 that every employee carries, including vacations and
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1 sick time, that largely go into operating costs
2 versus capital.
3             Certainly the true capital costs
4 associated with replacing of leak-prone pipe under
5 the GSEP program are included as such and filed in
6 the filing for the GSEP.
7     Q.  So is it your testimony that an employee
8 who is working solely on GSEP projects would not
9 have his nonproductive time, like vacations and days
10 off, charged to the GSEP account?
11     A.  So when they're doing training, that goes
12 to O&M.  The time not worked that you'd be referring
13 to -- vacation, sick time, et cetera -- are I
14 believe also going to the operation costs.
15             We are allowed to collect through the
16 GSEP filing the actual costs incurred in replacing
17 the leak-prone pipe.
18     Q.  So nonproductive time is not capitalizable;
19 is that correct?
20     A.  It's probably best that you chat with the
21 pricing and other panels that will come forward.
22 There's a possibility that the nonproductive time
23 follows the cost of an employee.  So I wouldn't want
24 to mislead you.  It's best that you bring that
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1 question to them.
2     Q.  If you go to Page 22 of your prefiled
3 testimony:  On Lines 5 through 11 you discuss the
4 leak repair requirements; is that correct?
5     A.  That's right.
6     Q.  And on Lines 5 through 7 you indicate there
7 are new requirements for Grade 1 and Grade 2 leak
8 repairs; is that correct?
9     A.  They're not new requirements.  But I'd note

10 that there are prescribed times, yes.
11     Q.  When did those requirements become
12 effective?
13     A.  The law is cited here, so General Laws 164,
14 144.
15     Q.  Would you accept subject to check September
16 14th, 2014?
17     A.  Yes, subject to check.
18     Q.  Has the company been complying with the
19 Commonwealth's regulations regarding its Grade 1 and
20 Grade 2 leak repairs?
21     A.  To the best of our ability, yes.
22     Q.  So the company has been operating and
23 incurring costs associated with these Grade 1 and
24 Grade 2 leak repair requirements since 2014; is that
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1 correct?
2     A.  Yes.
3     Q.  So those costs are already, if you will,
4 embedded in the test year cost of service; is that
5 correct?
6     A.  For 1's and 2's, yes.
7     Q.  And in Line 7 through 9 you discuss Grade 3
8 leaks with significant environmental impact; is that
9 right?

10     A.  Yes.
11     Q.  And you provide a cite to the Acts of 2016,
12 Chapter 188, Section 13; is that correct?
13     A.  Yes.
14     Q.  And those acts provided for recovery of
15 those costs associated with identification and
16 repair of those Grade 3 leaks with significant
17 environmental impact through the GSEP charge; is
18 that correct?
19     A.  That's correct.
20     Q.  So employee costs associated with these
21 Grade 3 leaks should not be recovered in base rates
22 and should be recovered through the GSEP charge; is
23 that correct?
24     A.  The additional hires that you asked me
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1 about earlier are for the whole load of activities
2 that I mentioned, including the leak surveillance,
3 the leak recheck, the meter lock program, all of
4 those programs that I mentioned earlier.
5     Q.  Was that a yes or a no?
6     A.  Could you reask the question, please?
7             MR. ROGERS:  Alan, could you read back
8 the question.
9             (Question read.)

10     A.  The capital portion should be recovered
11 through the GSEP charge; that is correct.
12     Q.  Should the expense portion be recovered
13 through the GSEP charge?
14     A.  If the GSEP program allows for the related
15 O&M, capital-related O&M, then yes.  If not, then
16 no.
17     Q.  Could you please turn to Page 26 of your
18 prefiled testimony.
19             MS. PIEPER:  I'd like to take a break at
20 some point.
21             MR. ROGERS:  Now would be a good time.
22             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go off the record and
23 take a ten-minute break.
24             (Recess taken.)
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1             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
2 record.  You may proceed.
3     Q.  Ms. Reed, can you turn to Page 26 of your
4 prefiled testimony.
5     A.  Yes.
6     Q.  Specifically, on Lines -- in this response
7 you're talking about the need for additional
8 employees; is that correct?
9     A.  Let me check.

10             Yes, I think that's right.
11     Q.  And you indicate on Lines 3 and 4 that you
12 are accelerating the leak repair program in calendar
13 2017 to target an additional 3600 leak repairs per
14 year; is that correct?
15     A.  That's right.
16     Q.  So that would be an additional 3600 leak
17 repairs per year over the amount done during 2016,
18 the test year in this case; is that correct?
19     A.  I assume that's what we meant, yes.
20     Q.  Is that number, 3600, a significant
21 increase over the amount of repairs that the company
22 did during 2016?
23     A.  The typical annual number of leaks we
24 repair is less than 10,000, closer to 9,000.  So
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1 this would be over 30 percent increase in that --
2 almost 40 percent, actually.
3     Q.  Would you take subject to check that the
4 company reported in its gas distribution integrity
5 management plan for 2016 that it did 8,071 leak
6 repairs?
7     A.  Sounds right.  Yes, thank you.
8     Q.  Ms. Reed, can you turn to the company's
9 response to AG-27-2?

10     A.  Is this what you're handing out?  Okay.
11     Q.  And just for the record, these are pages --
12 exhibits from DPU 17-GSEP-03?
13     A.  Looks like it, yes.
14     Q.  And can you turn to Attachment AG-1-5-A,
15 Page 152 of 180?
16             MS. PIEPER:  I just want to clarify:  Is
17 this a part of AG-27-2?
18             MR. ROGERS:  Yes, it's an attachment.
19             MS. PIEPER:  It's an attachment to
20 AG-27-2.  All right.
21     A.  What page would you like me to see?
22     Q.  152.  Now, if you look at that chart there,
23 go all the way to the bottom, the last line says for
24 Massachusetts there was 8,071 repairs for 2016; is
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1 that correct?
2     A.  That's correct.
3     Q.  So doing some simple addition, the company
4 expected to do about 11,671 leak repairs during
5 2017; is that correct?
6     A.  The intent would be to ramp up to that
7 number.  But yes, your math is correct.
8     Q.  Now, if we go back on that chart, you can
9 see 2009, and in 2009 the company repaired 12,328

10 leaks.  Do you see that?  Is that correct?
11     A.  Yes.
12     Q.  Now, the test year in the company's last
13 base rate case, DPU 10-55, was calendar year 2009;
14 is that correct?
15     A.  I believe that's right.
16     Q.  So the company did 50 percent more leak
17 repairs during the test year in the last rate case,
18 at 12,328 repairs, as compared to the test year
19 level of 8,071 repairs in this case; is that
20 correct?
21     A.  Yes.  I don't recall what the weather was
22 like in '09, but that is what this says.
23     Q.  So would the company have had the costs for
24 12,328 leak repairs included in the test year cost
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1 of service in DPU 10-55?
2     A.  I would have to check on that.
3     Q.  Would you take that subject to check?
4     A.  Subject to check.
5     Q.  Now, a significant cost of doing a leak
6 repair is labor cost from company employees; is that
7 correct?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  Could you please turn to Exhibit AG-1-44.

10 And I'm looking at Attachment AG-1-44-1.  And
11 specifically, if you could turn to Page 7 of 8.
12     A.  Okay.
13     Q.  Now, on this page is the number of
14 employees by month for 2016, the test year in this
15 case.
16     A.  That's right.
17     Q.  And do you see at the end of the year for
18 December the number of management and union
19 employees for Boston Gas and Colonial?
20     A.  Yes.
21     Q.  Would you agree that the number of union
22 employees jumps up in December over the month of
23 November?
24     A.  Yes.

69

1     Q.  Would you agree that that's a 12 percent
2 increase in Colonial union employees in that one
3 month?
4     A.  It's about right.  It also coincides with
5 the activity that we started to hire the people to
6 take care of the --
7     Q.  And it's a 7.5 percent increase in Boston
8 Gas union employees in one month?
9     A.  Looks like it, yes.

10     Q.  Is the jump in the number of employees
11 typical at the end of a year?
12     A.  No.  As I was saying, this is about the
13 time -- it was the fall of '16 -- when we started
14 our recruiting program for more gas employees to
15 help us with some of those activities I mentioned
16 earlier.  That carried on through 2017.
17     Q.  Would you accept subject to check this
18 table indicates the companies had on average 1,193
19 employees during 2016?
20     A.  Which company?
21     Q.  Boston Gas and Colonial.
22     A.  That looks about right, yes.
23     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that the
24 companies had on average 1,049 employees during
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1 2009, the test year in the last rate case?
2     A.  Yes, subject to check.
3     Q.  So it appears the companies had approximate
4 10 percent fewer employees during the test year in
5 the last rate case; is that correct?
6     A.  That would only be a true statement if you
7 were confining your view to Boston Gas and Colonial.
8 But indeed, as I stated earlier in the day, we have
9 many employees who are employed by the service

10 company, depending on the tasks they perform.  So I
11 actually look at it as the whole picture, not just
12 the operating company level.
13     Q.  Do the service company employees do the
14 physical leak repairs?
15     A.  The physical work, no.  Much of the
16 supervision, yes.
17     Q.  Yet the employees for Boston Gas and
18 Colonial were able to do 50 percent more leak
19 repairs back in 2009 than in the test year in this
20 case; is that correct?
21     A.  I would have to check if we had any
22 contractors helping in that year, which does look to
23 be significant.  Again, I don't remember the weather
24 that year, which sometimes wreaks havoc in our
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1 business.  But I can't say for sure that those were
2 all just the Boston Gas and Colonial Gas employees.
3     Q.  Is the company's major objective to provide
4 safe and reliable distribution service in compliance
5 with Federal and State regulations issued by the
6 Pipeline and Hazardous Materials Safety
7 Administration and the Department?
8     A.  Yes, sir, it is.
9     Q.  Is it your testimony that the company must
10 meet State and Federal safety regulations for
11 pipeline operations?
12     A.  Yes.
13     Q.  Now, the company is proposing the gas
14 safety and reliability program for capital
15 improvement projects and operations and maintenance
16 work; is that correct?
17     A.  Yes.
18     Q.  And through GSRP the company will modify --
19 or modernize its gas distribution system and improve
20 safety by complying with the Federal and State
21 regulations?
22     A.  Yes, a unique set of programs, but yes.
23     Q.  And one of the key capital improvements the
24 company proposes in the GSRP program is the mid-Cape
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1 main replacement program?
2     A.  That's right.
3     Q.  And would you agree that the mid-Cape main
4 replacement project is necessary because the
5 existing main can only be operated at a reduced
6 pressure at 125 pounds per square inch?
7     A.  That's correct.
8     Q.  And is there a moratorium on new or
9 extended gas service in the area served by this
10 pipe?
11     A.  That is correct.
12     Q.  Would you agree that the Department found
13 the company did not meet 20 Federal and State
14 pipeline safety violations with respect to the
15 company's Cape Cod 200-psig pipeline addressed in
16 DPU 15-PL-4?
17     A.  I don't recall the exact number, but yes,
18 there were a number of them.
19     Q.  Would you accept subject to check it was
20 20?
21     A.  Sure.
22     Q.  Is it reasonable to conclude the company's
23 violations of State and Federal pipeline safety
24 regulations contributed to the poor condition of
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1 this pipe?
2     A.  No.
3     Q.  As a result of these violations, did the
4 company agree to repair, upgrade, and replace the
5 200-psig pipeline and attached service lines as part
6 of a consent order in DPU 15-PL-4?
7     A.  We proposed that that was the correct
8 remedy, yes.
9     Q.  Could you turn to Exhibit NG-JBC-6, and
10 turn to Page 3,650.
11     A.  I don't have it yet.
12             Okay, what page?
13     Q.  3,650.
14     A.  Bear with me.  It says "not responding."
15             3,650.  Okay.  Thank you.
16     Q.  And this is entitled U.S. Sanction Paper?
17     A.  Yes.
18     Q.  What exactly is this?
19     A.  For every capital project that the company
20 presents, it must go through a full sanctioning
21 process.  I sit on the sanctioning committee.  The
22 relevant personnel within the company, whether
23 they're engineers, asset managers, et cetera, would
24 create the scope and purpose of a project, a capital
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1 project, put it forth in a paper, and we as a
2 committee discuss it, agree or not, sometimes make
3 amendments.  And these are then subject to
4 submission to the Department.
5     Q.  And this paper requests sanction for the
6 mid-Cape main replacement in the amount of $73.7
7 million?
8     A.  That's right, yeah.
9     Q.  And if we turn to Page 3,655, there's a
10 signature on that page.  Can you tell me who
11 Margaret Smith is?
12     A.  I'm not at that page yet, but Margaret
13 Smith is our chief financial officer for the U.S.
14 business.
15     Q.  So she would have to give sign-off on this?
16     A.  Yes, she signs all sanction papers.
17     Q.  Could you turn to Page 3,657.
18     A.  Okay.  I think I'm there.
19     Q.  Do you see a Section 3.2?  It says Drivers?
20     A.  It's acting up again.  Hold on.
21             Could you repeat the page number for me?
22     Q.  That was 3,657.
23     A.  Technical difficulties.  Hold on.
24             Okay.
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1     Q.  Do you see the Section 3.2, Drivers?
2     A.  Yes.  It's slightly truncated on my sheet,
3 but yes.  Let's go with it.
4     Q.  Could you read the last sentence in the
5 first paragraph under Drivers.
6     A.  Yes, I can.  "Were it not for the
7 inadequacies in asset condition described above, the
8 approximately 18 miles of pipe would not need to be
9 replaced even when taking into consideration the
10 forecasted increase in demand."
11     Q.  And could you go to the previous page,
12 3,656.
13     A.  Okay.
14     Q.  And do you see the second paragraph, under
15 Background?  It starts "In 2014."
16     A.  Yes.
17     Q.  Could you read the first two sentences of
18 that paragraph.
19     A.  Sure.  "In 2014 weld inspections were
20 conducted at 28 locations along the 200-psig main,
21 which resulted in National Grid's welding consultant
22 finding that nine welds were not considered
23 acceptable under current American Petroleum
24 Institute 1104 standards.  This is a requirement
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1 applicable to gas piping specified within DOT
2 192.225 welding procedures."
3     Q.  Thank you.
4     A.  You're welcome.
5             MR. ROGERS:  We have nothing further --
6 or at this time, subject to other parties and the
7 Department and redirect.
8             MS. PIEPER:  Okay.  Let's go off the
9 record.  I think I have people that need to get off

10 the Bench and people that need to get on.  Let's go
11 off the record.
12             (Discussion off the record.)
13             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
14 record.  The Department just has a few questions for
15 you.
16             BENCH EXAMINATION
17 BY MR. OSBORNE:
18     Q.  Good afternoon, Ms. Reed.
19     A.  Good afternoon.
20     Q.  I just have a couple of followup questions.
21             Earlier today Mr. Rogers was asking you
22 about the National Grid Service Company and the
23 various employees and shared services.  For purposes
24 of completion, could you give me an example of an
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1 employee who would be exclusively working for Boston
2 Gas Company or Colonial Gas Company, as distinct
3 from the service company?
4     A.  Sure.  I'm happy to.  An example would be
5 the many good represented union folks that we have.
6 Most are -- I guess I have to say most; there could
7 be exceptions.  Most are direct employees of Boston
8 Gas or Colonial Gas.  So they're the folks out doing
9 all the hard work in the streets, at the meters, at

10 customers' homes, in their basements, et cetera.
11 Those are primarily the direct employees.
12             Almost everybody else is a service
13 company employee.  Certainly all the engineers, the
14 accountants, the lawyers, the management team, such
15 as myself, most of the supervision, asset managers,
16 work management people, customer service coaches --
17 we call our supervisors coaches.
18     Q.  Are there any employees who work
19 exclusively for one of the gas companies or the
20 other on a 100 percent basis?
21     A.  Sure.  So folks -- all of our represented
22 union workers who do all the hard work are assigned
23 to locations -- we call them barns or platforms.  So
24 if you've got a meter tech assigned to our Waltham
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1 facility on Newton Street or on West Street, that
2 would be a Boston Gas employee -- as compared to the
3 same exact job-title person who might work in our
4 South Yarmouth facility; that person would be a
5 Colonial employee.  It's very rare that they would
6 switch locations and work in the other operating
7 company territory.
8     Q.  Has there been any trend since 2009
9 regarding the transfer of employees from the
10 operating companies to the service company?
11     A.  I wouldn't have thought so.  As I stated,
12 it's -- the guideline we follow is, if you are an
13 employee and the bulk of your time is ever spent
14 working for two or more subsidiaries of National
15 Grid, we employ you by the service company.  So the
16 circumstances haven't changed significantly since
17 2009.  We still have those workers in Waltham and we
18 still have the workers in Colonial.  So that really
19 wouldn't have changed much.
20     Q.  Thank you.  I have no further questions at
21 this time.
22             MS. PIEPER:  Does the Attorney General
23 have any further questions, or do the other
24 intervenors have any questions for Ms. Reed?
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1             MR. HARAK:  I do have a few.
2             MS. PIEPER:  Go ahead.
3             MR. HARAK:  Thank you.
4                  CROSS-EXAMINATION
5 BY MR. HARAK:
6     Q.  Good afternoon, Ms. Reed.
7     A.  Hello, Mr. Harak.
8     Q.  I think you know that I represent what I'll
9 call for short the Low-Income Network.

10     A.  Right.
11     Q.  I do have a quick question, following up on
12 these allocations.  The customer-service reps that
13 answer the phones and speak to customers, where do
14 they get housed as between the service company -- I
15 don't mean physically housed.  I mean are they on
16 the service company payroll or an operating payroll?
17     A.  You know what?  I actually believe -- I
18 would have to check, Mr. Harak.  But I actually
19 believe they may be service company employees,
20 because when a Massachusetts gas customer calls into
21 our service center, they all sit together.  So I
22 suspect that they are service company employees.  I
23 could check.
24     Q.  And I have some questions based on your
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1 answers to questions from your own counsel at the
2 very beginning.  It went by a little fast for me.
3             So as of today you are back as president
4 of the Massachusetts jurisdiction.
5     A.  Yes.
6     Q.  And you were also that role for some number
7 of years in the past.
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  And I think in the interim you said you

10 were executive vice president of U.S. policy and
11 social impact.  Did I hear you correctly?
12     A.  No, you did not.  Sorry.  During the --
13 there was an eight-month period from roughly August
14 of 2017 until yesterday, technically, when I was in
15 the role of executive vice president, business
16 operations, engineering, and process.
17     Q.  Thank you.  Would you agree that the
18 company has various programs and policies that
19 assist its low-income customers?
20     A.  Yes.
21     Q.  And could you list any of those that come
22 to mind?
23     A.  We have discounted rates.  We also have a
24 plethora of energy efficiency programs targeted to
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1 help our low-income customers.  Those are a couple
2 off the top of my head.
3     Q.  You also have an arrearage management
4 program that operates both for your gas customers
5 and your electric customers; is that correct?
6     A.  That is true.
7     Q.  Billing and collections and termination of
8 service and implementation of those programs we
9 discussed.  Employees working under you actually

10 implement those programs on a day-to-day basis; is
11 that correct?
12     A.  Yes.
13     Q.  And but what is your role in setting or
14 overseeing the policies or practices in these areas
15 that affect low-income people?
16     A.  I am deeply involved in those
17 conversations.
18     Q.  In what sense?  Could you expand on that at
19 all?
20     A.  Sure.  A couple would come to mind.  One, I
21 sit on the executive team of National Grid, which is
22 made up of folks at my level who support our full
23 U.S. business.  In those conversations we have been
24 known to talk about policy for our low-income
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1 customers, something we actually care deeply about.
2 So that's one example where I've been deeply
3 involved.
4             The other would be in the budgeting
5 process, that Mr. Rogers discussed earlier.
6 Whenever we have activities that are related to
7 low-income, whether they're the energy efficiency
8 programs, the arrearage management program you
9 mentioned, or anything else, those budgets

10 ultimately come to me for approval.  So in that way
11 I'm involved there as well.
12     Q.  And I think, if I heard you correctly, you
13 said there was one example where you were deeply
14 involved?
15     A.  Well, when I'm sitting at the executive
16 table, there are only about 12 of us.  So you are
17 deeply involved by definition.
18     Q.  And given the answers you've already
19 stated, would you agree that the company offers
20 these programs that help low-income people
21 willingly -- in the sense that you don't do it
22 simply because the Department or statute may have
23 ordered you to do so?  Would you agree with that?
24     A.  I would very much agree with that.  To the
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1 contrary, we care deeply about all of our customers,
2 but we are particularly cognizant of some of the
3 dire straits some of our customers find themselves
4 in.
5     Q.  Would you agree that some of these programs
6 also have benefits on the business side?  To the
7 extent programs may assist low-income people,
8 they're less likely to be terminated?
9     A.  That is true.
10     Q.  And so it may help with billing and
11 collections; is that correct?
12     A.  In many cases low-income customers find
13 themselves also in protected classes.  So in those
14 cases, no, actually, it's a financial detriment to
15 the company.  We are not -- we don't have a practice
16 of, nor are we allowed to, terminate customers who
17 are in a protected class.
18             So if a customer is incapable of paying
19 their bill and they're protected, we simply continue
20 to serve them, and that number of the uncollected
21 amount simply grows.  In fact, in this exact case we
22 are asking to amortize that balance that's over one
23 year old over a five-year period.
24     Q.  If I ask you to focus on the arrearage
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1 management program, would you agree that there may
2 be benefits to the companies on the business side by
3 making the bills more affordable?
4     A.  There could be, yes.
5     Q.  Do you recall being a witness in the
6 National Grid electric case, DPU 15-155?
7     A.  Yes.
8     Q.  And you may recall that I asked you some
9 questions and you provided some answers regarding
10 the arrearage management program, which, again,
11 applies both on the gas and electric side.
12     A.  Yes.
13     Q.  And would you agree that as a result of the
14 Department's order and your own, I believe, willing
15 testimony, the company made some efforts regarding
16 enrolling people, more people, on the arrearage
17 management program.  Is that correct?
18     A.  Yes.
19     Q.  And those efforts were successful, were
20 they not?
21     A.  Yes.
22     Q.  Are you aware that the Low-Income Network
23 has proposed a witness in this case, John Howett, on
24 the discount rate issue?
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1     A.  I was not aware of it.  I'm not surprised.
2     Q.  If the Department were to determine that it
3 is appropriate to accept the recommendation of
4 Mr. Howett's testimony to equalize the discount
5 rates between the electric and gas side and that any
6 additional cost would be recoverable from your
7 customers, would you oppose that?
8     A.  I wouldn't necessarily oppose it, but I
9 would feel obligated to point out that it's not an

10 apples-and-apples comparison between electric and
11 gas.  The reason we have the program we have on the
12 electric side is because our electric bills are
13 burdened with the addition of some costs that
14 represent State policy, such as net metering costs,
15 et cetera.  The intent of that was to basically
16 shield those customers from those increased costs.
17 That doesn't exist on the gas side.
18             Having said that, you know, I am very
19 passionate about the community, as you may well
20 know, and we would certainly look deeply at the
21 proposal that was made, but I would not oppose it.
22     Q.  I'll rest there.  Thank you very much.
23     A.  Thank you.
24             MS. PIEPER:  Do any of the other
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1 intervenors have any questions for this witness?
2             MR. CARROLL:  Not at this time.
3             MS. PIEPER:  Does the Attorney General
4 have any more questions?
5             MR. ROGERS:  We have just a couple of
6 questions.
7             FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION
8 BY MR. ROGERS:
9     Q.  A few minutes ago, in your discussion with
10 Mr. Osborne, you discussed employees shifting back
11 and forth between distribution and service company.
12 How about with outside contractors?  Could they do
13 leaks, or is it just union?
14     A.  Most leaks are performed by union
15 personnel.
16     Q.  Was that true in 2016?
17     A.  Understanding there are probably always
18 exceptions, but it is our practice for most leaks to
19 be covered by union personnel.
20     Q.  How about back in 2009?
21     A.  I don't remember.  I'm sorry.
22             MR. ROGERS:  We have nothing further.
23             MS. PIEPER:  Why don't we go off the
24 record.
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1             (Discussion off the record.)
2             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
3 record.  So the company does not have any redirect?
4             MS. KIMBALL:  No, we do not.
5             MS. PIEPER:  We are done with this
6 witness, then.  Thank you very much.
7             THE WITNESS:  Thank you for the
8 opportunity.
9             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go off the record.

10             (Discussion off the record.)
11             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
12 record.  The next witness is Daniel Dane.  If you
13 could please state your full name for the record.
14             THE WITNESS:  My name is Daniel S. Dane.
15                   DANIEL S. DANE,
16 being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
17 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
18 was examined and testified as follows:
19             MS. PIEPER:  You may proceed with
20 direct.
21             MS. BLACKMORE:  Thank you.
22                 DIRECT EXAMINATION
23 BY MS. BLACKMORE:
24     Q.  Mr. Dane, by whom are you employed and in
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1 what position?
2     A.  I'm a vice president with Concentric Energy
3 Advisors.
4     Q.  And how long have you been employed by
5 Concentric Energy Advisors?
6     A.  About 14 years.
7     Q.  Were you involved in the preparation of the
8 companies' rate case?
9     A.  I was.

10     Q.  And as part of that preparation, did you
11 prepare prefiled direct testimony and several
12 exhibits submitted to the Department on November
13 15th, 2017?
14     A.  Yes, I did.
15     Q.  Did you also prepare an updated revenue
16 requirement that was filed with the Department on
17 April 20th, 2018?
18     A.  Yes, I did.
19     Q.  With respect to your prefiled testimony,
20 marked for identification as Exhibit NG-DSD-1, and
21 related exhibits, were these exhibits prepared under
22 your direct supervision and control?
23     A.  Yes, they were.
24     Q.  And did you also prepare testimony and
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1 exhibits for the supplemental tax testimony in this
2 proceeding?
3     A.  I did.
4     Q.  Aside from the information presented in the
5 updated revenue requirement that you mentioned, do
6 you have any changes, corrections, deletions, or
7 additions that you wish to make to your prefiled
8 direct testimony or associated exhibits?
9     A.  No, I don't.

10     Q.  Have you also seen information requests
11 propounded by the Department, the Attorney General,
12 and other intervenors in this case?
13     A.  Yes.
14     Q.  And have you sponsored any responses to a
15 number of those information requests?
16     A.  I have.
17     Q.  Were those responses prepared under your
18 direct supervision and control?
19     A.  They were.
20     Q.  At this time do you have any changes,
21 corrections, deletions, or additions that you would
22 like to make to any of the information-request
23 responses that you've sponsored in this proceeding?
24     A.  No, I don't.
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1             MS. BLACKMORE:  The witness is available
2 for cross-examination.
3             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.  The Attorney
4 General may proceed.
5             MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you very much.
6                  CROSS-EXAMINATION
7 BY MS. ANDERSON:
8     Q.  Good afternoon, Mr. Dane.
9     A.  Good afternoon.
10     Q.  My name is Elizabeth Anderson.  I'm an
11 Assistant Attorney General, and I just have a few
12 questions for you today.
13             First I was going to ask:  Are you a
14 certified public accountant?
15     A.  Yes, I am.
16     Q.  And are you an expert in Federal corporate
17 income taxes?
18     A.  It would depend on the issue as it relates
19 to my clients.  I haven't offered testimony on that
20 in the past, but I am generally familiar with tax
21 matters.
22     Q.  Have you worked on tax matters in the past
23 as part of your role at Concentric?
24     A.  Yes, I have.
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1     Q.  For other clients?
2     A.  Yes.  And to clarify:  When I say tax
3 matters, I mean incorporating the effects of
4 taxation into analyses I do, as opposed to offering
5 tax advice, which I do not do.
6     Q.  Mr. Dane, the company made a filing in DPU
7 Docket 18-15, which is the Department's
8 investigation into the effects of the Tax Cuts and
9 Jobs Act of 2017.  Were you involved in that filing?
10     A.  No, I was not.
11     Q.  Mr. Dane, are you an expert in the cost of
12 capital for regulated utility companies?
13     A.  Yes, I have offered testimony on that.
14     Q.  And are you an engineer?
15     A.  No, I'm not an engineer.
16     Q.  Are you an attorney?
17     A.  No, I'm not an attorney.
18     Q.  Mr. Dane, you are here to present the
19 revenue requirement for each company, Boston Gas and
20 Colonial Gas; is that correct?
21     A.  Yes, that's right.
22     Q.  And you are not an employee of National
23 Grid plc or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates;
24 is that correct?
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1     A.  That's correct.
2     Q.  In the course of compiling your testimony,
3 your prefiled testimony, and any exhibits and
4 responses to discovery that you've sponsored in this
5 case, did you work with anyone at the company, at
6 National Grid?
7     A.  Yes.  I worked with individuals at National
8 Grid.
9     Q.  And who did you work with at National Grid?

10     A.  My primary contact was David Tufts at the
11 company, who is currently the director of revenue
12 requirements.
13     Q.  How do you spell that?  Is it T-u-f-t-s?
14     A.  T-u-f-t-s, yes.
15     Q.  Director of revenue requirements?
16     A.  Yes.
17     Q.  Was there anyone else that you worked with
18 on a regular basis to compile your testimony or
19 respond to discovery?
20     A.  Yes.  Mr. Tufts has a team of individuals
21 who work with him, so I would interact as needed
22 with those individuals.
23     Q.  And is Mr. Tufts or any of his team here
24 today?
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1     A.  Yes, Mr. Tufts is, as well as members of
2 his team.
3     Q.  I'm going to ask you a series of questions
4 about advertising costs included in the cost of
5 service today.  Was there a specific point of
6 contact regarding that issue at National Grid?
7     A.  I don't recall a specific point of contact.
8 So I would say it would be Mr. Tufts and his team
9 generally.

10     Q.  Mr. Dane, do you have direct access to the
11 company's accounting system?
12     A.  I don't currently.  It's nothing I've
13 requested.
14     Q.  So you were not given direct access to the
15 company's books?  You received the access through
16 David Tufts?
17     A.  When you say "books," I have access to
18 information that the company has provided, both
19 publicly and through the course of the proceeding,
20 that we provided.  In terms of access in the
21 accounting system, yes, I relied on the company for
22 that.
23     Q.  Mr. Dane, could you please turn to Exhibit
24 AG-1-73, and I think there's Attachments 1 and 2 to
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1 that exhibit; and I'm also going to be referencing
2 Exhibit AG-27-31 and the attachments to that
3 exhibit.
4     A.  Okay.
5             I have 1-73.  What was the second one?
6     Q.  It was AG-27-31 and the accompanying
7 attachments.  There were several provided on a
8 CD-ROM.  I'm not sure if you have it in an
9 electronic copy or a hard copy.
10     A.  Okay.
11             I have the response, and the attachments
12 are on CD-ROM.  So those are going to be pulled up.
13     Q.  Okay.  I can ask you a few questions while
14 they're pulling up the CD-ROM, if that works, if
15 you're ready.
16     A.  Yes, I'm ready.
17     Q.  Mr. Dane, were you the witness responsible
18 for the response to AG-1-73?
19     A.  Yes, I was.
20     Q.  And were you the witness responsible for
21 the response to AG-27-31?
22     A.  Yes, I was.
23     Q.  The responses to AG-1-73, Attachment 1,
24 includes an itemized list of costs that were
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1 included in the operation and maintenance expenses
2 for the company's 2016 test year; is that correct?
3     A.  Yes, that's correct.
4     Q.  Generally speaking, were the costs
5 attributed here paid directly to the vendors listed
6 in the vendor column?  Is that how I should be
7 reading the spreadsheet?
8     A.  I would expect them to have been, yes.
9     Q.  There is a line item for a vendor listed as

10 Boston Celtics.  Do you see that?
11     A.  I do, yes.
12     Q.  And the cost attributed to that line item
13 is $50,000; is that correct?
14     A.  Yes, that's correct.
15     Q.  And that's for something called a STEM lab
16 sponsorship, 2015 to 2016.  Yes?
17     A.  Yes, that's correct.
18     Q.  Now if we could turn to the AG-27-31
19 attachments on CD-ROM.  If you go to that CD-ROM,
20 there is a folder for, it's titled 016_Boston
21 Celtics.  Do you see that?
22     A.  I do.
23     Q.  And there's a document in that folder.
24 That document is labeled Boston Celtics.  Do you see
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1 that?
2     A.  I do, yes.
3     Q.  If we open that document, it appears to
4 list various media posts -- Facebook, Twitter,
5 Instagram -- as well as an end-game promotion.  Is
6 that correct?
7     A.  Yes, that's correct.
8     Q.  Does this list account for all the media
9 generated in connection with the $50,000 line item

10 sponsorship in AG-1-73?
11     A.  I don't know.  I don't see the costs in
12 this.
13     Q.  There appear to be no costs attributed to
14 any of these line items listed in this document
15 labeled Boston Celtics.  That's correct?
16     A.  Yes, that's correct.
17     Q.  So you don't know whether or not there were
18 additional costs that contributed to the $50,000
19 amount?
20     A.  Not -- without looking through the
21 attachments, I'm not sure if there's additional
22 items related to this piece of advertising.
23     Q.  Would that be something that you could
24 provide us via record request?
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1     A.  Yes, we could.
2             MS. ANDERSON:  Could I please take a
3 record request for all of the costs contributing to
4 the $50,000 sponsorship of the STEM lab for the
5 Boston Celtics, please.
6             MS. PIEPER:  So you're looking for a
7 breakdown?  I just want to make sure I understand.
8             MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
9             MS. PIEPER:  You're looking for a

10 breakdown of the $50,000 in costs.
11             MS. ANDERSON:  Exactly -- exactly how
12 they got to $50,000.
13             THE WITNESS:  Okay.
14             MS. ANDERSON:  An itemization and
15 quantification, please.
16             MS. PIEPER:  And you understand what it
17 is that the AG is looking for?
18             THE WITNESS:  Yes.
19     A.  If I could rephrase:  I think it's
20 confirmation that the $50,000 are the costs
21 represented by this piece of advertising, and then
22 further you've asked for a breakdown between those
23 components of the $50,000.
24     Q.  Yes.
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1             MS. PIEPER:  That's going to be Record
2 Request AG-1.
3             (Record Request AG-1.)
4     Q.  Mr. Dane, do you know the nature of the
5 sponsorship, the Boston Celtics sponsorship, that
6 we've been discussing?
7     A.  The description says STEM lab sponsorship
8 2015 to 2016.
9     Q.  Do you know what the purpose of the
10 sponsorship was?
11     A.  I -- I don't know for sure, no.
12     Q.  Do you know if it was connected in any way
13 to Boston Gas Company specifically?
14     A.  No.  I would need to understand the nature
15 of it.  It's an expense of the company.
16     Q.  Is there anyone else who would be able to
17 answer that question?
18     A.  When you say does it relate to Boston
19 Gas -- so I would need to check on the nature of the
20 advertising provided at the event to provide a more
21 thorough description of what the advertising was.
22     Q.  So you do not know whether or not the
23 advertising was targeted at conservation or energy
24 efficiency or anything of that nature?  You don't
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1 know what the nature of the advertising was?
2     A.  I don't, no.
3     Q.  So you don't know if the costs for this
4 sponsorship would have been recovered by the company
5 in the energy-efficiency-related docket?
6     A.  I don't know that, no.
7     Q.  So based on the description, it appears
8 that the time frame for the sponsorship was 2015 to
9 2016.  Is that correct?
10     A.  That's what the description says.  I'm just
11 going to look at the attachment to see if it has any
12 other information.
13             The attachment refers to events in 2016.
14     Q.  Correct.  The attachment, from reading it,
15 appears to show the rollout of the lab in March of
16 2016.  Does that sound correct to you?
17     A.  That's what the attachment says.
18     Q.  So can you tell me if the entire $50,000
19 amount included costs incurred in 2015 as well?
20     A.  These appear to be costs incurred in 2016,
21 and it's recorded by the company as a 2016 expense.
22     Q.  Correct.  The costs that are listed on this
23 document appear to be 2016 costs.  However, are
24 there any other costs that you know of associated
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1 with this?
2     A.  No, I'm not aware of any other costs.
3     Q.  So there would have been no costs incurred
4 in 2015 for this sponsorship?
5     A.  I don't know that.  The 2016 expense for
6 the company, as is included in 1-73, is for the
7 50,000.
8     Q.  If you could turn back to AG-1-73,
9 Attachment 1.  The next line item I'd like to focus

10 on is the Boston Athletic Association.  Do you see
11 that?  It's at the top.
12     A.  I do.
13     Q.  That is a sponsorship with the cost of
14 $30,000.  Is that correct?
15     A.  Yes, that's correct.
16     Q.  And if you go back to the AG-27-31
17 attachment, CD-ROM, there's a BAA folder; I think
18 it's labeled 015_Boston Athletic Association.  Do
19 you see that?
20     A.  Give me one minute.
21             If I could just ask counsel to help me
22 navigate.  Could you please repeat the attachment?
23     Q.  Sure.  It is Attachment AG-27-31-1, and the
24 CD-ROM, the folder in the CD-ROM is labeled
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1 015_Boston Athletic Association.
2     A.  Okay, I'm there.
3     Q.  In that folder there appears to be a copy
4 of an email, that says, "Re urgent MA-GAR request
5 attachment, AG-1-73-A, BAA sponsorship."  And if you
6 open that email, the email references a tent with
7 charging stations at the Boston Marathon.
8     A.  My apologies, Ms. Anderson.  I'm unable to
9 open the email.  It's in a format that is not being
10 accepted.  This is the "re urgent MA"?
11     Q.  Yes.
12     A.  We may need -- this is an Apple machine.
13 We may need a PC with the appropriate software.
14             MS. PIEPER:  Is it possible to ask the
15 questions without him actually looking at the email?
16             MS. KIMBALL:  We have one computer with
17 a CD drive.  We're just trying to get it loaded on
18 that.
19     A.  I have that now.
20     Q.  Thank you.  Have you opened the email?
21     A.  I did, yes.
22     Q.  And there's a line there that says, "We had
23 a tent with charging stations at the Boston
24 Marathon."  Correct?
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1     A.  Yes, I see that.
2     Q.  And I believe there's a JPEG file that is
3 titled IMG_0552(4), which if you open that, it
4 appears to be a photo of people in front of charging
5 stations.  Is that correct?
6     A.  Yes, I see that.
7     Q.  These appear to be cell phone charging
8 stations.  Is that what kind of charging they're
9 referring to?
10     A.  Potentially.  I'm not fully familiar with
11 that equipment, so....
12     Q.  The only other charging station that could
13 be would be maybe an electric vehicle charging
14 station in this context?
15     A.  Potentially.  I'm not sure.
16     Q.  Do you know what the purpose of this
17 advertisement is?
18     A.  I don't, no.
19     Q.  Do you know if it has any relation to
20 National Grid's gas business?
21     A.  Certainly it's an expense of the company.
22 I'm not sure what you mean by "relation to Boston
23 Gas."
24     Q.  Well, the advertisement in the form of
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1 National Grid-sponsored charging stations, does that
2 have any relation to National Grid's gas business?
3     A.  I don't know.  I would need to investigate
4 further.
5     Q.  Do you know what the cost was for these
6 charging stations?
7     A.  The overall cost for this program is
8 $30,000.
9     Q.  So these charging stations would have been

10 part of that overall cost.
11     A.  Presumably, yes.
12     Q.  And were the costs charged to National Grid
13 by the vendor here, Boston Athletic Association?
14     A.  I assume so, yes.
15     Q.  So the Boston Athletic Association owns or
16 otherwise controls these charging stations?
17     A.  The equipment in the picture says "National
18 Grid," so my assumption is it's National Grid
19 charging stations.
20     Q.  However, you just testified that the cost
21 was included in the overall $30,000 cost charged by
22 Boston Athletic Association?
23     A.  If the company -- I should say I don't
24 know.  If the company were to allocate a portion of
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1 those facilities to this expense, they could
2 potentially be included.  But the vendor here is
3 Boston Athletic Association, so, subject to further
4 checks, these would be costs that were charged by
5 that association.
6     Q.  Is it possible that the cost of the
7 charging station was over and above the cost of the
8 $30,000 sponsorship?
9     A.  That's possible.
10     Q.  Would you turn back to the email.  I
11 believe the last line references a branded community
12 van parked on the Boston Common during the race; is
13 that correct?
14     A.  Yes, that's what the email says.
15     Q.  And do you know what a community van is?
16     A.  I don't know.
17     Q.  So you wouldn't know if it was in any way
18 connected to the National Grid gas business?
19     A.  I am not familiar with this -- with the van
20 in the email.
21     Q.  And do you know how much the van cost?
22     A.  I don't, no.
23     Q.  And do you know if it's a van that is owned
24 by National Grid, or is it somehow included in the
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1 $30,000 cost charged by the Boston Athletic
2 Association?
3     A.  I don't know.
4     Q.  If you'd turn back to AG-1-73, attachment.
5     A.  Okay.
6     Q.  Just about halfway down the spreadsheet
7 there's a vendor titled Interstate Rental Service,
8 with a description of Boston Marathon sponsorship.
9 Do you see that?

10     A.  I do, yes.
11     Q.  And that's for $714.  Yes?
12     A.  That's correct, yes.
13     Q.  And do you know what that's in reference
14 to?
15     A.  It says Boston Marathon sponsorship.  I'm
16 not familiar with additional details.
17     Q.  So you don't know what was rented from the
18 Interstate Rental Service for $714?
19     A.  I don't know that detail.
20     Q.  Now I'm going to turn back to the email
21 that we were previously discussing.  There is a line
22 that states that the sponsorship included Facebook
23 posts; is that correct?
24     A.  There is a line that says "FB posts."
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1     Q.  And there's a PNG file that states, "NG FB
2 Post 1-620."
3     A.  I see that.
4     Q.  That appears to be a draft of a Facebook
5 post?
6     A.  Yes.
7     Q.  Do you see that?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  And it states at the very top, "Throughout
10 this week we'll be sharing some tips powered by
11 National Grid to get you through the finish line at
12 Sunday's BAA 10-K."  Is that correct?
13     A.  Yes, that's correct.
14     Q.  And do you know what the purpose of this
15 advertisement is?
16     A.  Well, per the Facebook post, the purpose is
17 to alert users to the sharing of tips by National
18 Grid.
19     Q.  And do you know if it's connected in any
20 way to the National Grid gas business?
21     A.  I'm not familiar with the details of what
22 was provided.
23     Q.  And do you know if the Facebook post was
24 part of the overall $30,000 cost charged by the
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1 Boston Athletic Association?
2     A.  I don't know.
3     Q.  Will you turn back to AG-1-73 Attachment.
4 I'd like to turn to the line item here regarding the
5 Boston Red Sox vendor.  Do you see that?
6     A.  I do, yes.
7     Q.  And the spreadsheet states that this was a
8 sponsorship for a total cost of $48,750.  Is that
9 correct?
10     A.  Yes, that's what that line says.
11     Q.  And if we go now to the attachment,
12 AG-27-31-1, there is a Boston Red Sox folder,
13 017_Boston Red Sox.  And if you open that, there is
14 a PDF file inside that folder.  Do you see that?
15     A.  Yes.
16     Q.  And if you open that PDF file, this appears
17 to be a document that details what National Grid
18 received in return for the $48,750 spent on the
19 sponsorship.  Is that correct?
20     A.  The document provides a 2016 season in
21 review and discusses various events in that year.
22     Q.  Do you know what -- do you know what the
23 purpose of this document is?
24     A.  I'm not familiar with this document.
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1     Q.  Is there anyone who could speak to this
2 document?
3     A.  There may be.  I would need to check with
4 the company.
5     Q.  Are they here today?
6     A.  I don't know.  I would need to check.
7             MS. PIEPER:  It's about lunchtime.  Why
8 don't we take a lunch break, and you can check
9 during lunch and find out who's the right person to

10 answer these questions.  Let's go off the record.
11             (Recess for lunch.)
12             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
13 record.  I would remind the witness that you remain
14 sworn.  And the Attorney General may proceed.
15             MS. KIMBALL:  Madam Hearing Officer, one
16 thing:  We talked at lunch to try to figure out who
17 could help us with these questions.  There is
18 somebody at the company, but they're not available.
19 No one here can answer these questions.
20             So we'll do questions as long as you
21 want, but we're offering you, if you want a record
22 request -- those line items on AG-1-73 are in the
23 cost of service.  We can do as a record request
24 either every line or whatever lines you want to pick
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1 to correlate to the advertisement in AG-27-31 or
2 explain why it doesn't correlate and explain what
3 the use is for Boston Gas.  I'm not stopping the
4 questions.  I'm just offering as a matter of
5 administrative efficiency to do that, if you want.
6             Otherwise, we can proceed, if that's
7 what you want to do.
8             MS. PIEPER:  Would it be easier to bring
9 a witness who actually can answer the questions?
10             MS. KIMBALL:  Sure.  Whatever anybody
11 else wants.  Mr. Dane is not going to be able to
12 answer these questions, and nobody else in the room
13 can, either.
14             MS. PIEPER:  But there is a witness we
15 can swear in later this week?
16             MS. KIMBALL:  Later this week or
17 whatever.
18             MS. PIEPER:  Would that work?
19             MS. ANDERSON:  I'm available any other
20 day that we're meeting this week to ask these
21 questions of the appropriate witness.  That's fine.
22             MS. KIMBALL:  We'll work on finding the
23 day.  Thank you.
24             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.
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1             MS. ANDERSON:  If that's the case, I
2 don't believe the Attorney General has any further
3 questions to ask the witness today.  Our questions
4 are related to the advertising fees for today.
5 Subject to any recross --
6             MS. PIEPER:  He's here for the next two
7 weeks.
8             Do any of the other intervenors have any
9 questions?
10             MR. CARROLL:  Not at this time, no.
11             MS. PIEPER:  The Bench actually doesn't
12 have any questions for this witness, either.   I
13 guess we're actually done for the day.  So this
14 hearing is adjourned.  Let's go off the record.
15             (2:02 p.m.)
16
17             REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
18             I, Alan H. Brock, the officer before
19 whom the foregoing proceedings were taken, do
20 certify that this transcript is a true record of the
21 proceedings on May 1, 2018.
22
23             _______________________
24             Alan H. Brock, RDR, CRR
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1             May 2, 2018      9:58 a.m.
2                P R O C E E D I N G S
3             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go on the record.
4 This is the second day of evidentiary hearings in
5 Docket No. DPU 17-170, petition of Boston Gas
6 Company and Colonial Gas Company, each doing
7 business as National Grid, pursuant to General Laws
8 Chapter 164, Section 94, and 220 CMR 5.00, for
9 approval of general increases in base distribution

10 rates for gas service.
11             My name is Carol Pieper.  I'm the
12 hearing officer.  With me on the bench this morning
13 are Commissioners Robert Hayden and Cecile Fraser,
14 Rebecca Giden, Andrew Brengle and Jeff Hall, from
15 the Rates and Revenue Requirements Division.
16             You can present your first witness.  If
17 you can each state your name for the record.
18             WITNESS LLOYD:  Jeanne A. Lloyd.
19             WITNESS LEARY:  Ann E. Leary.
20          JEANNE A. LLOYD AND ANN E. LEARY,
21 being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
22 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
23 were examined and testified as follows:
24             MS. PIEPER:  You may proceed.
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1             MS. BLACKMORE:  Thank you.
2                 DIRECT EXAMINATION
3 BY MS. BLACKMORE:
4     Q.  Ms. Lloyd, by whom are you employed and in
5 what position?
6     A.  [LLOYD]  I'm a principal program manager
7 for National Grid.
8     Q.  And how long have you held this position?
9     A.  [LLOYD]  Approximately 28 years with

10 National Grid or predecessor.
11     Q.  And were you involved in the preparation of
12 this rate case?
13     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes, I was.
14     Q.  And as part of that preparation, did you
15 prepare prefiled direct testimony of the pricing
16 panel submitted to the Department on November 15th,
17 2017?
18     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes, I did.
19     Q.  With respect to your prefiled direct
20 testimony, which is marked for identification as
21 Exhibit NG-PP-1, was this exhibit prepared by you or
22 under your direct supervision and control?
23     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes.
24     Q.  And did you also prepare prefiled rebuttal
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1 testimony submitted to the Department on April 20th,
2 2018?
3     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes, I did.
4     Q.  With respect to your rebuttal testimony,
5 marked for identification as Exhibit
6 NG-PP-Rebuttal-1, was this exhibit prepared by you
7 or under your direct supervision and control?
8     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes.
9     Q.  Do you have any changes, corrections,
10 deletions, or additions that you wish to make to
11 your prefiled direct testimony or to your rebuttal
12 testimony at this time?
13     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes, I do.  We have a few
14 corrections that we've identified.  Some of these --
15 these are corrections actually to the exhibits that
16 accompany the testimony.  And some of them we've
17 already identified in discovery, and some of them we
18 found in the past few days or weeks in doing
19 preparation for the hearing.
20             So all of these we're proposing to make
21 in the compliance filing, and I'd like to just kind
22 of briefly list them at a high level, so that it's
23 on the record exactly what we'll be changing.
24             So the corrections that we've identified
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1 in discovery were specifically in DPU-NG-8-5, which
2 were changes to the tariff language and are
3 identified in that response.  Also DPU-NG-8-10,
4 again, proposed changes to the GSRP tariff, which is
5 again identified in the response.
6             In addition, in DPU-NG-8-17 we
7 identified some errors in our rate design schedules,
8 which we submitted corrections in that response.
9 And again, all of that will be corrected in our
10 compliance filing.
11             In addition, in preparation for the
12 hearing, we discovered some errors in the allocated-
13 cost-of-service study.  All of these are within that
14 study, and they all affect Boston's and Colonial's
15 schedules equally.  So what I'd like to do at a high
16 level is explain what they are; and if you would
17 like us to submit a specific schedule that
18 identifies the specific schedule and reference
19 within each exhibit, we can do that.
20             Obviously, when something affects an
21 allocation factor, it flows through every number in
22 the study, so all the numbers would be changing as a
23 result of these.  However, we did do an analysis,
24 and we believe that the result on the allocated
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1 study is very minimal as a result of all of these
2 changes; so I'll just explain what each of them are.
3             We identified two errors in allocation
4 factors.  One of them appears in Schedule NG-PP-4B,
5 again, Boston and Colonial, Pages 13 and 14,
6 which -- and 4B is our functionalization of
7 production and storage and delivery costs.  This
8 error was in the labor expense.  We did not pick up
9 all of the test year labor expenses to calculate the

10 labor allocator.  So that factor was incorrect.
11             The other error in the allocation factor
12 was in the proportional-responsibility allocator.
13 This appears in Schedules NG-PP-5-C and 5-D, which
14 are both schedules that list our allocators.  And
15 the error in that factor was in the monthly
16 weightings that affected the final calculation of
17 the allocator.
18             We also identified an error in Schedule
19 NG-PP-4C, which is the schedule that classifies
20 delivery costs between customer demand and
21 commodity.  On Page 6 of that study the customer
22 deposits cost should be allocated 100 percent to the
23 customer function.  In the original study it was
24 classified on plant.  So that's a correction.
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1             And the final change affects Schedule
2 PP-4C, which is the same one as before, and
3 Schedules PP-4E and F, which are the schedules that
4 allocated demand-related costs and customer-related
5 costs, respectively, to the classes.
6             In those schedules FERC Account 850,
7 which is operations expense, supervision, and
8 engineering, should be allocated on operations labor
9 expense.  It's currently allocated on operations

10 maintenance labor expense -- I'm sorry, maintenance
11 labor expense.  So again, that will be corrected.
12             And again, if you'd like us to turn in a
13 schedule that has the specific schedule references
14 and page references, line items, we can do that.
15             MS. PIEPER:  Just to confirm, when you
16 say a compliance filing, you're talking about the
17 compliance filing after we issue the order?
18             WITNESS LLOYD:  That was what we
19 anticipated.  As I said, all of these corrections
20 had a very minimal effect on the -- for example, for
21 the residential heating class, the changes amounted
22 to about $200,000, which is about .06 percent.
23             MS. PIEPER:  We would definitely like it
24 before we issue the order.  So should we issue it as
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1 a record request, or is it something you could file
2 as a supplemental?
3             MS. KIMBALL:  I think what the concern
4 is, once you do the reallocation -- like it's a
5 whole big process to do.  So I think the company
6 just wants to do it when there's as much that can be
7 rolled in as possible.
8             So if you wanted like maybe at the end
9 of hearings, like after hearings, we can give you

10 the updated revenue requirement, updated rate case
11 cost, and then do it at that time.
12             MR. ROGERS:  I'd like it done within the
13 next week, because it doesn't do me any good to get
14 it at the end of May.
15             MS. KIMBALL:  I hear you.  How long will
16 it take you?
17             WITNESS LLOYD:  No, I think we can do
18 it.  I just want to say that, although it affects
19 the allocated study, it would not affect the revenue
20 allocation or the rates that were filed in this
21 case.  So it will only affect the results of the
22 allocated-cost-of-service study.
23             MS. KIMBALL:  So can we do it within a
24 week if we don't change anything except for those
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1 corrections?
2             WITNESS LLOYD:  As long as we use the
3 costs that were originally filed.
4             MS. KIMBALL:  Can we do that?
5             MR. ROGERS:  Sure.
6             MS. PIEPER:  We'll issue it as a record
7 request, just for clarity on the record.  It's going
8 to be Record Request DPU-1.
9             MR. ROGERS:  Just to clarify:  What

10 revenue requirement would you use?  It keeps moving.
11             MS. KIMBALL:  I guess I was thinking, if
12 you did it on the one we filed, which is how the
13 cost-allocation study was done to begin with, that
14 would have two benefits:  you can get it done
15 quicker, and then it would isolate what the impact
16 is of these changes.
17             WITNESS LLOYD:  That's what I was
18 thinking as well.  That's why I was proposing doing
19 it on the original --
20             MS. KIMBALL:  They have to run it on a
21 whole new revenue requirement.  That's the thing
22 that takes a long time.
23             MS. PIEPER:  I think the Department
24 would like it on the original request.
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1             MR. ROGERS:  And then we'll have to do
2 it again at the end?
3             MS. KIMBALL:  Absolutely.
4             MS. PIEPER:  That way we can see the
5 difference between.
6             Can you clarify exactly what it's going
7 to be?
8             MS. GIDEN:  You mentioned that the
9 record-request response would detail the corrections

10 to the allocated-cost-of-service study that you
11 identified, including the schedule and line
12 reference numbers?
13             WITNESS LLOYD:  Yes.
14             MS. PIEPER:  It's going to be Record
15 Request DPU-1.
16             (Record Request DPU-1.)
17     Q.  Ms. Lloyd, have you also seen information
18 requests propounded by the Department, the Attorney
19 General, and other intervenors in this case?
20     A.  [LLOYD]  I have.
21     Q.  And have you sponsored any responses to a
22 number of those information requests?
23     A.  [LLOYD]  Along with the pricing panel, I
24 have.
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1     Q.  Were those responses prepared by you or
2 under your direct supervision and control?
3     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes.
4     Q.  At this time do you have any changes,
5 corrections, deletions, or additions that you would
6 like to make to any of the information-request
7 responses that you've sponsored in this proceeding?
8     A.  [LLOYD]  Other than the ones that I just
9 highlighted, no.

10     Q.  I'll turn to Ms. Leary.  Ms. Leary, by whom
11 are you employed and in what position?
12     A.  [LEARY]  I'm employed by National Grid
13 Service Company, and I am the manager of New England
14 gas pricing.
15     Q.  And how long have you held that position?
16     A.  [LEARY]  Approximately 33 years.
17     Q.  Were you involved in the preparation of
18 this rate case?
19     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I was.
20     Q.  And as part of that preparation did you
21 also prepare the prefiled direct testimony marked
22 for identification as Exhibit NG-PP-1 and the
23 rebuttal testimony marked for identification as
24 Exhibit NG-PP-Rebuttal-1?
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1     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I did.
2     Q.  Were these exhibits prepared by you or
3 under your direct supervision and control?
4     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, they were.
5     Q.  And aside from the updates noted by
6 Ms. Lloyd, do you have any changes, corrections,
7 deletions, or additions that you wish to make to
8 your prefiled direct testimony or to your rebuttal
9 testimony at this time?
10     A.  [LEARY]  Not at this time.
11     Q.  Have you also seen information requests
12 propounded by the Department and the Attorney
13 General and other intervenors in this case?
14     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I have.
15     Q.  And have you sponsored responses to a
16 number of those information requests?
17     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I have.
18     Q.  Were those responses prepared by you or
19 under your direct supervision and control?
20     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, they were.
21     Q.  At this time do you have any changes,
22 corrections, deletions, or additions that you would
23 like to make to any of the information-request
24 responses that you've sponsored in this proceeding?
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1     A.  [LEARY]  Not at this time.
2             MS. BLACKMORE:  The witnesses are
3 available for cross-examination.
4             MS. PIEPER:  Before we continue with
5 cross, can you just explain, so it's on the record,
6 the absence of Mr. Feeney?
7             MS. BLACKMORE:  Yes.  Mr. Feeney is on a
8 leave of absence for six months, and Ms. Lloyd and
9 Ms. Leary can cover all of the information that he

10 was responsible for in this proceeding.
11             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you very much.  You
12 may proceed.
13                  CROSS-EXAMINATION
14 BY MS. GAGNON:
15     Q.  Good morning.  My name is Ashley Gagnon.
16 I'm an Assistant Attorney General with the
17 Massachusetts Attorney General's Office, and I have
18 a few questions regarding the pricing panel's
19 testimony and discovery responses this morning.
20             First I have some questions regarding
21 the company's rate design proposals.  Ms. Leary,
22 I'll be directing these questions at you, and if you
23 believe that I should direct them to Ms. Lloyd,
24 please let me know and I will do so.  Okay?
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1     A.  [LEARY]  Okay.
2     Q.  Can you please turn to Page 3 of the
3 panel's rebuttal testimony, NG-PP-Rebuttal-1.
4     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I'm there.  Page 3?
5     Q.  Yes, Page 3.  Specifically, Lines 13
6 through 21.
7     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
8     Q.  Here in your testimony you indicate that
9 one of the factors you considered in your

10 residential rate design was the results of the
11 allocated-cost-of-service study in this case;
12 correct?
13     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
14     Q.  And another factor that you indicate that
15 you considered, according to your testimony, are the
16 bill impacts; is that correct?
17     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
18     Q.  Before we get into details:  Is it true
19 that under your original filing you proposed to
20 increase distribution revenues for Boston Gas Rates
21 R-1 and R-2, the nonheating residential classes, by
22 23.9 percent?
23     A.  [LEARY]  One second.
24             According to our bill impacts, looking
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1 at Exhibit NG-PP-8A, on day one, the residential
2 nonheating and the residential nonheating low-income
3 customers, there would be a range of bill impacts,
4 depending on their usage.  It would vary anywhere,
5 for the residential nonheating customer class, it
6 would be in the range of 14 to 24 percent, and for
7 the low-income residential nonheating on day one
8 would be 14 to 24 percent.
9             If we looked at Exhibit NG-PP-8-B, which
10 is what we classify as our in-state bill impacts,
11 based on our initial filing, the bill impacts on our
12 in-state for residential nonheating would range from
13 7 to 23 percent, and for the low-income would range
14 from 6 to 22 percent, depending on their usage.
15     Q.  Can you please turn to Exhibit
16 NG-PP-6B-BOS.
17     A.  [LEARY]  Excuse me, which page on 6B did
18 you say?
19     Q.  Page 1.  And if you look at Line 22, under
20 the residential nonheat R-1/R-2 column, it indicates
21 a base revenue increase on test year base revenue of
22 23.9 percent; is that correct?
23     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
24     Q.  And you propose increasing the customer
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1 charge for those customers by 25 percent, from $8 to
2 $10 per month; correct?
3     A.  [LEARY]  Correct.
4     Q.  So the original proposed increase in the
5 nonheating customer charge is by approximately the
6 same amount as the overall class increase; correct?
7     A.  [LEARY]  For the low-use -- for the
8 customers that have a low usage in the residential
9 nonheating rate class, correct.
10     Q.  For heating customers in Boston Gas Rates
11 R-3 and R-4, as shown in Exhibit NG-PP-6B, Page 1,
12 again Line 22, you propose to increase distribution
13 revenues by 37.28 percent; correct?
14     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
15     Q.  And you also propose to increase the
16 customer charge for these customers by 20 percent,
17 from $10 to $12 per month.
18     A.  [LEARY]  Correct.
19     Q.  So for these heating customers, you propose
20 a customer charge increase less than the overall
21 increase for the class.
22     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
23     Q.  Can you please turn to Exhibit
24 NG-PP-8B-BOS, Page 1.  This Page 1 includes a
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1 summary of the bill impacts for Rate R-1 nonheating
2 customers who do not qualify for the low-income
3 discount; correct?
4     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
5     Q.  And if you look at Lines 14 through 22, we
6 can agree that this shows annual bill impacts for a
7 pretty wide range of customers, from the lowest 10
8 percent of users to the highest 10 percent of users
9 within the class.  Correct?

10     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
11     Q.  And if we look at the very last column,
12 Column P, it shows that the lowest users would see
13 the highest percentage increases, and as you use
14 more gas, the percentage increase declines; correct?
15     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
16     Q.  So the lowest 10 percent of users of the
17 company's Rate R-1 customers would see their bills
18 go up by 23 percent annually, but the highest users
19 in the class would see bills increase by only 7
20 percent annually; correct?
21     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
22     Q.  And as we discussed earlier, one of the
23 factors that you said you considered in your
24 residential rate design was bill impacts; correct?
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1     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
2     Q.  Are these the bill impacts that you
3 considered in making your proposal for this class of
4 customers?
5     A.  [LEARY]  I think that we looked at both the
6 residential heating and the residential nonheating
7 when we were considering the range of the bill
8 impacts in terms of capping the overall customer
9 charge increase at the 25 percent.

10     Q.  Now, staying with this exhibit:  Columns
11 L&M have dollar changes between present and proposed
12 rates.  Do you see that?
13     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I do.
14     Q.  And Column L shows the distribution or base
15 rate charge?
16     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
17     Q.  And Column L -- I'm sorry, and Column M is
18 the LDAF change; correct?
19     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
20     Q.  If you could please look at Row 14 for the
21 lowest users in the R-1 class.  This shows that
22 their base charge is increasing by $25.90 per year
23 but the LDAF is decreasing by only about $1 per
24 year.  Do you see that?

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

RIPUC Docket No. 4770
Attachment DIV 7-49-261

Page 6 of 29

148



 DPU 17-170 - National Grid - Vol. 2 - 5/2/2018

FARMER ARSENAULT BROCK LLC

7

133

1     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
2     Q.  And is that because the LDAF is collected
3 on a per-therm basis but for this class a
4 significant portion of the base rate increase is
5 being collected on a per-customer basis?
6     A.  [LEARY]  The LDAF is collected on a
7 per-therm basis, and as you can see, for this
8 analysis that you're looking at, with these
9 customers only using on an annual basis 7 therms per

10 year, so that's why their LDAF decrease is so low.
11     Q.  So is the answer yes?
12     A.  [LEARY]  It would be based on a
13 per-customer -- the increase, because the customer
14 charge did increase.
15     Q.  So the lowest-using customers in this class
16 pay $24 per year and a higher customer charge, at $2
17 per month, plus $1.90 in higher per-therm base
18 charges and receive only a $1.02 offset in lower
19 per-therm charges from the LDAF changes; correct?
20     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
21     Q.  And in contrast, the highest users on Line
22 22 would pay $24 in higher customer charges per
23 year, about $58 in higher per-therm base charges,
24 but would receive a $41 reduction in their LDAF
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1 per-therm charges; correct?
2     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.  But their
3 overall increase is significantly higher.  They're
4 getting a $41 increase versus a $34 increase.
5     Q.  Ms. Leary, even though the highest-using
6 customers in this class use about 40 times as much
7 gas than the lowest-using customers, their charges
8 don't increase even twice as much as the charges
9 paid by the lowest-use customers; correct?
10     A.  [LEARY]  Can you repeat that one more time?
11     Q.  Yes.  So if you look at Column O, even
12 though the highest-using customers use about 40
13 times as much gas than the lowest-using customers,
14 304 therms versus 7 therms, illustrated in Column C,
15 their charges don't even increase twice as much as
16 the charges paid by the lowest users; correct?
17     A.  [LEARY]  Well, that is correct.  But we're
18 also at the same time trying to capture the fact
19 that there is a minimum for a cost-of-service
20 customer, regardless of the therms that they use.
21 So there is -- we are trying to collect through that
22 customer charge some of those fixed customer costs
23 that we incur regardless of the volumetric usage.
24     Q.  Just so I'm clear, this proposal is
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1 occurring under your original proposal, where the
2 customer charge increased by approximately the same
3 percentage as the overall class distribution revenue
4 increase.
5     A.  [LEARY]  Correct.
6     Q.  Now if we can look at the changes in the
7 LDAF charges.  If you could turn to Workpaper
8 NG-PP-8B.
9     A.  [LEARY]  Excuse me, which page did you say?

10     Q.  Page 1.
11     A.  [LEARY]  Okay.
12     Q.  Are you there?
13     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
14     Q.  Am I correct that for residential customers
15 in Column A there are three items that are changing:
16 Lines 9 and 23, which are the pension and PBOP
17 costs; Lines 11 and 25, which represent the targeted
18 infrastructure costs; and Lines 12 and 26, which
19 reference the gas system enhancement costs?
20     A.  [LEARY]  Just one second.  I just want to
21 double-check.
22             Excuse me, I just want to make sure I
23 had the right page number.
24     Q.  Workpaper NG-PP-8B-BOS.
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1     A.  [LEARY]  I'm sorry.  I was on the wrong
2 page.  I apologize.
3             Yes, I agree.
4     Q.  Let's start with the pension and PBOP
5 costs.  These costs are proposed to decrease about a
6 half cent per therm; correct?
7     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
8     Q.  And does that half-cent reduction represent
9 cost savings, or is that amount being rolled into

10 base distribution rates?
11     A.  [LEARY]  We are excluding all pension costs
12 on our base distribution rates and recovering all of
13 our pension costs through our LDAF factor.
14     Q.  So is your answer no?  Yes or no; I'm
15 sorry.
16     A.  [LEARY]  Rephrase the question.
17     Q.  Whether the half-cent reduction represents
18 cost savings or whether the amount was being rolled
19 into base distribution rates.
20     A.  [LEARY]  Cost savings, a reduction in
21 costs.
22     Q.  Can you please turn to Exhibit
23 NG-PP-4C-BOS.
24     A.  [LEARY]  Excuse me, what page?
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1     Q.  Page 9 of 14.  If you can look at Line 233,
2 Column D.  This indicates that 73.06 percent of
3 pension and benefits costs are being allocated to
4 the customer cost function; correct?
5     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, it does.
6     Q.  Right now LDAF pension costs are being
7 collected from residential customers on a per-therm
8 basis; is that correct?
9     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.

10     Q.  Can we look at the change in the target
11 infrastructure costs -- again, back at Workpaper
12 NG-PP-8B-BOS.
13     A.  [LEARY]  You said Page 1?
14     Q.  Yes, Page 1.  If we can look at the
15 targeted infrastructure costs.
16     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
17     Q.  These costs decrease from about 8.6 cents
18 per therm down to zero; correct?
19     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
20     Q.  And are all of those costs being rolled
21 into base rates?
22     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
23     Q.  And are a portion of those costs for
24 service line replacements?
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1     A.  [LEARY]  I'm not familiar with the details
2 of the TIRF program.  I think they are, but subject
3 to check.  I'd need to confirm.
4     Q.  But subject to check?
5     A.  [LEARY]  Subject to check on that, to
6 confirm that.
7     Q.  They would include service line
8 replacements?
9     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
10     Q.  And those service line replacement costs
11 are allocated entirely to the customer function in
12 the cost-of-service study; correct?  And if you need
13 to reference, NG-PP-4C-BOS, Page 3, Line 78.
14     A.  [LLOYD]  I would say, it's just the costs
15 that are booked to services that are allocated 100
16 percent to the customer function.
17     Q.  Okay.  So Ms. Leary, would you say that
18 this is an example where some costs that are
19 currently collected from residential customers
20 through a per-therm charge are being rolled into
21 base rates, thus a portion of them are becoming
22 customer-related costs?
23     A.  [LEARY]  Again, the purpose of this study
24 was to identify the total customer-related costs
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1 that the company would charge had we gone to 100
2 percent of our recovery of the customer-related
3 costs.  The actual customer charges that we're
4 proposing are significantly less than what the
5 average customer charge resulted from this study.
6     Q.  But according to the study, is that
7 statement correct?
8     A.  [LEARY]  According to the study, but the
9 study -- the results of the study is not the
10 customer charge that we're proposing in this rate
11 case for the rate designs that you were reviewing.
12     Q.  If we could look at the last category of
13 changes in the LDAF, the gas system enhancement
14 costs, Workpaper NG-PP-8B-BOS.  This cost decreases
15 by about 4.5 cents per therm; correct?
16     A.  [LEARY]  Correct.
17     Q.  And a portion of these costs are also
18 associated with service line replacements?
19     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct, a portion of it.
20     Q.  And again, as we just covered, those
21 service line costs are allocated solely to the
22 customer function in the cost study; correct?
23     A.  [LEARY]  Well, as we said, I mean, those
24 are all of service costs, all plant-related service
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1 costs, which would include some of the GSEP and TIRF
2 costs that you've identified, correct.
3     Q.  Ms. Leary, in your rebuttal testimony on
4 Page 4 you have a table that compares customer costs
5 in the cost study to the current customer charge.
6 Do you see that?
7     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I do.
8     Q.  Did you attempt to determine how much of
9 that per-unit customer cost in the cost study is

10 associated with moving some cost from the LDAF, a
11 per-therm charge, to the cost study, where some of
12 the cost get turned into a customer cost?
13     A.  [LEARY]  No, we did not.
14     Q.  And we can agree that the bill impacts for
15 Rates R-1 show that increasing the customer charge
16 by approximately the same percentage as the overall
17 class distribution revenue increase still results in
18 the largest bill impacts occurring on those
19 customers who use the least amount of gas?
20     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
21     Q.  So the more gas a customer uses, the lower
22 percentage change in their bill; correct?
23     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
24     Q.  And part of that reason is for the cost of
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1 gas; would you agree with that?
2     A.  [LEARY]  I would say part of it is because,
3 you're right, the cost of gas; but also because
4 you're taking a fixed cost, which is your customer
5 charge, and you're spreading it over more volumes,
6 and so a larger bill.  So it reduces the percentage
7 overall increase.
8     Q.  And would you agree that another cause of
9 that disparity would be rolling some LDAF costs into

10 base rates, where they're turned into customer-
11 related costs?
12     A.  [LEARY]  Again, I would caution you:  We
13 are well below -- the customer charge that we're
14 proposing is well below the average customer cost
15 resulting from our cost-allocation study.  So I
16 would not characterize it as moving our LDAF-related
17 recovery of our GSEP and our TIRF costs from the
18 volumetric charge into a per-customer charge.
19     Q.  Ms. Leary, in your testimony, when you talk
20 about considering customer bill impacts, you
21 evaluated them under proposed rates as you
22 originally filed them; correct?
23     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
24     Q.  And that's what we discussed earlier in
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1 Exhibit NG-PP-8B-BOS?
2     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
3     Q.  The pricing panel did not present a similar
4 bill impact analysis as part of the rebuttal
5 testimony based on the revenue requirement that the
6 company currently proposes; correct?
7     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
8     Q.  So the only residential bill impact
9 analysis you prepared was prepared under the
10 original proposal, where the nonheating customer
11 charge increased by about the class average
12 distribution revenue and the heating customer charge
13 increased significantly less than the class average
14 distribution revenue increase; correct?
15     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
16     Q.  And the company hasn't presented a bill
17 impact analysis where the customer charge increases
18 by a significantly greater percentage than the class
19 average; correct?
20     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
21     Q.  If I can turn your attention one more time
22 to Exhibit NG-PP-8B-BOS.
23     A.  [LEARY]  8B, Page?
24     Q.  Page 1.  And this, as we discussed earlier,
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1 is where we see a 23 percent increase for the
2 lowest-use customers and a 7 percent increase for
3 the highest-use customers; correct?
4     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
5     Q.  And we can agree that, as a matter of
6 arithmetic, the customer charge is increased by a
7 significantly larger percentage than the overall
8 class distribution revenue increase, this disparity,
9 the --

10             We can agree that, as a matter of
11 arithmetic, if the customer charge increased by a
12 significantly larger percentage than the overall
13 class distribution revenue increase, the disparity
14 that we see here between 23 percent and 7 percent
15 would have to be even larger?
16     A.  [LEARY]  It most likely would be larger,
17 but we'd have to see the impact -- as a result of
18 increasing the customer charge, we would have to see
19 the impact on the reduction in the volumetric rate
20 of the distribution component.
21     Q.  But you have no reason to believe that it
22 wouldn't be larger?
23     A.  [LEARY]  I do think that at the level --
24 the 10 percent percentile level with 7 therms, it
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1 would increase the customer charge, I do agree the
2 percentage would be higher.
3     Q.  Ms. Leary, I have some questions for you
4 now regarding some of the tariff changes that the
5 company is proposing.  The company in this case is
6 proposing new reconciling charges; is that correct?
7     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
8     Q.  Ms. Leary, were you here yesterday for the
9 Attorney General's cross-examination of the

10 company's president, Ms. Reed?
11     A.  [LEARY]  No, I was not.
12     Q.  Would you accept subject to check that
13 there were questions put to her regarding the
14 company's many reconciling mechanisms?
15     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
16     Q.  And would you accept subject to check that
17 the company currently has 11 reconciling mechanisms?
18     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
19     Q.  And Ms. Reed agreed that the company is
20 proposing four new reconciling mechanisms, including
21 the new gas safety and reliability program cost
22 allowance mechanism; is that correct?
23     A.  [LEARY]  We're proposing the gas safety
24 reliability, the exogenous cost.  The other two
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1 were?
2     Q.  Hardship accounts cost recovery, and the
3 gas business enablement?
4     A.  [LEARY]  Both of those mechanisms are not
5 new recovery mechanisms.  The hardship account is,
6 we are just including in an existing -- we're making
7 a change to our existing reconciling mechanism for
8 our residential assistance adjustment factor, which
9 is part of our LDAF.  We're including a provision

10 that will allow us to compare the -- to actually see
11 if any of the hardship accounts that we're
12 reflecting in our distribution revenue or proposing
13 to reflect in our distribution revenue, that the
14 customers actually, you know, pay on those accounts.
15 And in that case we'd be looking to reduce -- refund
16 that amount to the customers through our RAAF, which
17 is our residential assistance adjustment factor.
18             So it's not a new factor; it's just an
19 additional provision in the existing reconciling
20 mechanism, to make sure that we don't double-recover
21 the costs from customers.
22     Q.  Ms. Leary, the gas safety and reliability
23 program cost allowance mechanism is a capital
24 tracker mechanism; is that correct?
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1     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
2     Q.  And it will become a component of the local
3 distribution adjustment clause; correct?
4     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
5     Q.  The gas safety and reliability factor
6 formula is actually made up of two separate capital
7 components -- one for liquid natural gas plant
8 investments and one for non-LNG plant investments.
9 Is that correct?

10     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
11     Q.  Would you please explain why it is
12 necessary to have two separate capital tracker
13 formulas for the GSR additions.
14     A.  [LEARY]  We're going to actually, from a
15 ratemaking perspective, we're going to be treating
16 the revenue requirement or the costs associated with
17 the LNG-related capital investments differently.
18 What we're going to be doing is, on the LNG-related
19 costs, we want to try to mirror how those costs will
20 eventually be recovered from our customers when they
21 become part of base rates.
22             So what happens right now is, every time
23 we have a rate case proceeding, part of the
24 proceeding is we'll include a reduction in storage
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1 costs.  We'll identify all of our production and
2 storage costs that are needed for supply purposes.
3 We will extract those from our distribution rates,
4 and we'll propose to recover them through our
5 commodity factor or our gas adjustment factor, or
6 our GAF.
7             When we recover those costs through our
8 GAF right now, those are recovered over the peak
9 period only, which would be the period November

10 through April, and they're recovered from customers
11 on a volumetric basis.
12             So we wanted to in this mechanism mirror
13 how those costs would eventually be recovered from
14 customers, so we modeled the tariff to mirror how
15 those costs will eventually be recovered when we
16 move them to our commodity factor.
17     Q.  Ms. Leary, the company has in effect two
18 other capital trackers in the TIRF and GSEP capital
19 trackers; is that correct?
20     A.  [LEARY]  We currently have a TIRF and a
21 GSEP capital tracker, but eventually, as of November
22 2019, our TIRF factor will be eliminated except for
23 any prior-period reconciliation.
24     Q.  And just for the record, what do the

148

1 acronyms TIRF and GSEP stand for?
2     A.  [LEARY]  TIRF is our targeted
3 infrastructure recovery factor, and our GSEP is our
4 gas system enhancement factor.
5     Q.  And besides those four capital trackers,
6 the company recovers the costs of the bulk of its
7 plant investments through the base rates for the
8 distribution service that it charges customers; is
9 that correct?

10     A.  [LEARY]  And the only portion of the, I
11 would say, plant investment costs that are
12 LNG-related are recovered through our commodity
13 factor.
14     Q.  And subject to check from yesterday's --
15 and from yesterday's testimony, subject to check, we
16 know that the company will have 11 other cost
17 reconciliation mechanisms separate from those four
18 capital trackers; correct?
19     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
20     Q.  And given all of the reconciliation
21 mechanisms and all of the different capital
22 trackers, how is the Department supposed to
23 determine whether rates being charged customers as a
24 whole are just and reasonable?
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1     A.  [LEARY]  Well, I mean, the Department will
2 review every reconciling mechanism that we propose
3 and will actually approve the recovery of those
4 reconciling factors, and through the rate case, the
5 Department is reviewing and scrutinizing and
6 eventually approving our distribution or our
7 delivery rates.
8     Q.  So the Department will have to look at each
9 individual piece in a silo; is that correct?

10     A.  [LEARY]  For many of the reconciling
11 mechanisms, we include them in our LDAF filing, our
12 local distribution adjustment factor filing, and the
13 Department reviews them at that point in time.  But
14 for other mechanisms, even if they are included in
15 our LDAF filing, we do provide a separate filing --
16 for instance, our gas system enhancement filing
17 factor, but we provide that with a six-month lead
18 time to the Department for their review.
19     Q.  Okay, Ms. Lloyd, these questions are for
20 you.  You testified in National Grid's Massachusetts
21 Electric Company base rate case in DPU 15-155; is
22 that correct?
23     A.  [LLOYD]  Correct.
24     Q.  And in that case you testified as part of
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1 the pricing panel; correct?
2     A.  [LLOYD]  Correct.
3     Q.  And in that case the company proposed the
4 continuation of a capital tracker for plant
5 investment; correct?
6     A.  [LLOYD]  Correct.
7     Q.  The capital tracker that Massachusetts
8 Electric Company uses has a depreciation expense
9 net-out test; is that correct?

10     A.  [LLOYD]  I believe that's the case, but I
11 would have to check.  The revenue requirements
12 witness may be more familiar with that tariff.  But
13 subject to check, yes.
14     Q.  Could you explain for the record
15 mechanically how that depreciation test works?
16     A.  [LLOYD]  No, I really can't.  I'm not that
17 familiar with the capital tracker.
18     Q.  Who would know?
19     A.  [LLOYD]  I would ask the revenue
20 requirements witness to explain that.
21     Q.  Mr. Dane wasn't on the panel in this case;
22 correct?
23     A.  [LLOYD]  No, he wasn't.
24             MS. KIMBALL:  Sorry, if I could just --
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1 I think the appropriate witness would probably be a
2 company witness, not the revenue requirement witness
3 in this case.  And I think Mr. Tufts is in the room,
4 and he could probably answer the question.
5             MS. GAGNON:  Could he be sworn in?
6             MS. KIMBALL:  Sure.  If that helps.
7             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go off the record for
8 a minute.
9             (Discussion off the record.)
10             MS. PIEPER:  Back on the record.  If you
11 could state your full name for the record.
12             WITNESS TUFTS:  David E. Tufts.
13                   DAVID E. TUFTS,
14 being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
15 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
16 was examined and testified as follows:
17             MS. KIMBALL:  We'll just proceed.  We'll
18 do direct later if we need to.  I think what he's
19 testifying to is not -- I think he can answer it
20 without going through the administrative process of
21 direct.
22  JEANNE A. LLOYD, ANN E. LEARY, AND DAVID E. TUFTS,
23 being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
24 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
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1 were examined and testified as follows:
2                  CROSS-EXAMINATION
3 BY MS. GAGNON:
4     Q.  Good morning, Mr. Tufts.  Can you please
5 provide us with your title, duty, and
6 responsibilities.
7     A.  [TUFTS]  I am the revenue requirement
8 director for New England.
9     Q.  And can you please tell us your duties?

10     A.  [TUFTS]  I am responsible for the revenue
11 requirements of the Massachusetts subsidiaries of
12 National Grid.
13     Q.  Both gas and electric?
14     A.  [TUFTS]  Both gas and electric.
15     Q.  Did you testify in National Grid's
16 Massachusetts Electric Company base rate case in DPU
17 15-155?
18     A.  [TUFTS]  No, I did not.
19     Q.  Are you familiar with -- are you familiar
20 with the fact that in that case the company proposed
21 a continuation of a capital tracker for plant
22 investment?
23     A.  [TUFTS]  Yes, I am.
24     Q.  And the capital tracker that Massachusetts
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1 Electric Company -- I apologize.  In that case the
2 company proposed -- I'm sorry.
3             The capital tracker that Massachusetts
4 Electric Company uses has a depreciation expense
5 net-out test; is that correct?
6     A.  [TUFTS]  That is correct.
7     Q.  And could you explain for the record
8 mechanically how that depreciation test works?
9     A.  [TUFTS]  Well, when we're coming up with
10 the new net investment to be included each year in
11 the capital tracker, depreciation is excluded -- the
12 depreciation offset is included to reduce the amount
13 of additional capital that we're adding to the
14 capital tracker each year.
15     Q.  And why does the company net out
16 depreciation expense for the electric company
17 capital tracker?
18     A.  [TUFTS]  Because we're recovering a certain
19 level of depreciation in our base rates.
20     Q.  And you want to ensure that you're only
21 recovering the incremental amount through the
22 capital tracker; is that correct?
23     A.  [TUFTS]  Correct.
24     Q.  Are there any other cost tests or
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1 adjustments that the electric company makes to its
2 capital tracker cost recovery relative to base rates
3 being charged for electric service?
4     A.  [TUFTS]  I'm not sure, off the top of my
5 head.
6     Q.  Are you familiar with an overheads test?
7     A.  [TUFTS]  Yes, I am.
8     Q.  Does Massachusetts Electric Company have an
9 overheads test for its capital tracker?

10     A.  [TUFTS]  I'm not sure that I know that.
11 The gas capital tracker does.
12     Q.  Does Massachusetts Electric Company have an
13 overheads test for its capital tracker?
14     A.  [TUFTS]  I'd have to check, but I do know
15 that the gas company's tracker does.
16     Q.  We would like to make a record request for
17 that information.
18             MS. PIEPER:  Is that something that you
19 could check on break and get back to us?
20             WITNESS TUFTS:  Yes, we could do that.
21             MS. PIEPER:  Is that all right?
22             MR. ROGERS:  Yes.
23     Q.  Mr. Tufts, you just testified that the
24 company's gas-side capital tracker does have an
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1 overhead/burdens test; correct?
2     A.  [TUFTS]  Yes.
3     Q.  Is that true for both the TIRF and GSEP
4 capital tracker?
5     A.  [TUFTS]  There is a test.  There is one
6 test for the entire burdens/overhead test, whether
7 you do it in the GSEP or the TIRF.  The test would
8 be to make sure we're not overrecovering --
9 recovering in base rates more than what we're

10 actually incurring in overhead costs during the
11 year.
12     Q.  The GSEP and TIRF are two separate
13 trackers; correct?
14     A.  [TUFTS]  They are, but the overhead test is
15 a company total test of overheads.
16     Q.  Ms. Lloyd, earlier we discussed the capital
17 tracker formulas presented in this case.  Do any of
18 them have an overheads test?
19     A.  [LLOYD]  Is that different than the
20 question that you just --
21     Q.  Yes.
22     A.  [LLOYD]  I'm sorry, repeat it, then.
23     Q.  Whether any of the capital tracker formulas
24 included in this case have an overheads test
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1 included.
2     A.  [LLOYD]  In this case.
3     Q.  Yes.
4     A.  [LLOYD]  No.
5     Q.  And do any of these capital tracker
6 formulas have a depreciation expense net-out
7 component?
8     A.  [LLOYD]  No.
9     Q.  Ms. Lloyd, could you please turn to your

10 proposed GSR program cost allowance tariff.  I
11 believe it's MDPU No. 3.9, Page 3, and the Bates
12 stamp is 163.
13     A.  [LLOYD]  These will be questions for Ms.
14 Leary.  You may want to address them to her -- or
15 Mr. Tufts.
16     A.  [LEARY]  Page 3 of 10, you said?
17     Q.  Yes.  So Ms. Lloyd, I'll continue directing
18 the question to you, and if someone else is the
19 proper person, just let me know.
20             So on this page, if we look at the
21 definition of LNG projects that you provide in the
22 tariff for the new GSR program cost recovery, it
23 reads, "LNG GSR projects consist of, but are not
24 limited to, GSR projects related to the following:

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

RIPUC Docket No. 4770
Attachment DIV 7-49-261

Page 12 of 29

154



 DPU 17-170 - National Grid - Vol. 2 - 5/2/2018

FARMER ARSENAULT BROCK LLC

13

157

1 reinforcement of the dike walls surrounding the
2 company's LNG tanks and modernization and
3 reinforcement of the company's LNG facilities,
4 including, but not limited to, installation of
5 vaporization equipment, automatic emergency shutdown
6 systems, high expansion foam systems, water mains,
7 emergency generators, and/or boiloff gas line and
8 sendout relays."  Did I read that correctly?
9     A.  [TUFTS]  Yes.
10     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
11     Q.  Ms. Leary?
12     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
13     Q.  Now, under this definition, is there any
14 LNG plant addition that the company could make in
15 the future that would not fit under this definition?
16     A.  [LEARY]  I think that question would be
17 better answered by our gas safety reliability panel.
18             MS. KIMBALL:  So that panel will be able
19 to address any questions you have about the content
20 of the tariff.
21     Q.  So you have no opinion regarding what type
22 of plant could be included in this tracker.  Is that
23 your testimony?
24     A.  [LEARY]  Not except for the definition that
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1 we have in front of us, correct.
2     Q.  And that definition that I just read from
3 the tariff provides for the type of plant includable
4 in the LNG formula.  Again, there's a second formula
5 that provides for the recovery of the non-LNG
6 investment; is that correct?
7     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
8     Q.  And can you show us where in the tariff the
9 company proposes a definition of the non-LNG

10 investment?
11     A.  [LEARY]  I would say under Page 2 of 10, we
12 talk about the GSR projects consist of the following
13 three categories.  So exactly what it reads is, "The
14 GSR projects consist of the following three
15 categories of capital projects to include for safety
16 and reliability of Boston Gas and Colonial's
17 distribution systems:  one, liquefied natural gas,
18 or LNG, facilities; two, pipeline replacement; and
19 three, gas system reinforcement.  Included within
20 these categories are the following projects," and we
21 list them.  The projects are, one, LNG, and we list
22 the projects.  Two would be the pipeline
23 replacement.  That's where we list the mid-Cape main
24 replacement, the western segment replacement
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1 project, and the Tewksbury lateral replacement
2 project.
3             We then have Category 3, which is the
4 gas system reinforcement, and the subcategory
5 indicates it's location-specific reinforcement
6 projects.
7     Q.  So, then, again, exactly which investments
8 would be considered non-LNG investments, according
9 to that provision?
10     A.  [LEARY]  It would be Item No. 2 and Item
11 No. 3.
12     Q.  Ms. Leary, one of the definitions of the
13 gas safety and reliability projects is the gas
14 system reinforcement category; is that correct?
15     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
16     Q.  And the definition of the gas system
17 reinforcement projects is location-specific
18 reinforcement projects; is that correct?
19     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
20     Q.  Just from a definitional perspective,
21 aren't all gas system reinforcement projects
22 location-specific?
23     A.  [LEARY]  Correct.
24     Q.  And generally, what are gas system
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1 reinforcement projects?
2     A.  [LEARY]  Again, I would defer that question
3 to our gas safety and reliability panel, where they
4 can speak more specifically to the projects and the
5 type of projects that fall into this category.
6     Q.  Ms. Leary, the TIRF and GSEP capital
7 trackers both have operations and maintenance
8 expense offsets to the added capital costs; is that
9 correct?
10     A.  [TUFTS]  Repeat the question, please?
11             MS. GAGNON:  Alan, could you read that
12 back, please?
13             (Question read.)
14     A.  [TUFTS]  That's correct.
15     Q.  And the reason for those offsets is to
16 adjust rates to reflect the fact that the capital
17 additions included in the tracker should reduce the
18 operations and maintenance expenses associated with
19 replacing old plant; is that correct?
20     A.  [TUFTS]  That's correct.
21     Q.  And the company has not proposed any such
22 offset for its new capital trackers in this case; is
23 that correct, Ms. Leary?
24     A.  [LEARY]  That is correct.
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1             MS. GAGNON:  That's all I have for now,
2 subject to further cross and the Bench.
3             MS. PIEPER:  It's a little early, but
4 why don't we take a break now, a ten-minute break,
5 and come back at 11:15.
6             (Recess taken.)
7             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
8 record.
9             You had one followup question, the

10 Attorney General did?  They were going to check on
11 break about the overhead and burdens test, whether
12 they have it for the electric side.  I think they're
13 prepared to answer it now.
14             MR. ROGERS:  Sure.
15     Q.  Does Massachusetts Electric Company have an
16 overheads and burdens test for its capital tracker?
17     A.  [LLOYD]  No, we confirmed that there is no
18 overheads and burdens test in the capital investment
19 recovery mechanism for Mass. Electric.
20             MS. PIEPER:  The Bench has a few
21 questions for the witnesses.  Andrew, you may
22 proceed.
23             BENCH EXAMINATION
24 BY MR. BRENGLE:
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1     Q.  Good morning.
2     A.  [LEARY]  Good morning.
3     Q.  I will be reviewing exhibits relative to
4 special contracts during my cross, and so I would
5 ask you to please have the following ready.  They
6 all pertain to Boston Gas, and also some of these
7 are confidential exhibits, but I won't be discussing
8 specific numbers or data that is redacted.  I
9 believe I can get what I need in open session.
10             So I would ask you to please find
11 NG-PP-2-BOS.  I actually have six of them.  And then
12 the next one is NG-PP-3G-BOS and then Attachment
13 AG-1-99-BOS.  And then Attachment AG-1-99-2-BOS
14 confidential.  That last one is a long one, and I'll
15 be telling you which pages.
16     A.  [LEARY]  I think I have everything.
17     Q.  Two more.  This is discovery Attachment
18 DPU-NG-25-8-1 confidential.  And then one more after
19 that is close to that:  Attachment DPU-NG-25-8-3
20 confidential -- again, another large document with
21 contract agreement language.
22     A.  [LEARY]  Okay, thank you.
23     Q.  If you go back to the first exhibit:  If
24 you look at NG-PP-2-BOS; that's the operating
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1 revenues by component:  In Column B, titled
2 Normalizing Adjustments to Test Year, on Line 16 you
3 see a negative 1,972,582, and this adjusts the
4 special contract revenues down.  My questions focus
5 on that reduction.  I'm just isolating it here to
6 orient us as a starting point.  Two of the special
7 contracts for Boston Gas account for the majority of
8 that adjustment.
9             So please refer to Exhibit NG-PP-3G-BOS

10 at 3, Lines 97 and 98.  It shows the test year
11 adjustment to the special contract with Veolia
12 Boston Energy Corp., Kneeland Street.  There are a
13 couple of asterisks just after the customer name,
14 leading to a footnote that says, "Veolia Boston
15 Energy Corp., Kneeland Street experienced a one-time
16 abnormal load shift onto Boston Gas's service
17 territory."  I was wondering if you could explain
18 what the abnormal change is and why it changes
19 Veolia's load use so dramatically downward as shown
20 on Column C?
21     A.  [LEARY]  I would not have that specific
22 information with me, but if I could consult with
23 others in the room, I may be able to get you that
24 answer.
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1             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go off the record
2 while she consults.
3             (Discussion off the record.)
4             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
5 record.
6     A.  [LEARY]  Actually, what happened here:  We
7 made this one-time adjustment because Veolia had an
8 issue with another one of their systems that was
9 located outside our service territory, so it was not

10 part of the National Grid service territory.  And
11 for certain reasons they needed to bring that system
12 down.  And therefore they had actually utilized the
13 Veolia system that was within our service territory
14 for a three-month period.  It was an -- they don't
15 expect to be using this in our -- to be using the
16 Veolia system on an ongoing, recurring basis.  This
17 was an exception to the rule because they had an
18 issue in another part of their business.
19     Q.  So the Kneeland Street facility used the
20 gas to -- or sent gas -- used the gas to power an
21 outside --
22     A.  [LEARY]  To power up the steam that was
23 going to be serving the distribution system.
24     Q.  And going forward, that won't be --
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1     A.  [LEARY]  That won't be necessary.
2     Q.  If you refer to Exhibit Attachment
3 AG-1-99-1-BOS, Page 2, at Line 45.
4     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
5     Q.  According to this attachment, Line 45, the
6 Veolia Kneeland contract runs from February 2014 to
7 January 2018.  I was just wondering if you could
8 clarify why is an adjustment to this contract being
9 treated as a 2016 test year adjustment?

10     A.  [LEARY]  Because when we had prepared this
11 rate filing that we filed in November of 2017, we
12 had just included as known and measurable
13 adjustments any contract that had been approved by
14 the Department as of September 30th of 2017.  So
15 this contract obviously was in the process of being
16 approved post our initial filing.
17     Q.  Has there been anything -- has anything
18 happened that has changed the contract since January
19 that would indicate in the testimony or the exhibits
20 about this change that you described?
21     A.  [LEARY]  No, as I indicated, all the known
22 and measurable adjustments that we made to our
23 initial filing in November of '17 was only
24 contracts -- only adjustments to contracts that had
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1 been approved by the Department as of September 30th
2 of 2017.
3     Q.  Thank you.  Also, if you could look at
4 AG-1-99-2-BOS, Page 609.  Just to summarize, it says
5 there that the Kneeland Street and the Scotia Street
6 contracts are synchronized.  Were you able to find
7 that?
8     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I see that provision.
9     Q.  But if we go back to AG-1-99-1-BOS, the
10 list that we just looked at, Page 2 on 45 and 46,
11 they show the Kneeland and Scotia Street contracts
12 with two different end dates.  Can you clarify that
13 for me?  If they are synchronized, should they have
14 the same end dates?
15             WITNESS LEARY:  May I consult?
16             MS. PIEPER:  Sure.
17     A.  [LEARY]  Actually, the contract year is the
18 same, is synchronized in both contracts.  So what I
19 mean by that is the period that the contract runs,
20 which would be a February-through-January period,
21 but not -- the term of the contract is not
22 synchronized.
23     Q.  Could I get to you look at Attachment
24 DPU-NG-25-8-1 confidential, Page 2.  I have similar
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1 questions about the Hanscom Air Base special
2 contract on Lines 60 to 72.
3             MS. PIEPER:  We don't plan to disclose
4 any of the confidential information.  I would just
5 alert you, please don't yourselves disclose any of
6 it.  So you might want to also look at the redacted,
7 just to make sure what's confidential.
8     Q.  I'm going to say a number here, but it's in
9 the open.  It's not redacted.  Again, there's a
10 large decrease made regarding the test year
11 adjustment.  It totals a negative $973,769.  Can you
12 please tell us why?
13     A.  [LEARY]  I just want to consult to make
14 sure I don't say the wrong thing.
15             This contract is actually being
16 eliminated.  This customer is bypassing the company,
17 and they're building a take station and going
18 directly to the pipeline.
19     Q.  Going forward, this contract will not
20 exist?
21     A.  [LEARY]  Correct.
22     Q.  The point may be moot, but I wanted to get
23 it on the record:  If you could please look at
24 Attachment DPU-NG-25-8-3 confidential, at Page 74.
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1 Are you there?
2     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I am.
3     Q.  The date on the agreement says August 25th,
4 2015, and the effective date, lower on the page,
5 says October 1st, 2015.  I just want to confirm that
6 this exhibit referenced in DPU-NG-25-8-1
7 confidential is the correct one.
8     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, it is.
9     Q.  Even though the last -- even though it

10 references -- sorry.  Even though, if you look at
11 NG-PP-3G at 2, it says the date of the new contract
12 for Hanscom Air Base is October 1st, 2016.
13 Shouldn't that line up?
14     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, I would say, subject to
15 check, that should be October 1st of 2015.
16     Q.  We have the new contract.  I was just going
17 to introduce into evidence -- but I don't think we
18 need to now, since you said it's not going to be
19 active going forward.  I was just, I wanted to
20 clarify why one exhibit said October 1st, 2016, but
21 the backup agreement was dated August 2015.  That's
22 the way it should be between the two exhibits?
23             MS. KIMBALL:  If it would be easier,
24 perhaps we could take a record request.
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1             MS. PIEPER:  I think we can just say
2 that there is a new contract.  We know that.  It was
3 filed in DPU 16-GC-17, and it runs for the dates
4 that agree with your schedule.  So if you can just
5 confirm that is the new contract.
6             WITNESS LEARY:  Yes, I can.
7             MS. PIEPER:  The old one you provided is
8 the wrong contract.
9             WITNESS LEARY:  Correct.

10             MS. PIEPER:  But both contracts are
11 going away.
12             WITNESS LEARY:  Correct.
13             MS. PIEPER:  There is no new contract
14 going forward.
15             WITNESS LEARY:  Correct.
16     Q.  That's all I have.  Thank you.
17 BY MS. GIDEN:
18     Q.  Good morning.
19     A.  [LEARY]  Good morning.
20     Q.  Do you recall earlier the discussion that
21 you found a couple of errors in the allocated-cost-
22 of-service study?
23     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes.
24     Q.  Do you recall -- and correct me if I'm
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1 wrong -- a statement to the effect that there may
2 have been small changes to class-specific revenue
3 requirements but they would not affect either rate
4 design or the subsequent rates?
5     A.  [LLOYD]  Correct.
6     Q.  Can you explain how a change to the class
7 revenue requirement wouldn't result in a change to
8 the rate design of the rates?
9     A.  [LLOYD]  I should have clarified that,

10 based on the revenue requirement in the original
11 filing, a change to the allocation factor would not
12 change the revenue allocation in the original filing
13 and the subsequent rates, because the way the
14 revenue allocation in PP -- NG-PP-6 shows every
15 class gets an equal percentage increase.  So that
16 wouldn't have changed even if the allocations
17 changed slightly from the allocated study.
18     Q.  On a related topic:  Does the tax act and
19 all related changes to the revenue requirement
20 affect any of the methods or assumptions relied upon
21 to run Boston Gas's allocated-cost-of-service study?
22     A.  [LLOYD]  It would change the revenue
23 requirement, obviously, that's the basis for the
24 allocated study; but we would not change the
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1 methodology for functionalizing, classifying, and
2 allocating the costs.
3     Q.  Thank you.  Would your answer be the same
4 for Colonial Gas's study?
5     A.  [LLOYD]  It would.
6     Q.  Could you refer to the prefiled testimony,
7 NG-PP-1 at 40 to 41.  Does the tax act and all
8 related changes to Boston Gas's revenue requirement
9 affect any of the revenue allocation rules described
10 here?
11     A.  [LLOYD]  I'm sorry, is that Page 41?  40 or
12 41?
13     Q.  40 to 41.
14     A.  [LLOYD]  Are you referring to the Lines 1
15 through 7?
16     Q.  Let me be more specific.  I'm referring to
17 Line 17 on Page 40 and then moving on to Page 41,
18 where you try to allocate the amounts in excess of
19 the cap equally across the rate classes.
20     A.  [LLOYD]  So if the revenue requirement
21 changed so that -- and is lower because it's
22 reflecting the change in the taxes and the total
23 increase falls below the 10 percent cap, Section 20
24 cap, then the methodology wouldn't necessarily
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1 change.  We would still -- we would cap each class
2 at 10 percent, but because the system average
3 increases below 10 percent, it would affect -- every
4 class wouldn't necessarily get the system average
5 increase, as is showing up in our original filing.
6     Q.  And would your answers be the same for
7 Colonial Gas's revenue allocation?
8     A.  [LLOYD]  It would.  And I would just add
9 that we would also apply not only the 10 percent

10 test but the 200 percent times the system average
11 increase as well -- the two-step test that's
12 typically use to cap a class.
13     Q.  And then could you just briefly explain why
14 you couldn't apply that 200 percent system average
15 test in the event that you were over the 10 percent
16 cap?
17     A.  [LLOYD]  Well, we do apply the test, but no
18 class was over 200 percent in the original filing.
19     Q.  As a preface to the following topic,
20 specifically that of the company's proposal to roll
21 in TIRF and GSEP investments to rate base:  This was
22 discussed in both pricing panel testimony as well as
23 Daniel Dane's testimony.  So after I ask the
24 question, if it would be best addressed to someone
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1 else, please feel free to let me know.
2             Can you refer to the testimony of the
3 pricing panel, NG-PP-12-BOS.  So specifically
4 looking at Lines 4 and 6 in that Exhibit 12:  Is it
5 the company's position that they are entitled to the
6 entire 2018 revenue requirement on the TIR
7 investments?
8     A.  [LEARY]  The company isn't -- as described
9 here and indicated in -- on Line 6, we are entitled

10 to nine months of the 2018 revenue requirement on
11 the TIR investments.  So that would be the revenue
12 requirement that the company earned prior to the
13 implementation of the new base rates on October 1st
14 of 2018.  So it's the revenue requirement from the
15 period January 1st of 2018 through September 30th of
16 2018.
17     Q.  Are you familiar with the DPU 10-55 order,
18 in which the Department established the TIR program
19 and the cost recovery mechanism for this program?
20     A.  [LEARY]  I would say somewhat, yes.
21     Q.  I'd like to distribute a few pages from one
22 of the sections of that order.
23             With reference to the highlighted
24 portion, that the program was not meant to provide
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1 an all-out financial support for a specifically
2 established term, how do you interpret this section
3 as it relates to the position that the companies are
4 entitled to the entire 2018 revenue requirement on
5 the TIR investments regardless of the fact that
6 those investments will be rolled into base rates
7 within the course of 2018?
8     A.  [LEARY]  Well, as I read this highlighted
9 section, I'm wondering -- and it goes on to say, as
10 you mentioned, "a specifically established term and
11 program of mains replacement that will supplement or
12 eliminate the disciplining role of regulatory lag
13 inherent in traditional ratemaking principles" -- I
14 view this as they're addressing the fact that we had
15 a significant regulatory lag in our TIR program and
16 the fact that we were not really being able to
17 recover the TIR revenue requirement until November
18 of the year, and the company was not -- even though
19 it had been earned at the beginning of, let's say,
20 the calendar year, there was a ten-month lag.
21             And I think this is what this is saying
22 here in this part of the tariff -- in this part of
23 the Department's order.  I don't think they're
24 addressing the fact of how you -- you know, how we
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1 will be addressing the revenue requirement when we
2 adopt -- when we roll the TIR into the rate -- the
3 new base rates and we adopt new base rates at an
4 effective date.
5     Q.  Thank you.  Would you now turn to your
6 prefiled testimony, NG-PP-7A-BOS.  It may also be
7 handy to have the response to Information Request
8 DPU-8-17.
9             What changes do the corrections made in

10 response to DPU-8-17 cause to Page 3 of Exhibit
11 NG-PP-7A-BOS?
12     A.  [LLOYD]  We're just trying to compare the
13 numbers.
14             Do you want the specific number changes
15 or just want generally what is changing?
16     Q.  I think specific number changes would be
17 most helpful.
18     A.  [LLOYD]  It may be better for us -- we're
19 trying to match up the data request to the exhibit.
20 It may be better for us either to do this on break
21 or submit a record request that shows the changes to
22 this schedule.
23     Q.  I think a record request of an updated
24 version of this exhibit would be helpful.
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1     A.  [LLOYD]  That's fine.
2             MS. PIEPER:  So the record request is
3 going to be to provide an updated version of Exhibit
4 NG-PP-7A-BOS to incorporate the changes from Exhibit
5 DPU-NG-8-17.  You understand?
6             WITNESS LLOYD:  We do.
7             WITNESS LEARY:  Yes.
8             MS. PIEPER:  That will be Record Request
9 DPU-2.

10             (Record Request DPU-2.)
11     Q.  Can you now open to NG-PP-7C-BOS.  Did the
12 companies consider consolidating the Boston and
13 Essex C&I rates in one year such that they would be
14 the same on October 1st, 2018?
15     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, we did consider that.
16 However, a couple of reasons why we felt we could
17 not do that in one adjustment:  First of all, for
18 the former Essex customers, which would be the G-E
19 series, are significantly lower, and the bill
20 impacts would have been too substantial to bring
21 them up to the current G corresponding B series
22 rates.
23             Also, the availability clauses for the B
24 series rates are different than the E series rates.
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1 The B series rates, which are based on meter size
2 for the availability, where on the E series rates
3 the availability clause is based on annual usage.
4             So we did do some -- we had evaluated
5 it.  We actually did the exact same studies in DPU
6 10-55, looking at that issue.  And we just felt at
7 this point we need to take it in steps.  So we
8 figured the first step is let's see if we can get
9 the actual rates similar, which we felt we would

10 need, depending on the rate class, either a two- or
11 three-year period to phase in the increase in the E
12 series with a slight decrease in the B series rates,
13 and then eventually hopefully, at the next rate
14 proceeding, we could address the issue about the
15 availability clauses to then actually consolidate
16 the rates once and for all.
17     Q.  If we wanted to evaluate the rate -- the
18 bill impacts that would result from a one-year
19 consolidation, do you know if that information is on
20 the record?
21     A.  [LEARY]  It's not on the record.  I can
22 tell you that I did look at that from a very
23 high-level perspective, and for I think it was our
24 G-41 rate customers on E series, it was looking at
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1 on the order of a 30 percent bill impact.  And that
2 would just be aligning the rates.  That does not
3 address the fact that if we wanted to address the
4 fact of the availability clauses, there may be
5 customers that would not align -- for instance, a
6 G-41E customer may not be on a G-41B rate class.
7 Based on the availability, they may be on a G-42.
8 So we have those issues, too.  So they could be
9 classified differently.

10     Q.  So if we look at Page 1 of Exhibit
11 NG-PP-7C-BOS, Column B, Line 37:  Is that 28.4
12 percent increase, is that the around 30 percent
13 increase you were speaking of before?  Or would you
14 have to do a different calculation to get to that
15 number?
16     A.  [LEARY]  Yes, that is correct.
17     Q.  So if we wanted to see the impact of a
18 one-year consolidation rather than a two or three,
19 we could just look at this first set of columns?
20     A.  [LEARY]  Yes.
21     Q.  Thank you.  Are the companies familiar with
22 Eversource's most recent rate case, DPU 17-05, the
23 company's proposal in that case to consolidate C&I
24 rates using a multi-year phase-in, and the
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1 Department's ultimate decision not to consolidate
2 C&I rates using a multi-year phase-in?
3     A.  [LLOYD]  Somewhat familiar with the order.
4     Q.  Did the company consider this prior ruling
5 in proposing it in this proposal?
6     A.  [LEARY]  I think that order came out after
7 our initial filing, after November 15th.  So no, we
8 would not have considered that.
9     Q.  I'd like to open Information Request

10 DPU-5-12.  Am I correct to interpret the company's
11 response to mean that you did not find any petitions
12 or Department approvals of a similar revenue
13 allocation method?
14     A.  [LLOYD]  I'm not sure that there are any
15 other companies that were in the same circumstances
16 that we were in in this case, where the increase was
17 above the 10 percent cap.
18     Q.  And please keep this information request
19 open for the next line of questioning.  I'd like to
20 pass out some copies of General Laws Chapter 164,
21 Section 94I.
22             Returning to the information request:
23 On Page 2 of the response do you see the paragraph
24 at the bottom stating that Section 94I should not
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1 limit distribution revenue increases to 10 percent
2 and is instead a revenue allocation guideline?
3     A.  [LLOYD]  I see that paragraph.
4     Q.  Can you explain what part of the statute
5 informed your interpretation that Section 94I is a
6 guideline rather than a cap?
7     A.  [LLOYD]  Well, I would say 94I is a
8 guideline to setting rates, but it doesn't deal with
9 cost recovery at a total-company level.  So I'm

10 not -- I don't interpret 94I as a provision that
11 would deny the company its ability to collect its
12 total revenue requirement or to defer the total
13 revenue requirement to a certain period.
14     Q.  Thank you.  Do the companies plan to
15 provide new electronic versions or Excel versions of
16 pricing panel Exhibits 4, 5, 6, 7, and 8 for BOS and
17 COL following evidentiary hearings that accord with
18 the proposed final revenue requirement?
19     A.  [LLOYD]  Yes, we do.
20     Q.  That's all for me.  Thank you.
21             MS. PIEPER:  And that will come in with
22 the final revenue requirement at the end.
23             That is all the questions the Bench has
24 for these witnesses today.  Does the Attorney
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1 General have anything additional for these
2 witnesses?
3             MR. ROGERS:  Nothing more today.
4             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go off the record.
5             (Discussion off the record.)
6             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
7 record.  In a discussion off the record, we realized
8 we are done for the day, so this hearing is
9 adjourned.  Thank you all.

10             (12:10 p.m.)
11
12
13
14
15             REPORTER'S CERTIFICATE
16             I, Alan H. Brock, the officer before
17 whom the foregoing proceedings were taken, do
18 certify that this transcript is a true record of the
19 proceedings on May 2, 2018.
20
21
22
23             _______________________
24             Alan H. Brock, RDR, CRR
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COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC UTILITIES

DPU 17-170

            EVIDENTIARY HEARING, held at the

Department of Public Utilities, One South Station,

Boston, Massachusetts, on Monday, May 7, 2018,

commencing at 10:02 a.m., concerning:

BOSTON GAS COMPANY and COLONIAL GAS COMPANY, d/b/a

                   NATIONAL GRID

SITTING:    Cecile M. Fraser, Commissioner

            Robert Hayden, Commissioner

            Carol Pieper, Hearing Officer

Rates and Revenue Requirements Division:

            Paul Osborne

            Jeff Hall

            Marcos Pareto

            Tyler Wagner

 --------Reporter:  Alan H. Brock, RDR, CRR--------

    ahb@fabreporters.com   www.fabreporters.com
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1             May 7, 2018      10:02 a.m.
2                P R O C E E D I N G S
3             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go on the record.
4 This is the fourth day of evidentiary hearings in
5 Docket No. DPU 17-170, petition of Boston Gas
6 Company and Colonial Gas Company, each doing
7 business as National Grid, pursuant to General Laws
8 Chapter 164, Section 94, and 220 CMR 5.00, for
9 approval of general increases in base distribution

10 rates for gas service.
11             My name is Carol Pieper.  I'm the
12 hearing officer.  With me on the bench this morning
13 are Commissioners Robert Hayden and Cecile Fraser;
14 Jeff Hall, Marcos Pareto, and Paul Osborne, from the
15 Rates and Revenue Requirements Division.
16             I have one procedural matter.  On April
17 27th, 2018, National Grid submitted a motion for
18 protective treatment of its supplemental response to
19 AG-1-99.  In its motion National Grid seeks
20 permanent protection of the information or, in the
21 alternative, until one year after the customer
22 ceases to be a customer of National Grid.  The
23 deadline for objecting to the motion has passed, and
24 the Department did not receive any objection.

275

1             I find that National Grid has met its
2 burden under General Laws Chapter 25, Section 5D,
3 and has demonstrated that there is a need to provide
4 confidential treatment to this information.  I find
5 that the information may in fact become stale as
6 time goes by and may lose any benefit of maintaining
7 confidentiality, and thus I grant protective
8 treatment for one year after the customer ceases to
9 be the companies' customer.  At the conclusion of

10 the sunset period, National Grid may renew the
11 request for protective treatment and demonstrate why
12 such continued treatment is necessary.
13             Thank you.  The company's first witness
14 is Maureen Heaphy.  If you could please state your
15 full name for the record.
16             THE WITNESS:  Maureen P. Heaphy.
17                  MAUREEN P. HEAPHY,
18 being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
19 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
20 was examined and testified as follows:
21             MS. PIEPER:  You may proceed with
22 direct.
23             MS. BLACKMORE:  Thank you.
24                 DIRECT EXAMINATION
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1 BY MS. BLACKMORE:
2     Q.  Ms. Heaphy, by whom are you employed and in
3 what position?
4     A.  National Grid USA Service Company, vice
5 president of compensation, benefits, and pensions.
6     Q.  And how long have you held your current
7 position?
8     A.  A little over ten years.
9     Q.  Were you involved in the preparation of

10 this rate case?
11     A.  Yes.
12     Q.  And as part of that preparation did you
13 prepare prefiled direct testimony and various
14 exhibits submitted to the Department on November
15 15th, 2017?
16     A.  Yes.
17     Q.  With respect to your prefiled testimony,
18 marked for identification as Exhibit NG-MPH-1, was
19 this exhibit prepared by you or under your direct
20 supervision and control?
21     A.  Yes, it was.
22     Q.  At this time do you have any changes,
23 corrections, deletions, or additions that you would
24 like to make to your prefiled testimony in this

277

1 proceeding?
2     A.  No, I do not.
3     Q.  Have you seen information requests
4 propounded by the Department, the Attorney General,
5 and other intervenors in this case?
6     A.  Yes.
7     Q.  And have you sponsored any responses to a
8 number of those information requests?
9     A.  Yes, I have.
10     Q.  Were those responses prepared by you or
11 under your direct supervision and control?
12     A.  Yes, they were.
13     Q.  At this time do you have any changes,
14 corrections, deletions, or additions that you would
15 like to make to any of the information-request
16 responses that you've sponsored in this proceeding?
17     A.  No, I do not.
18             MS. BLACKMORE:  The witness is available
19 for cross-examination.
20             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.  You may
21 proceed.
22             MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.
23                  CROSS-EXAMINATION
24 BY MS. ANDERSON:
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1     Q.  Good morning, Ms. Heaphy.
2     A.  Good morning.
3     Q.  I'm Elizabeth Anderson, Assistant Attorney
4 General, and I just have a few questions on your
5 testimony this morning.
6             Ms. Heaphy, one of the components of
7 employee compensation at National Grid is incentive
8 pay; is that correct?
9     A.  That's correct.

10     Q.  And the company also uses the term
11 "variable pay" for incentive pay; is that correct?
12     A.  Yes.
13     Q.  According to Mr. Dane's testimony the other
14 day, there's another form of variable pay, and
15 that's some type of commission paid on customer
16 service; is that correct?
17     A.  That's correct.
18     Q.  And can you explain a little bit more about
19 what those commissions are and why they are paid
20 out?
21     A.  Sure.  That's a sales commission plan, so
22 it is a form of variable pay or incentive
23 compensation for the sales force.  It's very few
24 employees that are part of that program -- it's

279

1 roughly about 40 employees -- and it's in lieu of
2 the APP variable pay plan that other employees are
3 in.  So they're not in both plans.
4     Q.  So what they selling, the sales force?
5     A.  It's generally in the gas business.
6     Q.  The gas business.  So what kinds of
7 products?
8     A.  I'm not sure of the details.  I'd have to
9 get that for you.

10     Q.  So to your knowledge, are the commissions
11 included in the cost of service in this case?
12     A.  Yes.
13     Q.  Would you be able to provide exactly what
14 service or product they're selling in a record
15 request?
16     A.  Yes, definitely.
17     Q.  Could I please have a record request for
18 that information.
19     A.  Sure.
20     Q.  Thank you.
21             MS. PIEPER:  So just to make sure that I
22 have it right, it's to provide the commission paid
23 on the customer service, what services they're
24 actually selling.
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1             MS. ANDERSON:  Right, exactly.
2             MS. PIEPER:  Record Request AG-4.
3             (Record Request AG-4.)
4     Q.  So are there any other forms of variable
5 pay other than the incentive pay and these
6 commissions that we just discussed?
7     A.  That would be it.
8     Q.  I believe in Mr. Dane's testimony he also
9 uses the term "nonfinancial variable pay."  Would

10 you know what that refers to?
11     A.  The variable pay plan, or what we refer
12 also as the APP plan, is made up of a few different
13 components.  So the nonfinancial component has to do
14 with -- again, by band, it's different for each band
15 of employee -- so in terms of the breakup of the
16 plan.
17             But for the most part, that's the
18 individual goals that are set by employees and then
19 all of the people, customer, community goals that
20 really revolve around safety metrics, reliability
21 metrics, and customer metrics.
22     Q.  So how do you assign a number to the
23 nonfinancial variable pay?
24     A.  When you say how do we assign a number --
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1             So let's take most of our employees that
2 go from Band C through Band F, and these are
3 nonunion employees.  50 percent of their variable
4 pay component is dedicated to their individual
5 components.  The other 50 percent are these
6 metrics -- people, customer, community -- which,
7 again, are safety metrics, reliability metrics, and
8 customer-type metrics.  So 50 percent of the plan is
9 dedicated to those metrics.
10     Q.  And that's what you mean by nonfinancial
11 variable pay.
12     A.  Yes.
13     Q.  So the term "nonfinancial" is referring to
14 performance metrics.
15     A.  Yes.
16     Q.  The company has had an incentive
17 compensation program for its employees starting back
18 in 2007; is that correct?
19     A.  That's correct.
20     Q.  And the company believes that its incentive
21 pay program is an important part of its compensation
22 to its employees; correct?
23     A.  Yes.
24     Q.  One reason is that it's important to
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1 motivate employees to achieve certain performance
2 measures or metrics.
3     A.  Yes.
4     Q.  Do these performance metrics involve
5 maintaining a safe and reliable distribution system?
6     A.  Yes, and that's where all -- which I
7 mentioned before, the safety metrics, the
8 reliability metrics; it all centers around
9 delivering safe, reliable, and efficient service to
10 our customers.
11     Q.  Your Exhibit NG-MPH-2 provides a Willis
12 Towers Watson study that the company had done to
13 compare National Grid's nonunion compensation to
14 other companies'; is that correct?
15     A.  That's correct.
16     Q.  And the study is dated March 29th, 2017; is
17 that correct?
18     A.  That's correct.
19     Q.  Could you please turn to Page 3 of the
20 study, which is indicated as Page 4 of 15 of the
21 exhibit.
22     A.  Yes.
23     Q.  And looking at that third paragraph on Page
24 4 of the exhibit, the first two sentences read,

283

1 "Market data reflects survey participants and
2 salaries in effect as of March 2016 and incentives
3 largely reflect 2016 payouts for the 2015 fiscal
4 year performance.  For comparison purposes, market
5 data has been aged to April 2017 using an annual
6 update factor of 3 percent based on the 2016 Willis
7 Towers Watson salary budget survey."  Did I read
8 that correctly?
9     A.  Yes.

10     Q.  And I had that correct?
11     A.  Yes.
12     Q.  Typically an incentive program has some
13 target performance level that the business builds
14 its incentive pay around; is that correct?
15     A.  That's correct.
16     Q.  And National Grid does the same thing --
17 that is, it has a target level of performance and
18 incentive pay; correct?
19     A.  Yes, it does.
20     Q.  When Willis measures the incentive payments
21 for 2016 for this survey, is it measuring the actual
22 payouts for that year, that 2016 year, or is it
23 measuring the payouts at the target level?
24     A.  Can I confer quickly with my colleagues?
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1     Q.  Sure.
2             MS. PIEPER:  Yes.
3     A.  It's actual payouts.
4     Q.  When the market data is aged by Willis,
5 does it simply multiply the survey participants'
6 March 2016 annual salaries by the 3 percent update
7 factor to get the addition to arrive at the April
8 2017 salaries?
9     A.  Yes, I believe so.

10     Q.  And does the Willis study also increase the
11 survey participants' 2016 incentive payouts by 3
12 percent to arrive at the April 2017 pay?
13     A.  I believe so.
14     Q.  So the next sentence in Paragraph 3 on Page
15 4 of your exhibit, NG-MPH-2, reads, "National Grid
16 data reflects salaries in effect as of February
17 2017, and incentives reflect awards paid in June
18 2016 for fiscal year 2016 performance (April 2015 to
19 March 2016)."  Is that correct?
20     A.  Correct.
21     Q.  And did Willis age the National Grid
22 salaries in effect as of February 2017?
23     A.  No, they were not.
24     Q.  And did they age the company's incentives
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1 paid in June of 2016?
2     A.  I have to confer on that one also.
3             MS. PIEPER:  Go ahead.
4     A.  They were not.
5     Q.  And why did they not age the incentives?
6     A.  I'm not sure, to be honest.
7     Q.  Did Willis use the company's actual
8 incentive payout during June of 2016, or did Willis
9 use the target level of payout to do its market

10 comparison in this study?
11     A.  The actual payout.
12     Q.  And did the company's nonunion employees as
13 a whole perform above target or below target during
14 2015?
15     A.  For the payout in June of 2016 I believe it
16 was above target.
17     Q.  And when we were referring to nonunion
18 employees, we're referring to nonunion employees at
19 the National Grid USA Service Company; correct?
20     A.  All of our employees, all of our nonunion
21 employees.
22     Q.  So would that include nonunion employees at
23 the distribution companies, including Boston Gas and
24 Colonial Gas?
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1     A.  Yes.
2     Q.  Ms. Heaphy, the test year that is used in
3 this case as the starting point for determining the
4 cost of service is calendar year 2016; correct?
5     A.  Correct.
6     Q.  And the company's fiscal year for financial
7 reporting purposes is the 12-month period ending
8 March 31st of each year; correct?
9     A.  Correct.
10     Q.  For incentive performance measurement, does
11 the company use the fiscal year ending in March, or
12 does it use some other period?
13     A.  The fiscal year ending in March.
14     Q.  So a whole 12 months is used.
15     A.  Correct.
16     Q.  And generally when is the incentive payment
17 made to employees?
18     A.  The incentive payment is made by mid-June
19 of each year.
20     Q.  So the incentive payments that were
21 recorded on -- that were recorded on the company's
22 books for 2016, the test year in this case, were for
23 the performance months of April 2015 through March
24 of 2016?
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1     A.  '16, correct.
2     Q.  Is that correct?
3             And would you accept subject to check
4 that, according to Mr. Dane's testimony, the company
5 paid out incentive pay during the test year at 146
6 percent of its target for nonunion employees?
7     A.  Yes, subject to check.
8     Q.  And the company also paid out incentive pay
9 for its union employees above target for the test

10 year; correct?
11     A.  Subject to check, yes.
12     Q.  And do you know approximately what percent
13 above target the union's incentive was?
14     A.  I don't know offhand.  And again, the union
15 APP plan does not have that individual component.
16 It's 100 percent dedicated to the people, customer,
17 community, so, again, totally dedicated to the
18 safety metrics, reliability metrics, and customer
19 metrics.
20     Q.  Would you be able to provide the percent
21 above target for the union incentive in 2016?
22     A.  Yes.
23     Q.  Could I ask for that information in a
24 record request?
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1     A.  Sure.
2     Q.  Thank you.
3             MS. PIEPER:  So that's to provide a
4 percentage of target -- the percentage above target
5 for the union incentive in 2016.
6             MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, please.
7             MS. PIEPER:  It's going to be Record
8 Request AG-5.
9             (Record Request AG-5.)

10     Q.  Ms. Heaphy, when the company says that it
11 paid at 146 percent of target, does that mean that
12 the employees hit 146 percent of their target
13 performance metrics or that the incentive pay itself
14 was at 146 percent of the target level of incentive
15 pay?
16     A.  First, I'd have to check on the 146
17 percent, if that was the total on just the people,
18 customer, and community portion, or if that was the
19 comprehensive, including the individual component.
20 So that's subject to check, so I'm not sure of the
21 146, if it's both components or just the one piece.
22     Q.  Could I refer you to an exhibit that might
23 help clarify that?
24     A.  Sure.
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1     Q.  Just if you look at, I believe it's
2 Schedule 12 of Mr. Dane's updated cost of service,
3 so the revised Schedule 12.
4             MS. PIEPER:  Just to be clear for the
5 record, it's Exhibit NG-DSD-2-BOS?  Are you looking
6 at Boston?
7             MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, that's correct.
8             MS. PIEPER:  BOS, Revision 1.
9     Q.  I'm specifically looking at Page 3 of 6 of

10 that schedule, when you get it.
11     A.  I'm not sure if I've seen this schedule
12 before, so I'm not sure if it's going to have the
13 level of detail needed to figure that out, but
14 I'll....
15             Can you refer me to the line, please, on
16 that schedule?
17     Q.  Sure.  If you go to, I believe it's the
18 first three lines, so Lines 2, 3, and 4.  These
19 reflect adjustments to normalize the historical test
20 year.  And each line says "elevate portion of
21 variable pay paid at 146 percent of target; reduce
22 to target."
23     A.  I'm sorry, I'm not seeing that on this
24 page.
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1     Q.  Schedule 12, Page 3 of 6.
2     A.  Oh, that was 1 of 6.
3             Okay so, the "elevate portion of
4 variable pay," that is the component dedicated to
5 the customer, safety, and reliability -- excuse me,
6 reliability measures.
7     Q.  So the 146 percent of target, you're only
8 talking about the performance metrics portion?
9     A.  Right.  It doesn't include the individual
10 portion there.
11             Well, again, I'd have to subject-to-
12 check.  This is me reading this now.  This is my
13 guess, because it says "elevate portion."  That's
14 strictly the safety, customer, and reliability
15 measures.  But I can't really state what's on this
16 page.  I'm just reading what it says there on the
17 title description.
18     Q.  I understand.  Thank you.  So it's just 146
19 percent of the performance measures, and it's not
20 necessarily 146 percent of the pay.
21     A.  Correct.  So I can go through an example.
22 So if you have, let's say, Band E supervisor.  They
23 have a 10 percent target.  50 percent of that
24 target, 5 percent, would be dedicated to their
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1 individual piece, and the other 5 percent would be
2 dedicated to the elevate metrics, which we're now
3 calling the focused metrics this year.
4             So it's 146 percent of that 5 percent
5 for that particular employee and that band.
6     Q.  Do you know, when you say that the
7 employee, the nonunion employees were paid at 146
8 percent of their incentive target during the test
9 year, do you know if that's an average in any way by

10 the salaries associated with the employees'
11 incentive pay?
12     A.  I'm sorry, can you repeat that, please?
13             MS. ANDERSON:  Alan, could you read that
14 back for me, please.
15             (Question read.)
16     A.  I'm still not certain of the question, of
17 what you're driving at.
18     Q.  Is the 146 percent an average number, or is
19 that the number that every employee got?
20     A.  It's -- again, subject to check, because I
21 don't remember if it was 146 percent or not.
22 Generally that elevate portion is the same for
23 safety, because that's a companywide metric.  The
24 customer metrics are companywide.  The only
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1 variation would be on the reliability measures,
2 because they're done by jurisdiction; so there could
3 be slight differences on the reliability metrics.
4     Q.  So that would indicate that it's likely
5 somewhat of an average?
6     A.  Again, I'd have to see, to dig into that
7 number.  But I would think so.
8     Q.  Do you know if the nonunion employees in
9 the metering department on average received an

10 incentive payment above their target during the test
11 year?
12     A.  I would -- subject to check, but yes, I
13 would think so -- again, on that portion of it,
14 because, again, you have the individual component,
15 and you could have someone that their individual
16 goals were not met and are not getting even 100
17 percent on that half of it.
18     Q.  So in that case somebody could not get paid
19 above target because their individual goals were not
20 sufficient?
21     A.  Correct.
22     Q.  Does that happen often?
23     A.  Well, on average, again, on the individual
24 portion -- on average it would come out at 100
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1 percent.  So you are going to have a number of
2 employees that could come out at 50 percent on that
3 measure, could be zero percent, and then you have
4 ones that have performed at stretch goals that would
5 go above 100 percent.
6     Q.  So just for clarification, you used the
7 term "jurisdiction" a minute ago.  Can you just
8 clarify for the record what you mean when you say
9 "jurisdiction"?

10     A.  Massachusetts, New York, Rhode Island.
11     Q.  So Massachusetts includes both Boston Gas
12 and Colonial Gas?
13     A.  Correct.
14     Q.  Do you know if the nonunion employees in
15 the information technology department on average
16 received an incentive payment above the target
17 during the test year?
18     A.  Subject to check, again, on the elevate
19 portion, I would say yes.
20     Q.  So looking back at your Exhibit NG-MPH-2,
21 Page 5 of 15 -- and this is Page 5 of 15 of the
22 exhibit.  There's a chart at the top of this page
23 representing Willis's findings for National Grid
24 nonunion employees, indicating that when the base
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1 salary and incentives are put together, the company
2 is paying out 102 percent of the market rate; is
3 that correct?
4     A.  If you're comparing us to their total
5 energy survey, which includes a lot of smaller
6 companies.  So generally we would really look at
7 companies in excess of 6 billion, which are the
8 numbers on the left-hand side.
9     Q.  And that shows that they're paying out at

10 99 percent of the market rate.
11     A.  Correct.
12     Q.  And again, Willis used the February 2017
13 salary rate for the company's employees; is that
14 correct?
15     A.  Yes, for the companies, yes.
16     Q.  And the union increases generally occur at
17 the anniversary date of the contracts for each
18 union; is that correct?
19     A.  Generally.
20     Q.  And did most of this happen during the
21 springtime of each year?
22     A.  I would have to check.
23     Q.  Do you know generally when the union
24 contracts have their anniversaries?
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1     A.  I know that that 12003 and then 12012-4,
2 the two levels --
3             MS. PIEPER:  It's 12012-4.
4             THE WITNESS:  Yes.
5     A.  Their contracts are up in June of this
6 year.  We have 13507 I believe is up in June of
7 2019.  And then we have 318, 350, 369 I believe are
8 expiring in 2021, but I forget the month.  I think
9 one might be April, another might be June.

10     Q.  Generally in the spring, early summertime
11 frame?
12     A.  Subject to check.
13     Q.  The nonunion employees' rates generally
14 increase on July 1 of each year; correct?
15     A.  Nonunion, generally, yes.
16     Q.  Is that true for both the service company
17 nonunion employees as well as the Boston Gas and
18 Colonial Gas?
19     A.  Yes, it is.
20     Q.  And the company granted a 2.5 percent merit
21 increase to its nonunion employees on July 1, 2017;
22 is that correct?
23     A.  That's correct.
24     Q.  The company also granted a 1.14 percent
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1 equity increase in 2017; is that correct?
2     A.  That's correct.
3     Q.  Can you explain why the company felt
4 compelled to --
5             Can you explain why the company felt
6 compelled to grant the extra 1.14 percent equity
7 increase to its nonunion employees when those
8 employees were already earning at 99 percent of the
9 market rate?
10     A.  Not all employees were earning at 99
11 percent of the market rate.  So we do look every
12 year to see employees that may have fallen below 85
13 percent of the market, and adjustments may be needed
14 there.  We had a whole supervisor enablement
15 initiative and looking at our supervisors and making
16 sure there was enough, you know, compression with
17 union salaries if the supervisor is supervising
18 union folks.  And a lot of the big complex
19 construction projects that were going on and the
20 need for engineers and to continue those capital
21 projects, there was a segment of the population in
22 gas and electric process engineering that also
23 received market adjustments.
24             I think we have an exhibit in the case

297

1 somewhere that kind of goes through which portion of
2 the population got those extra monies.
3             And also to note:  The merit increase on
4 average was lower at that time than the national
5 average, so any of our survey sources at that time
6 were indicating that average merit increases were in
7 the 3 percent range.  So we decided to move that
8 down to 2 1/2 and use those extra monies then to
9 allocate to the areas that needed it.
10     Q.  Looking back at Exhibit NG-MPH-2, Page 5:
11 The lower chart on that page provides Willis's
12 breakout of the pay analysis by salary bands;
13 correct?
14     A.  Yes.
15     Q.  And the band analysis seems to indicate
16 that the lower-end salary bands tend to have the
17 higher salaries relative to the market; is that
18 correct?
19     A.  That's correct.
20     Q.  Is it correct that the company has given
21 out 2.5 percent annual merit pay increases in each
22 of the last two years to its nonunion employees?
23     A.  Yes, but that doesn't mean that everyone
24 receives 2 1/2 percent.  So the budget is 2 1/2
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1 percent.  Someone might get lower; someone might get
2 higher.  And it's really looking at performance and
3 where their salary is in relation to the
4 marketplace.
5     Q.  Would the employees in the first band
6 earning that 108 percent of the market rate have
7 received equity increases?
8     A.  I would have to check.  It's possible.
9     Q.  It's possible, based on your testimony,

10 where they assess a need based on various
11 incentives?
12     A.  Correct.  And again, the 108 percent is
13 looking at the total energy survey, whereas we would
14 more concentrate on the 6-billion-dollar-plus
15 companies, and that would be the numbers on the
16 left-hand side, which is still at 105 percent.
17     Q.  105 percent, yes.
18     A.  Right.
19     Q.  Ms. Heaphy, the company has annual turnover
20 in its employee population; correct?
21     A.  Correct.
22     Q.  And the normal turnover rate is about 5
23 percent; is that correct?
24     A.  I believe in one of our exhibits we had
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1 said 5.7 percent, correct.
2     Q.  One of the expected components of turnover
3 is employee retirements; yes?
4     A.  Correct.
5     Q.  Is there a month of the year in which the
6 number of employee retirements is typically expected
7 to be higher than other months?
8     A.  Generally no.  I mean, I'd have to look to
9 see -- I haven't looked at it on a month-to-month
10 basis.  But off the top of my head, I would say no.
11 But again, subject to check.
12     Q.  So generally speaking, people retire at any
13 time during a year?
14     A.  Uh-huh.
15     Q.  If you could turn to Exhibit AG-1-44, the
16 attachment to that exhibit.  If you could take a
17 look.
18     A.  Yes.
19     Q.  We walked through this exhibit in a lot of
20 detail with Mr. Dane, so I'm not going to do that
21 here.  But if you turn to Page 7 of 8 of the
22 attachment.
23     A.  Okay.
24     Q.  When you compare the numbers in 2016,
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1 especially at the end of the year, the employee
2 count numbers, for November and December of 2016,
3 there appears to be somewhat of a significant
4 increase in employees.  Do you know why that is?
5     A.  In looking at the chart, it looks like the
6 big increase has been in the service company and
7 then also in the union base.  I'm not responsible
8 for determining head counts.  Head count is really
9 determined by the business.

10             But in preparing for this today, a
11 request was sent to recruiting to see if we could
12 get a handle, especially on the service company
13 here, on where are the increases coming from.  And
14 basically it was four major areas.  It was technical
15 support in gas and electric process and engineering,
16 IS and gas business enablement, finance in the
17 Massachusetts jurisdiction.  And again, these head
18 counts are determined in conjunction with the
19 business.
20             So I think any questions directed
21 towards the reasons for the increase in head counts
22 in the service company, and even the union base
23 here, would really be directed -- since we have an
24 IS panel, we have the GBE panel, the GSR panel -- I
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1 think any questions in terms of the reasons for the
2 head count increase would be better directed there.
3     Q.  That's still very helpful.  Thank you.
4     A.  And again, those areas that I mentioned
5 comprise about 75 percent of the head count add in
6 the service company.  So I think 40 percent was
7 attributable to the technical support areas, and
8 then another 20 percent for IS and gas business
9 enablement.
10     Q.  I'm going to ask you a few questions about
11 health care.
12     A.  Sure.
13     Q.  So the company provides health care as one
14 of its employee benefits; correct?
15     A.  Correct.
16     Q.  And after salaries, it's probably the
17 largest single employee cost.  Would you agree?
18     A.  Subject to check, but yes.
19     Q.  The company does not use an outside health
20 care insurance company to provide its health care
21 benefits; instead it self-insures.  Is that correct?
22     A.  It does, yes.
23     Q.  And do you know how long the company has
24 been self-insuring its employee health care costs?
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1     A.  I would think we might have moved at
2 different time periods for some of the unions; but
3 I'm thinking at least close to ten years.
4     Q.  Close to ten years?
5     A.  At least for a portion of the population.
6     Q.  And for the remaining population it would
7 be sometime within the last ten years?
8     A.  Yeah.
9     Q.  And the company has an outside firm manage

10 the payouts for those benefits; is that correct?
11     A.  We have different vendors, medical vendors,
12 yes.
13     Q.  Who is the company currently using to
14 manage those accounts?  Who are those vendors?
15     A.  Our major vendor is Blue Cross/Blue Shield
16 of Massachusetts.
17     Q.  And you have additional vendors?
18     A.  We just -- and that's one of the ways we
19 saved money in this past year, was looking at all
20 the vendors that we had, and we eliminated -- again,
21 this is the management population, the nonunion
22 population -- eliminated a number of the regional
23 PPO plans that we had in place.  So for the
24 management population Blue Cross now is the vendor
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1 for the three plans that we have in place.
2     Q.  And that's for the service company?
3     A.  That includes the service company, correct.
4     Q.  Does the company have any stop-loss
5 insurance for its health care plan?
6     A.  Yes, we do.
7     Q.  And could you explain the stop-loss
8 insurance that the company has for its health care
9 costs.

10     A.  Sure.  If any claims are in excess of --
11 we're insured up to any claims in excess of 2
12 million.  So if any individuals' claims go beyond 2
13 million, that would be covered.
14     Q.  And that's the only stop-loss insurance
15 that you have?
16     A.  Correct.
17     Q.  Could you please turn to your Exhibit
18 NG-MPH-10, Schedule 1.  So Schedule 1 provides the
19 calculations used to determine the nonunion working
20 rate for medical and dental costs; is that correct?
21     A.  That's correct.
22     Q.  And just for the record, what is the
23 working rate and how is it used in determining the
24 company's annual health care costs?
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1     A.  So the working rate really is something
2 that is calculated to represent what the rate would
3 be if we were fully insured.  The only difference --
4 and if we were fully insured with a vendor, they
5 would go through all of these types of calculations,
6 also.
7             The only thing that's not included with
8 the working rate -- and that's why we go
9 self-insured -- is you don't have any profit and

10 risk margins, you're not including state premium
11 taxes and also ACA taxes are not included.  And
12 that's why we've moved to self-insure, because we
13 believe we're paying the claims as they go, we pay
14 the administrative services fees, and there's a
15 savings in doing that for a company our size.  And
16 any consultant that you talk to, the savings could
17 be anywhere from a low of 5 percent to a high of
18 about 11 percent.
19     Q.  And the calculations that are included in
20 Exhibit NG-MPH-10 are for calendar year 2018; is
21 that correct?
22     A.  Yes.
23     Q.  And I think as you just discussed, the
24 working rate does not represent the actual costs
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1 that the company will incur for that year; correct?
2     A.  It's a projection of what it will cost.
3 Again, the same thing you'd do with the working
4 rate -- not the working rate, but if you were fully
5 insured with the premiums you would be paying.  So
6 it's representative of that.
7     Q.  So it's more like an estimate or a
8 placeholder to accrue costs during the year?
9     A.  It's -- just as if you were fully insured,
10 the premium you're paying is an estimate of what's
11 going to happen.
12     Q.  So the actual costs can be higher or lower
13 than the working rate?
14     A.  That's true -- and again, just as a fully
15 insured plan, the premium you paid, that that could
16 be higher or lower than it should be -- or the
17 actual.
18     Q.  Could you please turn to Page 1 of Schedule
19 1 of this exhibit, NG-MPH-10.
20     A.  Yes.
21     Q.  And this schedule indicates that the
22 calculation is for management population; correct?
23     A.  That's correct.
24     Q.  And that's referring to all nonunion
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1 employees?
2     A.  That's correct.
3     Q.  Would there be anyone else considered
4 management population?
5     A.  No, so it's all our nonunion.  We use those
6 terms interchangeably.
7     Q.  Does that term refer to the nonunion
8 employees at both the service company and the
9 distribution company?

10     A.  Yes.
11     Q.  Looking at the schedule, it appears the
12 analysis is done separately for the medical costs,
13 which are in the first column of numbers, and the
14 drug costs, which are in the second column of
15 numbers; is that correct?
16     A.  That's correct.
17     Q.  Lines 1 through 4 indicate that the base
18 year for the analysis is 2016; is that correct?
19     A.  That's correct.
20     Q.  And Line 4 has the actual claims paid for
21 2016; correct?
22     A.  Correct.
23     Q.  After some adjustments, there's an amount
24 that appears on Line 15 that says historical claims,
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1 quote, "PEPY."  Is that correct?
2     A.  Correct.
3     Q.  Does that refer to per employee per year?
4     A.  That's correct.
5     Q.  So that amount provides the per-employee
6 cost base derived from actual results from 2016;
7 correct?
8     A.  That's correct.
9     Q.  And that number for 2016 is then used to
10 determine the forecasted cost per employee per year
11 for calendar year 2018; correct?
12     A.  Correct.
13     Q.  Just to get some more information:  When
14 you use the term "per employee per year," is that an
15 average number, meaning it's not taking into account
16 if the employee is single or if that employee has
17 dependents that are using the insurance?
18     A.  Those factors are built into all of these
19 calculations, but that's -- in that particular
20 number, that's just taking all the claims and then
21 dividing by the number of employees.
22     Q.  On the next four lines, Lines 17 through
23 20, the calculation takes annual inflation rates of
24 6.8 percent for medical costs and 11.3 percent for

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

RIPUC Docket No. 4770
Attachment DIV 7-49-262

Page 10 of 32

181



 DPU 17-170 - National Grid - Vol. 4 - 5/7/2018

FARMER ARSENAULT BROCK LLC

11

308

1 drug costs, to arrive at projected claims per
2 employee per year on Line 20; correct?
3     A.  That's correct.
4     Q.  And you can see there on Line 19 that the
5 company is proposing a 14 percent increase in the
6 test year level of medical costs; is that correct?
7     A.  That's the trend rate.  But if you go
8 through here, you'll see also there's a lot of
9 adjustments in terms of the savings that we've
10 achieved and what we think will flow through in
11 2018.  So it's not saying that the costs are going
12 to be in totality going up 14 percent.  But that is
13 the trend rate.
14             There's a couple of line items that I
15 could point you to.  Line 11, so that .942 factor is
16 saying roughly that we have savings of 5.8 percent
17 that were in the 2017 plan year.  So that's being
18 subtracted out.  So that's why that factor of .942
19 is there.
20             And then also the same thing to bring it
21 forward to 2018:  All the savings by all the things
22 that we are doing that we think will take place in
23 2018, there's another factor on the next page, Line
24 1A, .958, and we're saying we think we'll be
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1 achieving a 4.2 percent savings.
2             So that 6.8 is a general trend.  So that
3 6.8 compounded does bring you to that 14 percent.
4 But we need to look at everything to see, okay,
5 we're not saying that the costs are going to go up
6 14 percent.
7     Q.  And is the same true for the 24 percent
8 increase in drug costs that you see there?
9     A.  That's correct, because if you look at that
10 same line item for RX on Line 11, again, in 2017,
11 achieving a savings of approximately 5.8 percent.
12 And then looking at that same line item on 1A on the
13 next page, Page 2 of 6, that .815 percent factor,
14 that's showing, because we just renegotiated our CVS
15 contract, and the level of rebates that we're going
16 to be getting back and also the different drug
17 programs that we've put in place.  You can see we're
18 thinking -- not thinking; the actuarial value of
19 that is an 18 percent reduction on the RX.
20             So really when you look at the
21 bottom-line number, if you look at that page 2 of 6,
22 the Total column, and the very bottom of the Total
23 column, we're saying the total PEPY of 17,523,
24 that's comparing to the 2016, which is not on this
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1 chart, of 16,853.
2             So when you go through all of these
3 calculations, at the end of the day the per-employee
4 cost is going up roughly 4 percent from 2016 to
5 2018.
6     Q.  So do you see on Line 15 of the first page
7 on the schedule for historical claims per employee
8 per year the total is 15,543?
9     A.  I'm sorry, what line?

10     Q.  Line 15.
11     A.  Oh, yes.
12     Q.  So is that the actual cost?
13     A.  No, that's taking into account -- because,
14 again, we're starting with 2016.  And then on Line
15 Item 11 we're adjusting it -- not we, the actuary is
16 adjusting it -- for different plan design changes
17 and plan migration and those types of things that
18 happen in 2017.  So that's bringing, I believe --
19 but I would have to check -- the 2017 number, the
20 15,000.  But I'd have to check that.
21     Q.  So Line 11 is accounting for plan
22 factor/demographic change; is that correct?
23     A.  Correct, and that could be looking at what
24 the average age has changed to in 2017; migration of
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1 plans, so employees moving from our EPO plan to our
2 CEHP plans; and also taking into account different
3 plan design changes that were made within the plans,
4 whether it be a co-pay or a deductible change, an
5 out-of-pocket max change, those types of things.
6     Q.  And these are the types of things that
7 occur every year typically?
8     A.  Well, we made a lot of changes this past
9 year, coming into 2018.  But typically we always are
10 looking at how do we provide the best medical plans
11 to our employees while also keeping a critical eye
12 on containing costs.
13     Q.  So on the second page, under projected
14 total costs, Line 1, 1A, you have a plan factor for
15 2018.  Can you describe what that is?
16     A.  Yeah.  So again, the plan factor -- so
17 we're reducing that .958, which is roughly a 4.2
18 percent savings that we're projected in plan year
19 2018.
20             And again, that's due to the same
21 factors we just talked about:  plan migration, plan
22 design changes.  But again, we made a lot of changes
23 for 2018, so we eliminated the PPOs.  We introduced
24 a new consumer-driven health plan.  We had one
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1 already; we introduced another CEHP plan.  We
2 introduced four tiers for our contribution rates.
3             So there's a number of things that are
4 happening in 2018, and this is what the actuaries
5 came up with, what they think is the actuarial value
6 of all those changes and how it will affect claims
7 in 2018.
8     Q.  So these are the same types of changes that
9 you just described, that would be the plan-factor-

10 slash-demographic changes?
11     A.  Right, except the first one on Line 11 is
12 bringing you from '16 through '17 -- or to the '17
13 plan year, and now this one is bringing us forward
14 to 2018.
15     Q.  So it includes demographic changes.
16     A.  Correct.
17     Q.  A minute ago you said that the company has
18 been self-insuring its employee health care benefits
19 for about ten years; correct?
20     A.  Yes.
21     Q.  So has it been using this working rate
22 methodology for those ten years?
23     A.  Yes.  Anytime you have a self-insured plan,
24 you have to use some type of working rate.

313

1     Q.  Since the company has established these
2 working rates, have they used the assistance of a
3 consultant?
4     A.  Yes.
5     Q.  And does the company ever review the
6 forecasts to determine how reliable they are?  Do
7 you ever compare the forecasts to the actuals?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  And what has that analysis found?

10     A.  Off the top of my head, I couldn't talk to
11 the numbers.
12     Q.  Do you know if the company does that type
13 of analysis regularly?
14     A.  Usually every -- annually.
15     Q.  Could you provide a copy of the most recent
16 analysis in a response to a record request?
17     A.  Yes.
18     Q.  Could I please make a record request for
19 the most recent analysis comparing the forecast
20 working rates to the actual costs?
21     A.  Yes.
22     Q.  Thank you.
23             MS. PIEPER:  That's going to be AG-6.
24 And you understand what she's looking for?
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1             THE WITNESS:  Yes, I do.
2             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.
3             (Record Request AG-6.)
4     Q.  Now, Ms. Heaphy, you testified in the
5 company's electric base-rate case here in
6 Massachusetts, docketed as DPU 15-155; correct?
7     A.  Correct.
8     Q.  And in that case the company also used a
9 working rate to estimate the cost of employee health

10 care costs; correct?
11     A.  Correct.
12     Q.  And the company would have done a nonunion
13 calculation for its employees similar to that which
14 you have here in your Schedule 1 to Exhibit
15 NG-MPH-10; correct?
16     A.  Correct.
17     Q.  In that case the projected health care
18 costs that the company forecasted were for calendar
19 year 2016; is that correct?
20     A.  I believe, subject to check, yes.
21     Q.  So at least for nonunion costs you can
22 compare the company's forecasts from that last case
23 to actuals; is that correct?
24     A.  Correct.

315

1     Q.  Can you tell us what the forecast working
2 rate for nonunion employees was from the
3 Massachusetts Electric Company case in DPU 15-155?
4     A.  I don't recall.
5     Q.  If I made a record request, could you
6 provide the projected claims per employee per year
7 for medical and drug costs?
8     A.  Yes.
9     Q.  Could I make that a record request, please.

10             MS. KIMBALL:  I just want to clarify:
11 You just said projected claims, and you're saying
12 forecasts.  But is the projected claims the same
13 thing as the working rate?  Or is what you're
14 looking for just what is the working rate versus the
15 actual experience?
16             MS. ANDERSON:  I'm looking for the
17 working rate.  So thank you for that clarification,
18 yes.  I'm looking for the working rate per employee
19 per year for medical and RX separately for nonunion
20 employees from the DPU 15-155 rate case, please.
21             MS. PIEPER:  And is that not in the rate
22 case order, or is it not an exhibit in that case, in
23 that docket?
24             MS. ANDERSON:  Not that we know of.
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1             MS. KIMBALL:  Well, of course it is.
2 But I thought what you were asking for -- that's why
3 I'm trying to make sure we're using the right term.
4 So I thought you said what would be in the rate case
5 is the working rate for whatever year was the -- for
6 the post-test-year adjustment, which would have been
7 probably '17.  But I thought you were saying you
8 wanted to know what that looked like versus the
9 actual experience.

10             MS. ANDERSON:  That's right.
11             MS. KIMBALL:  So the actual experience
12 would not be in the rate case, only the working
13 rate.
14             MS. ANDERSON:  Right, exactly.
15             MS. KIMBALL:  I just want to make sure
16 we have the right terminology so we get you the
17 right information.
18             MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.
19             MS. PIEPER:  I'm really not
20 understanding.  Do you understand?
21             MS. KIMBALL:  I do.  It's not important
22 if I do.
23     A.  There's a similar exhibit on working rates
24 in that rate case, so it's looking at, okay, what
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1 has actually happened versus that working rate.
2     Q.  Yes.
3             MS. PIEPER:  And that's referring to
4 Docket 15-155, which was the last rate case on the
5 electric side.
6             MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.
7             MS. PIEPER:  That's going to be AG-7.
8             (Record Request AG-7.)
9             MS. ANDERSON:  Could we have one more
10 second?  I apologize.
11     Q.  Ms. Heaphy, just to confirm:  On Schedule 1
12 of your NG-MPH-10, Page 2, Line D, of the projected
13 total costs, there's the revised claims total
14 number, and that's before the administrative costs
15 are factored in.
16     A.  Correct.
17     Q.  Would that be the best figure to compare to
18 the actual?
19     A.  I don't think so.  I think those revised
20 claims, again, is using all these factors applied
21 for 17.  I don't believe it's the actual claims.
22 But subject to check on that, because this is all
23 proposed by our actuaries.
24     Q.  This is the projected number, so it's not
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1 the actual.  So would it be the best -- when we're
2 comparing the working rate versus the actual costs?
3     A.  I believe so, but subject to check on that.
4     Q.  And would a number similar to the
5 revised-claims number that we see here, would that
6 be part of your response to the record request?
7 Will we receive a similar number?
8     A.  I believe so, but subject to check, again,
9 in terms of what was in the last rate case.

10     Q.  Thank you.
11             MS. ANDERSON:  That's all the questions
12 that I have for the witness, subject to recross.
13             MS. PIEPER:  We have some questions, but
14 I'd like to take a short break.  Let's go off the
15 record and take a five-minute break.
16             (Recess taken.)
17             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
18 record.  Mr. Pareto?
19             BENCH EXAMINATION
20 BY MR. PARETO:
21     Q.  Good morning, Ms. Heaphy.
22     A.  Good morning.
23     Q.  Nor the first question, if you could go to
24 Exhibit DPU-NG-26-8, Attachment 1.
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1     A.  Okay, I have that one.
2     Q.  For the record, could you please clarify
3 whether this salary increase applies also on the
4 officers?
5     A.  I believe it does.
6     Q.  Now if we could go to Information Request
7 AG-1-36, please.
8     A.  Okay, I have that one.
9     Q.  Thank you.  At the bottom the company
10 mentions that they will provide updated information
11 for 2017 after year end.  Has this information been
12 provided yet?
13     A.  Can I confer with colleagues, please?
14     Q.  Yes, please.
15     A.  I don't believe it has.
16     Q.  I would like to issue a record request to
17 provide this information.
18     A.  Sure.
19     Q.  Thank you.
20             MS. PIEPER:  That's provide an update to
21 AG-1-36 for 2017, and it's going to be Record
22 Request DPU-3.
23             (Record Request DPU-3.)
24     Q.  So for the same exhibit, if we could go to
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1 Attachment 14, please.
2     A.  I only have the bulk attachment.  I'll have
3 to get the actual attachment.
4             Okay, I believe I have it.
5     Q.  Thank you.  This question applies both to
6 Boston Gas as well as Colonial Gas.  If we look at
7 Employee ID No. 6, the annual base pay here is
8 $50,440.  Is that an accurate number?
9     A.  I believe it is.

10     Q.  And for incentive compensation for ID
11 No. 3, here it's listed as zero.
12     A.  Yes, I see that.
13     Q.  Would you be able to explain why it's zero,
14 when everybody else has 50, 60 thousand or more?
15     A.  I'm only guessing here:  It could be
16 someone that was hired a couple of months into the
17 year wouldn't have a payout.  But subject to check;
18 I'm just guessing.
19     Q.  Thanks.  So also regarding Dane's testimony
20 on Friday:  He mentioned that a fraction of National
21 Grid's variable pay is due to customer service
22 commission.  I'm hoping you could elaborate just a
23 little bit more on this.  Would you know what the
24 percentage of the variable pay is attributed to
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1 commission of total?
2     A.  I don't know.  I'd have to follow up and
3 get you that information.
4     Q.  Okay, thank you.  And you also wouldn't
5 know the amounts; is that correct?
6     A.  No, I don't.
7     Q.  Okay.  I would like to issue a record
8 request for this, please.
9             MS. PIEPER:  So that's to get both the

10 percentage and the amount of the variable pay that's
11 attributable to the commission portion for 2016, and
12 that's Record Request DPU-4.
13             (Record Request DPU-4.)
14     Q.  So regarding Information Request
15 DPU-NG-24-14.
16     A.  24-14?
17     Q.  Yes.
18     A.  I have that.
19     Q.  So it mentions at the end of the first
20 paragraph and at the end of the second paragraph
21 that Mercer provides significant -- is able to
22 negotiate savings for National Grid and results in
23 savings.  Would you be able to specify:  In relation
24 to what?  Is it in relation to the competitors, in
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1 relation to prior years?
2     A.  It's a combination of things.  So Mercer
3 has a great understanding of the marketplace and a
4 lot of resources in terms of what's happening in the
5 marketplace.  So they have a good handle on other
6 PBMs out there, pharmacy benefit managers, and what
7 other companies are getting in terms of rebates in
8 their contracts, where the wholesale prices work --
9 so the whole configuration of the plan.

10             They also sponsor a collective
11 purchasing coalition, and a lot of leverage they can
12 use from that purchasing coalition, and that
13 leverage was used when we were negotiating back and
14 forth with Caremark.
15     Q.  Okay, so you would -- it would be safe to
16 say that it's savings relative to, again,
17 competitors as well as over time.
18     A.  Correct.
19     Q.  Would you be able to quantify the savings
20 that Mercer has provided to National Grid and its
21 employees with these negotiations?
22     A.  This is actually factored into the working
23 rate, so that exhibit that I went through earlier.
24 And it shows on the RX portion of the working rate
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1 the factor -- I think it was -- offhand, I don't
2 remember now.  I think it was about 18 percent --
3 but not on the total premium, just specific to RX.
4     Q.  Correct, okay.  And would you happen to
5 know --
6     A.  And I'm sorry, the 18 percent is not just
7 what we contracted with CVS; it's also different
8 programs we put in place with employees.
9     Q.  Okay, thanks.  So next, if you could go to

10 Information Request DPU-NG-24-16.
11     A.  Okay, I have that one.
12     Q.  So I was looking at this attachment as well
13 as Attachment AG-1-51, Attachment 1.
14     A.  Okay, I have that one.
15     Q.  I was looking at these attachments, and I
16 noticed that there was a very large fluctuation in
17 costs -- not just the total costs, but also costs
18 per employee -- particularly with the service
19 company as well as Boston Gas.  Would you be able to
20 elaborate as to why this is the case?
21     A.  It could be a number of things.  It could
22 be, obviously, utilization.  So you can have --
23 where you have a few high claimants in a year, that
24 could always amend your numbers up.  Also, the
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1 composition of family could change.  We had a number
2 of new hires in the plan.  The family member count
3 has increased.  So that could justify some of it.
4             The other thing to know is that these
5 numbers here by finance -- and they're net of
6 employees and net of contributions.  So I'm not sure
7 if, say, capitalization rates have changed over the
8 years, and if that has any impact.
9             So, again, it's not the O&M portion of

10 the claims.
11     Q.  And does the company have any initiatives
12 to reduce its volatility?
13     A.  We always strive to keep track of the
14 marketplace and provide our employees with a
15 market-competitive package, and in doing so, what
16 are the ways that we can contain costs?  So we're
17 always looking to contain costs as much as possible.
18             So I think I've gone through some of the
19 things we've done.  We've been on the consumerism
20 journey.  We've brought in different consumer-driven
21 health plans for our employees, to really change
22 their behaviors and the way they look at medical, so
23 they can take costs into account and try to get the
24 best outcomes, try to give them decisionmaking tools
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1 to do that.  We have health and wellness programs in
2 place.
3             So we have a myriad of things that we've
4 been doing to really have a healthier workforce and,
5 you know, curb our costs at the same time.
6     Q.  Thank you.  The next question relates to
7 DPU-NG-24-16.
8     A.  24-16.  I have that one.
9     Q.  Wait, no, sorry; that's not right.
10     A.  Same one as before.
11     Q.  Sorry.  The next question actually doesn't
12 have an exhibit but it's more of a general question.
13 Because the companies self-insure their health care
14 costs, has the company ever challenged bills to
15 ensure that it's accurate, and if not, what policies
16 does National Grid have to ensure accuracy of the
17 bills, medical bills?
18     A.  That's done in another area of the company.
19 I can get that information.  But the bills that come
20 in I believe are scrutinized to make sure there's
21 nothing amiss when they come in.
22     Q.  I'd like to issue a record request, please.
23             That's fine.  Don't worry about it.
24             Just for clarification on something you
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1 commented earlier today:  So for the record,
2 regarding the stop loss, could you please clarify
3 what happens if the claims exceed the $2 million
4 stop loss?
5     A.  If they exceed the $2 million stop loss,
6 we're not paying that amount.  So National Grid will
7 not be paying that.
8     Q.  So you pay zero.
9     A.  Correct, in excess of the 2 million.

10 BY MR. HALL:
11     Q.  Sorry, just to be clear:  So if a claim
12 came in and it was 5 million, National Grid would
13 pay the first 2, the insurance would pay the
14 additional 3.
15     A.  Correct.
16 BY MR. PARETO:
17     Q.  Oh, okay.  Thank you.  And now
18 DPU-NG-24-13.
19     A.  What was the last dash?
20     Q.  I'm sorry?
21     A.  24-dash?
22     Q.  13.
23     A.  I don't believe I have that one.
24             Okay, I have that.
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1     Q.  This response addresses why the company
2 does not have specific medical and different
3 reserves, but rather has reserves for incurred but
4 not reported incidents under the general reserves.
5 Would you be able to clarify for the record what the
6 difference is between the general reserves and the
7 specific reserves?
8     A.  I'm sorry, this is the first time I've seen
9 this.  I'm just reading through it.
10     Q.  It was issued by George Carlin.
11     A.  I don't think I could answer that question.
12     Q.  Would you know who would be able to provide
13 this information?
14     A.  I would believe it would be finance.
15             MS. PIEPER:  Would Mr. Dane be able to
16 answer the question when we go back?  He's here
17 later today.
18             MS. KIMBALL:  Possibly.  We'll check on
19 that.  There's a person that supports Mr. Dane that
20 we might have to confer with, and he's not here.
21 But we'll work on it before.
22             MS. PIEPER:  Okay.
23             MR. PARETO:  That's all I have.  Thank
24 you.
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1             MS. PIEPER:  That's all the Department
2 has.  Do you have any further?
3             MS. ANDERSON:  I just had a couple, two
4 followup questions on what you were just discussing,
5 if that's okay.
6              FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION
7 BY MS. ANDERSON:
8     Q.  Just going back to DPU-NG-24-16 and the
9 response, the attachment to AG-1-51.  In each of

10 those attachments there's a per-employee -- I'm
11 sorry, in each of those attachments there's a number
12 of employees listed.  Is that number based on an
13 average for that year, or is it based on the
14 year-end count?
15     A.  I don't know for sure.  I would have to
16 check on that.
17     Q.  If you go to AG-1-44, Attachment 1.
18     A.  Yes, I have that.
19     Q.  And if you go to Page 7 of 8 for 2016
20 employee count.
21     A.  Yes.
22     Q.  And the total count at the year end for
23 2016, do you know what that was between management
24 and union?
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1     A.  December of 2016?
2     Q.  Yes.
3     A.  1,058, combining management and union.
4     Q.  If you go to Attachment AG-151-1, Page 1 of
5 4 -- AG-1-51, Attachment 1.
6     A.  Yes, I have that.
7     Q.  Page 1 of 4, at the bottom of that page,
8 the number of employees for 2016 is listed as 1091;
9 correct?

10     A.  Correct.
11     Q.  That's slightly higher than the total that
12 we have as the employee count for AG-1-44-1, Page 7.
13     A.  Correct.
14     Q.  Do you know why that is?
15     A.  No, I do not.  It could be at the time that
16 it was a run off the system.  These numbers are
17 coming from finance, the AG-1-51, so I'd have to see
18 how those counts are derived.
19     Q.  If you look at AG-44, Attachment 1, for
20 each month prior to December the employee count was
21 less than 1058; correct?
22     A.  Correct.
23     Q.  If you could just -- do you need to do a
24 record request, or would there be a way for you to
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1 get the information about why there is a disparity
2 between those two numbers?
3     A.  I don't think we'd be able to do that now.
4     Q.  Could I ask for a record request for that
5 information, please?
6     A.  Sure.
7     Q.  Thank you.
8             MS. PIEPER:  I just want to make sure I
9 have it right.  So it's to explain the disparity

10 between the employee numbers on AG-1-44, Attachment
11 1, and AG-1-51, Attachment 1, and that's for 2016?
12             MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, correct.  Thank you.
13             MS. PIEPER:  That's going to be AG-8.
14             (Record Request AG-8.)
15     Q.  I just have one other question.  You talked
16 about scrutinizing some of the bills that the
17 company pays for insurance purposes.  Do you know
18 whether or not Blue Cross/Blue Shield applies any
19 scrutiny to the bills that are passed on to the
20 company?
21     A.  Yes, definitely.
22     Q.  And what is it that they do?
23     A.  I don't know the details of what they do,
24 but it's built into our -- you know, they have --
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1 part of their service that they provide to us is to
2 scrutinize and then go through different audit-type
3 procedures for the bills that are passed on.
4     Q.  That's all.  Thank you very much.
5             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.  Do you have any
6 questions?
7             MS. DECTER:  I have one very brief
8 question.
9                  CROSS-EXAMINATION
10 BY MS. DECTER:
11     Q.  If you could refer to an exhibit to your
12 testimony, NG-MPH-7.
13     A.  Okay, I have that.
14     Q.  And if you look at the very first -- the
15 first row, which is management, where it says
16 regional and then management under affiliation.  Do
17 you see that?
18     A.  Yes.
19     Q.  I'm curious, if I could draw your attention
20 to the 2015 increase and effective date column for
21 that first line.  I'm wondering if you can explain
22 the variation between 2015 and each of the other
23 years for management compensation.
24     A.  Sure.  So in 2015, even though the
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1 marketplace was at probably a 2.9 percent, 3 percent
2 salary increase level for nonunion employees, the
3 company took the position from an affordability
4 perspective not to grant a salary increase, the
5 general merit increase.  And the .43 -- I would have
6 to go back -- is comprised of career path
7 progressions and some market adjustments.  But that
8 overall general merit increase for management
9 employees was not given in 2015.
10     Q.  So the merit pool that you described
11 earlier in your discussion with the Attorney
12 General's Office, is there any cost-of-living
13 variable or inflationary variable in that, or is
14 that --
15             What are the variables that go into
16 that?
17     A.  So we look at different survey sources that
18 are provided, and the six or seven sources that we
19 look at, to see, okay, what are companies doing in
20 terms of merit increases.  And some of it includes
21 cost-of-living increases.  The actual derivation of
22 what amounts to that I don't know offhand.
23     Q.  Can you tell me what the other variables
24 are in considering what your pool should be for any
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1 given year?
2     A.  Again, we use those surveys.  So we look at
3 those surveys and say, okay, the marketplace is
4 using a certain level of increase for their
5 employees, and we go on the average of those
6 surveys.
7     Q.  I see.  I want to draw your attention to
8 another one of your exhibits.  This is NG-MPH-6.
9     A.  Okay, I have that.
10     Q.  When you're talking about looking at the
11 market and the number of factors, is this what
12 you're talking about, in thinking about setting the
13 pool?  Or are you thinking about something
14 different?
15     A.  This is one of the sources, and I believe
16 this is Willis Towers Watson.  So this would be one
17 of the sources, but not all of them.
18     Q.  What are the other sources you use to
19 determine nonunion -- the nonunion compensation
20 pool?
21     A.  There are other -- we have Aon surveys --
22 Aon Hewitt surveys, Mercer surveys, World at Work
23 surveys, SHRM surveys, and there's another one, too,
24 I'm not remembering.
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1     Q.  So I'd like to make a record request for
2 each year between -- actually, just for the rate
3 year -- strike that -- for the test year, 2016, for
4 all compensation surveys used in calculating
5 nonunion compensation.
6     A.  For 2016?
7     Q.  For 2016.
8             MS. PIEPER:  Those weren't provided as
9 an information-request response?

10             MS. KIMBALL:  I'm just thinking:  You're
11 looking for her to list what was used?  We've
12 submitted these surveys.
13             MS. DECTER:  You can reference where
14 they were -- which information-request response they
15 were.
16             MS. KIMBALL:  We don't need a record
17 request for us to tell you where it is in the
18 record.  I'm happy to -- or maybe Ms. Heaphy can
19 even answer that.
20             THE WITNESS:  May I just confer with my
21 colleagues?
22             MS. PIEPER:  Sure.
23     A.  AG-17-5.
24     Q.  Thank you.  I appreciate that.  Just going
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1 back to our discussion earlier:  You said that for
2 2015 the increase was -- the 2015 increase for
3 nonunion managers was based on affordability.  I was
4 wondering if you could just explain what you meant
5 by that.
6     A.  So every year when we're looking at what
7 the salary increases should be for our nonunion
8 population, again, we look at the marketplace and we
9 look at those surveys and see what the marketplace
10 is doing.  But, of course, it's also in terms of
11 controlling costs at the same time, is it something
12 that the company can afford in a given year.  And
13 the decision was made in that given year we would
14 not give increases.
15     Q.  Why would you do that?  What specific
16 factors went into determining that the company was
17 not giving increases to its nonunion managers in
18 2016?
19     A.  That was an executive decision that was
20 made.
21     Q.  Who would have made the decision to give --
22 to give or not to give nonunion managers increases
23 in 2015?
24     A.  So it would be the top leadership of the
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1 company.
2     Q.  Boston Gas and Colonial Gas or the holding
3 company?
4     A.  The entire U.S. company.
5             MS. DECTER:  Thank you.  That's all I
6 have.
7             MS. PIEPER:  Do you have further
8 questions?
9             MS. ANDERSON:  Could I have one more
10 followup question?
11             MS. PIEPER:  Sure.
12              FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION
13 BY MS. ANDERSON:
14     Q.  Ms. Heaphy, you were just talking about
15 Exhibit NG-MPH-6, and one page in that exhibit.
16     A.  Yes.
17     Q.  Just to be clear for the record:  The
18 budget increases that are reflected on this exhibit,
19 are those based on budgeted increases or on the
20 actual increases paid out?
21     A.  This page I believe is survey data from
22 Willis Towers Watson, and some of these, the earlier
23 years, are actuals, and 2018, that is projected.
24     Q.  Thank you.
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1     A.  You're welcome.
2     Q.  So just to be clear, everything prior to
3 2018 are actuals?
4     A.  I believe so.
5     Q.  And 2018 --
6     A.  Projected, yeah.
7     Q.  Even though the title of the page is Budget
8 Increases?
9     A.  I believe so -- again, subject to check.
10     Q.  So I guess the thing that we're kind of
11 stuck on is the budget increases for each year for
12 management is 3 percent.  So it would consistently
13 have been 3 percent actual?
14     A.  I believe so, but again, subject to check.
15     Q.  Do you know why the term "budget" is used
16 for the title?
17     A.  Again, subject -- I'd have to check.
18     Q.  Thank you.
19             MS. KIMBALL:  I just have a couple of
20 questions.
21             MS. PIEPER:  All right.
22                REDIRECT EXAMINATION
23 BY MS. KIMBALL:
24     Q.  Ms. Heaphy, do you recall that a couple of
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1 record requests were posed by the Attorney General's
2 Office asking for the historical working rate versus
3 the actual claims in the year for certain years?
4     A.  Yes.
5     Q.  Could you just explain to me:  Do you
6 consider the working rate to be a forecast?  Is that
7 what it's intended to serve as, a forecast?
8     A.  It's intended to come up with a rate that
9 is equivalent to a rate that would be in place if we

10 were fully insured.
11     Q.  Is it ever reconciled to an actual in any
12 way?
13     A.  It's normally not reconciled.  I mean, just
14 like when you have -- you keep track of things and
15 see what your increases are from year to year, but
16 it's not normally reconciled, just like you're not
17 reconciling a fully insured product, either.
18             MS. KIMBALL:  That's all I have.
19             MS. PIEPER:  Okay.  Do the intervenors
20 have any followup on that tiny redirect?
21             MS. ANDERSON:  We might have one
22 followup.
23             RECROSS-EXAMINATION
24 BY MS. ANDERSON:
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1     Q.  So Ms. Heaphy, based on what you just said,
2 when the company does the budget for the next year,
3 for the future costs, what does it use to estimate
4 those health care costs?
5     A.  We use our working rates.
6     Q.  Thank you.
7             MS. PIEPER:  Further redirect?
8             MS. KIMBALL:  All set.
9             MS. PIEPER:  We are done with this
10 witness.  Thank you very much.  Let's go off the
11 record while we switch witnesses.
12             (Discussion off the record.)
13             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go on the record.
14 Mr. Dane, I would remind you that you remain sworn.
15             The Attorney General may proceed.
16             MS. ANDERSON:  We do not have any
17 questions for Mr. Dane today.
18             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go off the record for
19 a second.
20             (Recess taken.)
21             MS. PIEPER:  Let's go back on the
22 record.  Mr. Wagner, you may proceed.
23                   DANIEL S. DANE,
24 being first duly sworn or affirmed to testify to the
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1 truth, the whole truth, and nothing but the truth,
2 was examined and testified as follows:
3             BENCH EXAMINATION
4 BY MR. WAGNER:
5     Q.  Good morning, Mr. Dane.
6     A.  Good morning.
7     Q.  Does the company have any letter campaigns
8 or outreach initiatives to encourage hardship
9 customers to enroll in payment programs?
10     A.  My understanding is the company has an
11 arrearage management program that's hardship-
12 protected accounts -- individuals with hardship-
13 protected accounts are able to enroll in.  I'm not
14 familiar with what campaigns it may have to
15 encourage that enrollment, but I am aware of the
16 program.
17     Q.  Do you know what kinds of other
18 communications the company has with customers who
19 have hardship account balances over 360 days?
20             MS. KIMBALL:  Could I interrupt for a
21 moment?  I did miss one thing.  We were planning on
22 bringing -- we had talked about pricing; in another
23 section we had talked about pricing being able to
24 talk about bad debt and hardship issues.  So we were
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1 planning on the 14th, with pricing, to bring people
2 that would know about the collections and all this
3 process.
4             MS. PIEPER:  So you think they would be
5 better suited to answer these questions?
6             MS. KIMBALL:  We'll have the actual
7 company people here who do these types of things.
8             MS. PIEPER:  So that's Monday, the 14th.
9             MS. KIMBALL:  With the pricing panel.

10     Q.  Please refer to Exhibit DPU-NG-23-14,
11 Attachment 1.
12     A.  Okay, I have that.
13     Q.  In this attachment the company calculated
14 inflation allowance as one item instead of including
15 it in multiple parts of the O&M.  Does the company
16 intend to include this inflation allowance of
17 5,511,533 in their next revised cost-of-service
18 schedules?
19     A.  Just to clarify:  This table was put
20 together per this request, asking the inflation
21 allowance as calculated throughout the revenue
22 requirement, to put it into a tabular format,
23 similar to something that had been provided in a
24 previous case.
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1     Q.  Yes.
2     A.  And so that's what we did here, was to lay
3 it out in a format that allows the reader to see
4 where the inflation flows throughout the revenue
5 requirement.
6             And the amount per the revenue
7 requirement -- I'm just referring to the schedule
8 here -- should be this Line No. 41, which is company
9 amount per Schedule 3, Page 4.  And that's slightly

10 different than the inflation allowance as calculated
11 per that previous iteration from another case of
12 this table.
13             My only further clarification on this is
14 that this response was provided prior to our
15 revisions to the revenue requirement, and certain of
16 those may affect the overall calculation of
17 inflation in the model.  So it would be -- there's a
18 number similar to the amount from Line 41 here, but
19 it would have changed somewhat through that revised
20 revenue requirement process.
21     Q.  In the next Schedule 2 O&M calculation,
22 does the company plan on providing the inflation
23 allowance per this calculation, or the way they had
24 it in the initial filing, broken up into a number of
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1 inflation allowances?
2     A.  We can certainly provide it in a format
3 similar to this.  Right now this isn't part of the
4 revenue requirement model, but this takes inputs
5 from that model.  So this is something that we could
6 fairly readily amend or append to that model to
7 provide in this format.
8     Q.  Would it be more convenient to get this in
9 a record request or to wait until the next set of
10 revised schedules and just provide it then?
11     A.  We can do it either way.  It's probably
12 more efficient for us to do it as part of that
13 second revision to the revenue requirement, but it
14 would be up to what is better for you, I think.
15             MS. PIEPER:  Our plan is -- and I think
16 we discussed this briefly last week -- that we would
17 want a complete cost-of-service revenue requirement
18 update at the end of hearings, so that people can
19 use it for briefing purposes.  And everybody agrees
20 with that.
21             MS. KIMBALL:  Sure.
22             MS. PIEPER:  So with that same -- when
23 you provide that, you also want it similar to this
24 table?
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1             MR. WAGNER:  Yes.
2             MS. PIEPER:  We won't issue a record
3 request.  It will just be a part of what you
4 provide.
5             THE WITNESS:  Yes.
6             MS. PIEPER:  Thank you.
7     Q.  A couple of questions for clarification:
8 Does the overall inflation allowance in this
9 attachment account for all of the inflation

10 calculations done in the initial filing?
11     A.  This accounts for those items where
12 inflation was applied as the known and measurable
13 adjustment.  There may be some other schedules in
14 which inflation plays a role in addressing certain
15 costs.  These are the parts of the revenue
16 requirement in which that constituted the known and
17 measurable adjustment.
18     Q.  And so all of those known and measurable
19 adjustments would be removed if this was included?
20     A.  To clarify:  The company's proposal is
21 to -- our proposal was to include inflation as it
22 was in the revenue requirement.  This table just
23 presents it differently.  So the goal wasn't
24 necessarily to remove it from, for instance, Lines
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1 28 to 33 from this schedule.  It was to update that
2 in the second revised cost of service, to represent
3 whatever was the most current numbers from those
4 schedules.
5     Q.  Has the company demonstrated on the record
6 the cost containment measures undertaken since the
7 company's last rate case?
8     A.  I know there are specific examples of that.
9 For instance, Ms. Heaphy was just speaking to

10 overall health care expense and the company's
11 programs there.  We also provided some evidence
12 about the company's insurance programs and the
13 benchmarking that it does within those programs.
14             So I think there are individual examples
15 on the record of efforts the company has taken to
16 contain costs.
17     Q.  Please refer to DPU-NG-23-4.
18     A.  Okay.
19     Q.  This line of questioning is regarding the
20 company's proposal for a property tax exogenous
21 factor mechanism.
22             Is the company familiar with the
23 Department precedent discussed in DPU 12-25 that
24 exogenous cost recovery mechanisms are typically
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1 appropriate for utilities operating under a
2 long-term rate plan?  I have a copy of the relevant
3 section of DPU 12-25, if that would be helpful.
4     A.  That would be helpful.
5             Just give me one moment.  I'm just going
6 to review the section in my testimony.
7             Okay.
8     Q.  Does the company believe that the proposed
9 property tax mechanism falls under the category of
10 an exogenous cost recovery mechanism?
11     A.  From my understanding, the purpose of the
12 mechanism is for costs that are beyond the company's
13 control, subject to certain thresholds and then
14 further subject to potential credit for abatement
15 costs related to property taxes.
16             I don't know exactly the Department's
17 definition of exogenous cost recovery mechanisms.  I
18 do see here the language that you said in your
19 question.  I think that the focus of the exogenous
20 cost factor is on that -- the costs are beyond the
21 company's control and potentially significant, with
22 Towns that are moving to this alternative form or
23 approach to assessing property taxes.
24             And so I think that was the overall goal
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1 of the factor.
2     Q.  Is the company currently operating under or
3 proposing to begin operating under a long-term rate
4 plan?
5     A.  No.
6     Q.  Does the company specifically believe their
7 proposal is exempt from Department precedent
8 regarding exogenous cost recovery mechanisms?
9     A.  I certainly wouldn't say the company thinks

10 they're exempt from Department precedent.  I think
11 the company's view is that these costs are something
12 that could reasonably be considered to be considered
13 for exogenous costs, given they're outside the
14 company's control and potential significance.
15     Q.  Please refer to Exhibit DPU-NG-23-2.
16     A.  Okay.
17     Q.  Does the response to this question concern
18 the company's new property tax calculation method or
19 the company's proposed property tax recovery
20 mechanism?
21     A.  This response is focused on the property
22 tax calculation for purposes of the revenue
23 requirement.
24     Q.  Can you tell me how the proposed property

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

RIPUC Docket No. 4770
Attachment DIV 7-49-262

Page 20 of 32

191



 DPU 17-170 - National Grid - Vol. 4 - 5/7/2018

FARMER ARSENAULT BROCK LLC

21

348

1 tax recovery mechanism avoids recovery of property
2 taxes associated with post-test-year plant
3 additions -- specifically, how amounts included in
4 the mechanism, because of the adoption of the hybrid
5 method, would account for evolving property tax
6 bases?
7     A.  The overall goal of both the property tax
8 proposal in the revenue requirement as well as the
9 exogenous cost factor are to provide a cost recovery

10 for those costs -- those expenses that are most
11 reflective of the rate year expense for the company,
12 so to capture its expense level, property taxes
13 being one of those expenses incurred by the company.
14             And the calculation, as we've said here,
15 does involve -- or at least the calculation of the
16 revenue requirement does involve the provision of
17 what are called forms of list, which are items
18 produced by the company to the municipalities in
19 which they're taxed upon which the company -- the
20 municipalities base their property tax assessments,
21 and that provision of those FOLs -- is the
22 acronym -- gets to the most current and rate-year-
23 like level of expense for purposes of what we're
24 doing here.
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1     Q.  So if a company -- or a municipality moved
2 to the hybrid calculation method in, say, 2020,
3 would you use the 2020 FOLs to determine the
4 increase for the mechanism?
5     A.  And so this would be an instance in which a
6 municipality moved to the hybrid method and that
7 method was over the threshold, so it kicked in,
8 effectively, the exogenous cost factor?
9     Q.  Yes.

10     A.  And the approach there would be to compare
11 the results of that switch to the new method to
12 what's in the revenue requirement, and because that
13 switch would necessarily be as of whenever the time
14 that was made, the only way to calculate that
15 difference would be based on the most current
16 information.
17             When a municipality switches to this
18 hybrid method, though, it's not -- it's a hybrid
19 method that involves net book value, which is the
20 value per the FOL, as well as replacement cost new
21 less depreciation, the acronym for which is RCNLD.
22 So to the extent that the underlying basis for both
23 of those is the net book value per the company's
24 FOL, presumably it would reflect whatever the most
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1 recent information provided by the company was.
2             I don't know that, due to the timing of
3 when FOLs are issued and when the municipalities
4 make their tax assessments, if it would -- it
5 wouldn't necessarily be that exact year, because of
6 the lag that I've also described in my testimony.
7 But it would necessarily involve more updated
8 information.
9     Q.  And that updated information could include
10 capital that the company had installed after the end
11 of this rate case?
12     A.  Yes, to capture the expense level, which is
13 based on the net book value of plant, then it would
14 capture whatever that level was, which would involve
15 changes to the capital amount post test year.
16     Q.  That's all that I have for today.
17             MS. PIEPER:  That's all the Department
18 has for today.  We're done with this witness, and
19 we're done for the day.  So let's go off the record.
20 This hearing is adjourned.
21             (12:12 p.m.)
22
23
24
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Agenda 

 

 Business Context: risk and opportunity 

 National Grid’s IS landscape: the need for action, but also change in direction 

 Proposed Solution: roadmap including indicative timeline and costs 

 Associated Benefits and critical enablers 

 Next steps 
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Gas Transformation Business Context 

 There are significant growth opportunities for the US Gas Business through organic 

growth and acquisition 

 However the situation we are in currently puts that at risk: 

 Safety performance - pockets of excellence but generally 3rd and 4th quartile 

 Compliance - is improving but there is still much to do to be where we want and need to be 

 Customer Satisfaction - we are struggling to maintain performance and don’t benchmark well 

 Performance - we have lost visibility of work in the field to enable us to drive productivity  

 Engagement - our employees are frustrated as they feel that the company is stagnating 

 There are a number of contributing factors to our current situation: 

 Complex and broken processes that are performed inconsistently 

 Obsolete, duplicative and inflexible systems (call center, schedule/ dispatch, work mgmt.)  

 Loss of alignment between regulatory settlement, budgets and work delivery 

 Leadership capability and governance 

 This also creates a material & growing operational risk that the PLC is carrying with 

potentially significant financial and reputational consequences from a gas incident 

 To deliver our future growth potential and mitigate the PLC risks we need a holistic 

transformation of our gas distribution business – making us truly process aligned, 

utilizing modern systems and building the capability of our people 3 
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National Grid’s Technology Systems   

4 

 There has been a long term roadmap (2008) with the US work and asset management systems next to 

be replaced following USFP; but no progress has been made with the focus on stabilization  

 Due to these delays our emergency work management systems  are now 10-15 years old with credible 

obsolescence issues contributing to deteriorating reliability and a high likelihood of failure.  Work needs 

to start on identifying the right replacement solutions for the US business 

 There is an opportunity to use the investment updating our systems as a catalyst for business 

transformation that will not only address current performance challenges but lay the foundation for 

future growth.   
Programs accomplished    Programs planned/inflight    

SAP 
SAP 

SAP 

Salesforce 

30+ Work and Asset Management 

applications with aged profile, 

obsolescence issues, limited capability 

and low reliability   

2014 ~ 2007 

Contact Center / IVR 
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We need a new way…. 

 Due to financial constraints and a reduced risk appetite for large IT systems we 

need to manage over all costs but also be able to deliver in a modular way – 

delivering initial benefits quicker, building confidence as we go and mitigating 

potential for any sort of USFP style recovery process 

 With so much change and future potential for change in the US energy and 

regulatory environment we need to ensure we maintain flexibility and agility to 

respond to requests and take advantage of future opportunities  

 With the progress we have been making on becoming more process aligned we 

really wanted to leverage that approach as we think about our systems 

 Building on the lessons learned from our USFP implementation: 

 We need to ensure this is a business driven project with a significant IS element 

 We need to simplify and standardize our business requirements to enable value while 

reducing complexity, time to deliver and cost 

 We need robust testing and to have a phased implementation following a successful pilot 

 We need to ensure we have the capability to manage our delivery partners 

 We are therefore proposing a BPM (Business Process Management) architecture 

and approach as we update our systems…this is new for the US business but is 

common in the external market place and aligned with the current thinking on 

Transmission Front Office in National Grid’s UK business. 
5 
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Business Process  

 

Enterprise Integration Bus 

Legacy Applications 
New ‘vanilla’ best of breed applications using standard 

adaptors (can be cloud or server based) 

 

Modular Architecture – Enables Incremental Build Out of Systems 

A
n
a
ly

ti
c
s
 

6 

Provides consistent access and visibility to 

the relevant business processes.  It enables 

mobility solutions, plug and play devices, 

and App development to drive business 

value & meet customers’ needs 

The business defines and controls their 

business processes these then link to the 

required business services (technology) to 

deliver the process. It enables agility, 

customization, and process monitoring & 

modelling  

Business service can be provided 

by any linked application.  This 

enables the phased roll out of 

solutions, the ability to integrate 

legacy and best of breed 

solutions, the interoperability of 

applications, and ‘vanilla’ 

applications (reducing cost, 

allowing upgrades or even future 

swap out)  

Presentation 

Layer:  
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Technology Principles and Benefits 

7 

 Technology and process streams are highly interdependent and must align in 

parallel - will help us embed process into how we operate 

 Business processes and capability requirements influence best of breed technology 

selection – solutions driven by business need focused on value creation   

 Information bus and service based architecture mitigates the risk of customized 

independent systems that can’t communicate with others but also avoids the need 

for monolithic systems - break existing process and data silos to gain insight from 

enterprise data (one view of work in the field)  

 Service driven architecture enables us to build the modular target system 

incrementally in a controlled manner – reducing implementation risk and phasing 

cost to implement 

 Business Process Management tools sit above the core systems holding the 

business process requirements enabling: 

 minimal customization of standard industry packages 

 continuous improvement, rapid process change and regulatory response 

 prototyping and simulation of proposed process changes 
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Construct Elec  

Operate/Maintain Elec 

Construct Gas  

M2C/Operate/Maintain Gas  

Proposed Roadmap and Indicative Funding  

8 

2017/18 

                           

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2018/19 2019/20 

Q1-Q4 Q1-Q4 Q4 Q3 Q2  Q1  Q4  Q3 Q2 Q1  Q1-Q4 Q4  

Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Apr Apr 

Determine Funding 

Technology RFP/Selection 
- System Integrator  
- Core Systems  

Establish PMO 

- Governance, Tools, Chng. Mgmt. 

- Repurpose PEX teams 

- Engage Consultant   

 
Process & System Requirements 

- M2C, Operate & Maintain Gas 

- Construct Gas   

- Operate & Maintain Elec  

- Construct Elec 

Could be done in 

parallel if resourced  

Refine Scope, Architecture 

and Business Case  

RI Implementation  
- Design  
- Business readiness  

- Implementation  

- Benefits Realization / Improvement 
 

 
Other Jurisdictions 
- Business readiness  
- Implementation  

 

 

$0.5-$1M 

$10-$15M 

UNY, NE, LI, Brooklyn  

$15-$25M 

$140-$200M 

$0.5-$1M 

Construct Gas  

Operate/

Maintain 

Elec Construct Elec  

 It is proposed to start in RI on maintain gas – then build out in terms of process and geography, to 

balance cost, risk and significantly improve the likelihood of successful implementation 

 It is estimated that this would require up to $50m in 15/16 with a 60% capex 40% opex split  

M2C/Operate/Maintain Gas  
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High Level Business Benefits 

Work 

Management 

Planning 

&Scheduling 

< $250,000 - $1,000,000 

(Low) 

$1,000,000 to $5,000,000 

(Medium) 

5,000,000 - $10,000,000 

(High) 

 Reduce time spent collecting data 

and reporting information 

 Improve material planning 

integration for various work 

types/orders 

 Improve process for managing work orders 

to completion – reduced waste & rework 

 Reduce the time of processing manual work 

orders (Back Office)  

 Data to drive productivity 

 More accurate accounting of time to 

Capex & Opex (will also support rate 

case filings) 

 Reduced fines from PUC/PSC/DPU for 

non-compliance 

 Reduce Admin time associated 

with populating crew time sheets  

 Reduction in wasted travel time 

 Reduction in time wasted due to material 

unavailability 

 Improved Customer Satisfaction scores from 

increase of kept customer appointments 

 Reduce overtime through better 

planning & shift alignment 

 Improved access and reduction in 

‘Unable to Complete’ jobs 

 Increased utilization 

 Improved information for rate case 

filings 

 Reduce costs associated with 

printing  

 Have full policies/procedures/asset 

locations available on trucks 

 Mobility to expand and provide 

capability for navigation based on 

real time traffic and road conditions  

 Improved communications – video/photos 

with supervisors, email, internet access 

 Mobile tablet or handheld electronic device 

to automate simple checklist type 

inspections, and eliminate data 

transcription/entry 

 Improve stock control 

 Improve training – infield device training 

 Reduce crew down time due to non 

functioning devices 

 Reduce average time for crews to leave 

the barn/yard/work out location each 

morning  

 Reduce fines from PUC/PSC for 

outdated procedures, maps 

 Increase field time for supervisors to 

drive productivity  

      

Mobility 

Annual Benefits   

Range of Estimated Annual Savings: $20M - $40M pa derived from process and system changes  

Additional non-tangible benefits anticipated include improved engagement, 

safety performance & customer satisfaction 9 
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CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT – For Discussion Purposes only 

Beyond the technology there are a number of 

other things we need to put in places… 

10 

There are a number of things we need to ensure are in place to realize the potential: 

 Strong program leadership, business ownership and sustained executive 

sponsorship of program, objectives and team  

 Clear accountability and governance (incl. potential organizational structure impacts) 

 Data structure & governance will be critical and should be dealt with up front 

 Business change and readiness likely to be significantly more challenging than the 

technical solution and will need equal focus and effort 

 Common work practices and minimal customization of systems need to be principles 

embedded in the heart of the program  

 HiPo talent program should be integrated into deliver to maximize use of our best and 

brightest during and after implementation 

 Supervisor development, developing our planning processes, Performance Hubs are 

central parts to the delivery of value from the program 

 Regulatory and Labor strategies need to be closely integrated into the value 

realization plans  

 Appropriate commercial management capability required to manage suppliers 

 Evolution of IS delivery and support models to support program 
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CONFIDENTIAL DRAFT – For Discussion Purposes only 

Thoughts, Questions & Next Steps 

11 

Does the approach and direction make sense? 

 

Anything we need to follow up on? 

 

Desired next steps: 

 

Confirm direction, funding potential, USET support 

 Identify core team and fund short term effort to define, scope & 

architecture 

Put plans in place to move to implementation quickly  
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Objectives for the day 

  Context – 10 min 

− Current state of the business 

  Gas enablement ambitions - 10 min 

− Create a long term business management approach to match our long asset life cycle  

  Gas enablement approach - 20 min 

− Deep dives by work stream 

  Proposed Next Steps: Phase 1 - 20 min 

  Question led discussion - 30 min 

 

 

2 
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US Gas Business in 2015 

3 

Legacy Issues: 
• Legacy company practices & processes 

never fully integrated & standardized 
• Aged, duplicative & failing systems 
• Data, Asset Record & Mapping Issues 
• Aging workforce 
• Historic non-compliances 
• Culture of ‘making do’ instead of excellence 

Rapidly Changing External 
Environment: 
• Gas Safety never had higher profile 
• Significant increase in regulatory focus 

(audits & fines) 
• New legislation expected to material 

increase obligations on NG 
• Resulting in increasing workload 

Significant NG Growth 
Opportunities: 
• Significant organic growth from connecting 

new customers & replacing leak prone pipe 
($12.8Bn over 10 years) 

• Significant inorganic opportunities through 
acquisition & consolidation 

Risk – of operational delivery from systems failures, 
fines from compliances findings ($26.7M in fines 
received or in negotiation over last 2 years), safety 
failures due to issues with maps/records/systems 

Historic Compliance issues – disjointed systems 
make it difficult to keep up with & demonstrate 
compliance with current obligations resulting in fines & 
adverse reputational impact 

Future Compliance – our legacy systems hamper our 
ability to make timely changes to keep up with rule 
changes, frustrating regulators and putting the 
company at risk of further fines 

Operational Performance – focus on in year 
performance has deterred from strategic 
improvements, resulting in a misalignment between 
regulatory funding and operational costs  

Accessing future growth at risk – resource 
limitations limit ability to deliver organic opportunities.  
Reputation from compliance findings combined with 
broken processes and systems limit inorganic growth 
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Compliance: 
• A risk based 

approach to 
addressing 
legacy issues 

• A targeted 
approach that 
improves the 
business’ 
compliance 
performance 
today 

• Making the 
strategic 
investments to be 
well positioned to 
be compliant 
going forwards 

HR: 
• Embed strategic 

resource planning 
• Transform the 

hiring and training 
processes to 
support the 
increased volume 
and changing 
employee 
demographics 

• Strategically 
increase 
resourcing to 
reduce 
unsustainable 
practices and 
create capacity to 
access growth 

Advanced 
Ops: 
• Invest in 

demonstration 
and 
operationalization 
of field 
technology to: 
9 Extend the life 

of large cast 
iron pipe 

9 Improve 
operational 
efficiency 
(keyhole) 

9 Improve safety 

Enablement developed around 4 work streams to 
transform the US gas business and address 

4 

Systems: 
• Replace aged, 

failing & 
duplicative work 
systems that put 
over 5,000 
people to work to 
complete ~10M 
jobs a year and 
deliver > $1.3bn 
capital 
investment 

• Simplify and 
standardize 
business 
processes 

• Focus on data 
and usability to 
drive value 

Risk 

Historic Compliance issues 

Future Compliance 

Operational Performance 

Accessing future growth at risk  
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Compliance: Adapting to a Dynamic Pipeline Safety Environment 

5 

Post San Bruno 
system NTSB 

Recommendations 
(IVP, ILI 

enhancements etc.) 

Compliance 
Improvement 

Plan 

Gas Pipeline 
Safety 

Management 
System 

Development 

Proposed Gas 
Enablement 

Initiatives 

Pre – Gas 
Enablement 

Pipeline Safety 
Audit 

• $18m Investment 
9  CA Program 
9  LMS Automation 
9  Cascade System 
9  New CGI’s 
9  GWM for Code Compliance 
9  Corrosion Program 
9  MAOP Compliance Strategy 
9  QA/QC Enhancements 
9  MWork Improvements 
9  Education/Communication 
9 Regulatory Records Assessment 
9  Develop “Can’t Get in” Policy 
 

• $ 6.3m+  Investment 
9 IVP record review 
9 Material testing  
9 Retirement of high 

risk pipelines   
9 ILI Enhancement  

(increase piggability, 
utilize Explorer Tool  

9 New DOT Annual  
Reporting 
requirement  under 
Parts Q and R 

 

• $650k Investment 
9  Develop policy merging both 
      Process  Safety & 1173 criteria 
9  Perform gap analysis  to ensure 
      all essential  elements are  
      addressed 
9 Develop business specific  
     Sign Post documents 
9 Develop communication plan 
9 Establish effectiveness metrics 
     & continuous improvement  
      strategy 
9 Deploy program 

• $750k Investment 
9  Establish audit plan 
9  Catalog compliance  

gaps 
9 Insure  compliance    

initiatives  fill  gaps 
9 Monitor compliance    

initiative progress 

• $141m per year over 5 years 
9 Remaining  $614m integrated  
     into rate case strategy 
9  Public Awareness 
9  Maps & Records 
9  Integrated Leak Management 
9  Latent Damages 
9  Embedding Process/Pipeline Safety 
9  Current Regulatory Changes 
9  Future Regulatory Changes 

2011/2012 2012/2013 2014/2015 2015 2015 2025 

Privileged and confidential draft 
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Compliance work stream details 

6 

Privileged and confidential draft 

 Compliance 
initiatives 

Main Cost 
line items What this enables Benefits 

Resolving Existing 
Non-Compliance 
Issues 

• People, Training, Systems 

• Provides for resources, training 
and tools, to resolve past non-
compliant programs and 
performance 

• Meeting full intent of existing 
mandated compliance programs. 

• Eliminating pipeline safety risk due 
to non-compliance 

• Minimizing financial penalties due to 
non-compliant programs 

Adapting to Current 
and Future  Regulatory 
Change 

• People, Training, Systems 
• IVP – 80 miles transmission 

main replacement 
• Enabling robotic   
   inspections & testing 
• ROV’s, system isolation 
• Service Line Definition and 

over 1 million inside piping 
inspections 

 

• Provides for resources and 
training and tools, to maximize 
our current compliance posture 
while efficiently preparing and 
adapting to emerging 
regulatory demands 

• Meeting today’s  mandated   
   compliance requirements while         

preparing and building for what is 
expected tomorrow  

• Eliminating ineffective “reactive” 
approach to imminent regulatory 
change 

• Maximizing our ability to achieve 
pipeline safety / process safety 
visions 

Enhancing Today’s 
Performance - 
Process, Pipeline and 
Public Safety 
Improvements 

• Embedding process/pipeline 
safety culture  

• Improving  Public Awareness 
Program  

• Enhancing QA/QC field 
presence and focus 

• Latent damage assessments 
• 3rd party independent audits of 

gas compliance 

• Enables cultural adaptation to 
fundamental principles of 
process safety in day-to-day 
operations 

• Paradigm shift in public safety 
education – transforming public 
awareness to public 
engagement 

• Finding problems before they 
find us 

• Striking the right balance between 
process safety, pipeline safety and 
public safety to impact a sustainable 
culture shift in thinking 

• Minimizing corporate and public 
safety risk associated with continued 
operation of one of the most  mature 
distribution systems in the US  
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IS work stream ambition – transform our processes, systems & behaviors 

7 

Privileged and confidential draft 

Today Ambition Anticipated Benefits 

1. Old, unreliable Toughbook 
computer is mounted in the 
truck 

2. Manual paper capture of data 
3. Limited customer & job history 

Field 
Employee 1. Modern Tablet device is in hand 

2. Electronic capture of data – 
barcodes/picture 

3. Visibility of asset & customer 
history 

Compliance – more accurate capture of 
data 
Productivity – complete jobs quicker 
Waste reduction – get data right first 
time 
Customer Satisfaction – job history 
Engagement – right tools to do job 

1. Limited performance data – 
historic, disjointed & time 
consuming 

2. Required to plan work with 
limited visibility of all work or 
resources 

3. Field issues generally require a 
visit to resolve 

Field 
Supervisor 1. Live performance dashboards 

2. Central planning and scheduling of 
work to maximize utilization and 
work plan completion 

3. Video chat with employees to 
address issues remotely 

Safety – getting right resource to right 
job at right time 
Compliance better visibility of work 
Productivity from more timely and 
relevant performance information 
Engagement from better 
communication with front line resources 

1. Given all day appointments at a 
time suitable for the company 

2. No shows with no contact 
3. Call center unable to tell you 

what NG is doing in your street 

Customers 1. Go online/app to book an 
appointment 

2. Receive real time updates – 
including when resources 
unavailable due to emergency work 

3. Call center has visibility but also 
can access directly online 

Productivity from higher access and 
completion rate 
Cost reductions from reduced call 
center traffic due to enhanced self 
serve 
Customer Satisfaction 
 

Key Design Principles: Usability, Visibility, Consistency & Agility 
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How to make a big IT project, not a really big IT project 

1. Golden Rules – single leader, business sponsorship, robust governance 

2. Capability – invest in the right people & skills upfront 

3. Process standardization and simplification – make the investment in our processes 
upfront 

4. Technology – leverage the latest architecture  

 

 

 

5. Phased Implementation – by working by process and geography we can turn one 
huge project into 16 much smaller more manageable ones. 

8 
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Business Process Standardization & IS implementation costs 

1Assumes a 60/40 CapEx/OpEx split, Does not account for overlap of phases, Includes contingency 
2Allocation based on number of users in each jurisdiction.  Pilot costs are allocated across all jurisdictions. 

9 

� The high level cost estimate based on anticipated resource requirements to complete program is $190M-$316M ($253M 
±25%) over a 5 year period.  The most significant portion of this is labor costs of $170M, of which approximately 65% is 
external to National Grid.  A large team, peaking around 125 individuals (56 internal, 69 external), will be required to support 
the delivery of the program.   

� PMO and Management: A program this size will require a dedicated PMO  
� We anticipate approximately, $10M in application software costs attributable to the core software application and $5M in 

device costs, including the tablets that will be required for scheduling  
� There is also likely to be a RTB (Run The Business) increase of $7-10M as these will now be fully supported systems 
� The costs will need to be revisited as the scope and approach are firmed up through the detailed design phase  
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Resource, skills, capabilities & culture work stream 

10 

Privileged and confidential draft 

Resource, skills, 
capabilities & culture 

initiatives 
Main cost 
line items What this enables Benefits 

Hire and train new 
FTEs 

1. Hire 200 new 
FTEs 

2. Buy supporting 
equipment 

3. Train employees 

1. Increased capacity  
2. Reduces overtime to a more 

sustainable level of 20% 
3. Allows employees to 

complete work 
4. Trains employees how to 

properly do the work 

1. Increased delivery of 
work 

2. Increases 
productivity 

3. A more sustainable 
workforce  

Cost: New FTE    $185,000  
2000 straight hours ($40)  $80,000  

500 OT hours ($60)  $30,000  
Overheads $75,000  

  
Benefit: displaces 2500 OT hours   

2500 hours * $60 (OT)     $150,000  

  
New FTE’s cost is greater than the offset overtime hence 
increased cost (+ cost of hiring & training) 

• Embed strategic resource planning 

• Transform the hiring and training process for Gas  

• Industry demands (increasing workload) are outpacing 
the supply of skilled craftsmen, leading to the need to 
hire, train, and retain the workforce required 

• Availability of contracted crews is limited for this type of 
work so reduction through contractor use is not possible 

• Unsustainable rate of overtime within Gas Field 
Operations, and Customer Meter Services with current 
levels of overtime of 25% - 40%  

 

Boston Gas Company and Colonial Gas Company
each d/b/a National Grid

D.P.U. 17-170
Attachment AG-21-36-3

Page 10 of 22

The Narragansett Electric Company 
d/b/a National Grid

RIPUC Docket No. 4770
Attachment DIV 7-49-266

Page 10 of 22

REDACTED

224



Advanced Field Technology work stream 

11 

Privileged and confidential draft 

  National Grid hosts one the oldest gas systems in the entire country with the highest 
number of miles of Leak Prone Pipe.  Using new technology will both improve 
system performance, reduce system leaks and future costs to run the business.  

Advanced technology 
initiatives 

Main Cost 
line items What this enables Benefits 

Recondition and renew 
large cast iron pipe 

1. Cured in place lining 
2. Invest in CISBOT 

technology 

1. Reduces leaks and 
renews life by 
50years 

2. Work on large pipe 
that would otherwise 
be inaccessible 

Addresses all large cast 
iron mains in both in New 
York and New England 

Buy keyhole 
equipment 

1. Keyhole equipment 
2. Labor to use keyhole 

equipment 

1. New drilling 
technology to reduce 
work to access pipe 

2. New FTE’s trained o 
utilize the new 
keyhole equipment 

Increased productivity, 
reduced third party 
damages, and improved 
public relations 

Buy new leak detection 
equipment 

1. New Picarro detection 
equipment for vans 

 
1. Allow for leak 

detection in fast 
moving vans to cover 
a much larger 
distance on surveys 

Improved pipeline safety 
and improved public 
relations 
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What do we need to next 

1. Create a small DEDICATED project team (and appropriately backfill) to take the gas 
enablement concept forwards over the next 6 months to:   

− Complete the next level of analysis, options & prioritization with appropriate support 

− Develop the strategic roadmap and detailed project plan based on appropriate phasing and 
deliverability 

− Clarify the timing, resourcing & funding requirements 

− Develop a refined Enablement Plan including regulatory strategy & funding plan 

2. In parallel, look to pilot the approach process & technology to support plan & ask 

3. Where there are critical ‘no-brainer activities’ move those forwards immediately 
 

Create an Executive Steering Group of Dean, Andrew & Stephanie to stage gate 
progress and provide strategic direction 

Use the ‘Golden Rules’ to stage gate progress & increase likelihood of success 
 

4. Return to the Exec with an update, more detailed plan & ,if required, financial ask 
when complete 

12 
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Central Team $2M • Establish a PMO – governance & reporting established – including Golden Rules 
• Refine the Case for Change 
• Develop the Prioritized & Phased Plan 
• Define the Ask & Benefits Case 
• Develop the regulatory cost recovery strategy including for KEDNY/KEDLI rate cases 

Compliance 
Plan 

$1.5M • 3rd party independent compliance assessment 
• Risk based compliance plan to address historic issues, current performance and strategic investments 

for future performance  

Compliance 
Immediate 
Actions 

$5.5M • Public  Awareness enhancements including Damage Prevention Web Portal 
• 10 Compliance Analysts + 2 QA/QC Analysts 
• Plastic Joining Compliance monitoring post East Harlem 
• Service Line Definition preparation 
• Tactical IS solutions 

IS Plan $6M • Project principles & scope approved 
• Target Data Architecture model developed (including ownership) 
• Approach to process governance established with tool to support 
• Detailed plan to map processes 
• Target technology architecture approach confirmed 
• Benchmarking with other utilities and other leading companies completed  
• Key applications & devices selected 
• Procurement strategy developed 

IS Pilot $6M • First process (Collections) fully mapped 
• Significant progress made on the build of a single process pilot 

HR Plan $0.85M • Strategy and implementation plan including embedding strategic resource planning, transforming hiring 
& training processes 

HR Immediate 
Actions 

$0.65M • Refreshed strategic resourcing planning model 
• 3 FTEs on-boarded to support future hiring requirements 

Advanced Ops 
Plan 

$0.35M • Strategy and implementation plan including investment recommendation, deployment plan and 
regulatory recovery strategy  

Advanced Ops 
Immediate 
Actions 

$0.3M • 3 supervisors embedded in NY & MA operations to deploy CISBOT & advanced lining techniques in the 
field 

Risk Margin $2.3M @ 10% 

Total $25.5M 
13 
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Questions for discussion with the Exec 

1. Is it clear that due to the drivers and current situation the US gas business is in that 
a ‘gas enablement’ type project is required? 

2. Do you agree the right priorities have been identified? 

3. Are there any aspects you think are missing the team should consider? 

4. Are you comfortable with the proposed 3 prong attack of Phase 1: i) completing the 
detailed planning and analysis, ii) in parallel looking to pilot the approach on process 
and systems to further inform the plan, and iii) progress with ‘no-brainer’ critical 
activities 

5. Does the ask of $25.5M and 6 months seem about right? 

6. Have we got the right members on the steering group (Dean, Andrew & Stephanie)? 

7. Anything else the team should consider? 

 

 

14 
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Appendices: 

  Golden Rules 

  Initial Assessment against Critical Success Factors 

  Draft project structure 

  Compliance Work Stream Phase 1 Details 

  Systems Work Stream Phase 1 Details 

  HR Work Stream Phase 1 Details 

  Advanced Operations Work Stream Phase 1 Details 
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Appendix: Assessment against Critical Success Factors 

Area Full 
Project 

Phase 1 Basis/Comment 

Active Sponsorship Dean Seavers – still to complete Project 
Sponsorship training 

Scope Management 
Not enough work completed to define  
robust scope for whole project – scope of 
Phase 1 ask defined in pack 

Clear Success Criteria Desired outputs from Phase 1 defined 

Rigorous Stage gating Stage gating ambition articulated but criteria 
still to be defined 

Business 
change/readiness NA 

Business change activities will need to be 
built into the plan 

Good Governance 
Controls/Planning 

Partner Management Too 
early 

Too 
early 

Procurement have been engaged on how 
they can support on partner selection but 
early stages 

High Performance 
Team 

Finding the right people to resource this 
project is probably biggest risk and needs 
further focus 17 
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Appendix: Draft Structure PMO 

  Need right people with right skills 

 

18 
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Band A / Master PMO 

Internal Team External PMO support 

Compliance 
Program 

Evaluation 

Compliance 
Current  Band B 

 

Support 
TBD 

Business IS 
Band B 

IS 
PMO support 

Steering Committee 

Advanced Ops 
Band D 

Strategic 
Resource 

Lead 

Departments with likely costs to support 

Department Compliance IS Advanced Ops Resourcing 
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Six Month Spend Key Outputs:
Compliance Strategy Development & Roadmap
-$300k - 2 FTEs 
-$1.2M consultancy
-$1.5M Total

3rd party independent compliance assessment
Risk based compliance plan to address historic issues, current 
performance and strategic investments for future performance 

Public Awareness Enhancements
-$500k - 6 Int FTEs
-$1.5M consultancy
-$2.1M Total

6 Public Awareness Liaisons
Begin the paradigm shift in public safety education – transforming 
public awareness to public engagement

Additional Compliance Analysts and QA/QC 
personnel
-$900k - 12 Int FTEs
-$227k - License ,Equipment, Maintenance & 
Training 
-$ 1,127M Total

10 Compliance Analyst and 2 QC/QC Analysts will enhance 
compliance oversight over our major operations.  Additional 
support to continue to minimize corporate & public safety risk 
associated with continued operation of one of the most  mature 
distribution systems in the US

Complete implementation of plastic joining 
compliance monitoring
- $1.04M -Total (overall spend)

Developed database that captures all important information 
(including GPS location) of fuses - fuser, inspector, location, date, 
etc. that is for both internal crews and contractors.   tablets in the 
hands of all internal crews to capture fuses being placed into 
service.  

Begin GTI Inside Piping Risk Assessment to 
Address Service Line Definition Transition.
- $75k consultancy
-$250k equipment and training for inspections
- $325k Total

Preparitory work for implementation of service line definition 
(assume incremental inspections receive regulatory funding)

MDSI enhancements and compliance data 
warehouse. 
- $500k consultancy
- $500k Total

Begins development of data warehouse and FDC improvement 
framework

Damage Prevention Education Web Portal.
- $400k consultancy
-$400k  Total

Development of web portal program

Total: $6.992M
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Oct-15 Nov-15 Dec-15 Jan-16 Feb-16 Mar-16 Key Outputs:
Appoint Project Lead

PMO Established
Firm up Phase 1 plans

Establish Data Team
Mini Tender for Support

Establish Team
Mini Tender for Support

Establish Team
Mini Tender for Pilot

Establish Team
Mini Tender for Support

Establish Team

Mini Tender for Support
Confirm Collections Aps

Establish team

Tender for Phase 1 delivery
Start building solution

Establish Team

Establish Team
 - Regulatory Cost Recovery Strategy 
developed including for KEDNY/KEDLI 
rate cases

Delivery - 2 Int, 6 Ext FTEs
 - $300k consultancy

-$1.5M licenses &hardware
 - $2.5M Total
Procurement

- 1 Int, 2 Ext FTEs
 - $175k consultancy

 - $500k Total

Build Phase 1 Collections requirements

Develop Pilot approach and support mini tenders
Develop procurement strategy for full project

Data - 1 Int, 1 Ext FTEs
 - 500k consultancy

 - $800k Total

Core Team
- 3 Int, 1 Ext FTEs

 - $500k consultancy
 - $1.1M Total

Regulatory Strategy & Cost 
Recovery

Develop Regulatory Cost recovery strategy for all jurisdictions
Develop KEDNY & KEDLI strategy

Process Governance
- 2 Int, 1 Ext FTEs

 - $500k consultancy
 - $850k Total

Process Mapping
- 2 Int, 2 Ext FTEs

 - $350k consultancy
 - $1.0M Total

Architecture
- 2 Int, 3 Ext FTEs

 - $1M consultancy
 - $1.7M Total

Technology & Tools
- 3 Int FTEs

 - $500k consultancy
 - $750k Total

Work through the interface options for SAP/Powerplan & CSS/CRIS

Develop Collections Process down to lowest level L5-6
Refine list of gas business processes down to L3

Arrange benchmarking visits

Confirm prefered applications for full roll-out

Develop plan to complete mapping of all processes

Develop target technology architecture

Develop transition architecture & roadmap
Built pilot architecture (if required)

 - Target Data Architecture model 
developed (including ownership)

 - Approach to process governance 
established with tool to support

 - First process (Collections) fully mapped
 - Detailed plan to map remaining 
processes based on experience

Develop target data architecture & ownership

Develop approach & tool for process development & documentation
Develop governance for developing, approving & changing processes

 - Target technology architecture 
approach confirmed, implemented on a 
limited basis for the pilot with a roadmap 
to transition developed
 - Recommendation on how to integrate 
with SAP/Powerplan & legacy systems

 - Core project team in place
 - project principles & scope approved

Create Monthly Report for Exec Steering Group on progress, activities, decisions made, support required & risks

PMO
- 2 Int, 2 Ext FTEs

 - $400k Total
Manage governance and reporting for Phase 1

Firm up plan for future phases

 - Project, governance & reporting 
established

Confirm Core Structure
Develop and confirm core project principles & scope
Confirm Theshold Questions and align aound position
Appoint key roles (could include external Hires)

 - Benchmarking with other utilities and 
other leading companies completed
 - Key applications & devices selected

 - Significant progress made on the build 
of a single process pilot (not yet likley to 
be fully implemented)

 - Procurement strategy developed

Oversee building tender documents for on-going development & roll-out

Confirm field devices of choices (soln agnostic)

Total $12M 
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Six Month Spend Key Outputs:
HR Strategy Development & Roadmap
-$300k - 2 FTEs 
-$500k consultancy
-$0.85M Total

Strategy and implementation plan including embedding strategic 
resource planning, transforming hiring & training processes

Strategic Resource Planning
-$ 125k - 1 FTEs
- $250k consultancy
-$ 375k Total

Refresh strategic resource planning model for US gas business to 
refine future hiring & capability requirements

Critical Recruiting Resources
 - $300k - 3 FTEs
 - $300k Total

Incremental resourses in resourcing to support future hiring 
requirements

Total: $1.525M
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Appendix: Advanced Operations Work Stream Phase 1 Details 

Six Month Spend Key Outputs:

Total: $0.65M

Advanced Ops Technology Strategy Development 
& Roadmap
-$150k - 2 Int FTEs - 3 month secondment
-$200k consultancy
-$0.35M Total

Strategy and implementation plan including investment 
recommendation, deployment plan and regulatory recovery 
strategy 

Deployment Supervisor Resources
-$ 300k - 3 Int FTEs
-$ 300k Total 3 supervisors embeded in NY & MA operations to deploy CISBOT & 

advanced lining techniques in the field

Privileged and confidential draft 
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